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CHaIrmaN’S STaTEmENT
主席報告

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of 

United Gene High-Tech Group Limited (the “Company”), I hereby 

present to all shareholders (the “Shareholders”) the audited 

consolidated financial results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the 

“Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2012 (the “Financial Year”).

For the Financial Year, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately 

HK$25.5 million, which is a significant decrease of approximately 

71.73% from approximately HK$90.2 million of the previous financial 

year ended 30 June 2011 (the “Previous Financial Year”). The 

significant decline in turnover was mainly due to (i) the substantial 

decrease of turnover for the distribution of gene testing services after 

the franchise agreements dated 14 July 2009 (the “Franchise 

Agreements”) were terminated on 3 May 2011; (ii) the transitional 

period brought by the new sales and marketing strategy adopted by 

the Group, including the change of market segmentation by 

geographical areas and the set up of marketing and distribution 

channels in the People’s Republic of China’s Region (the “PRC”) under 

the Group’s direct supervision and management for distribution of 

gene testing services since March 2010; (iii) the substantial drop of 

turnover for the distribution of bio-industrial products due to the 

continuing global economic downturn; and (iv) the slower-than-

expected rate of market expansion due to the time necessary in 

applying for a medical license for the health care management 

business.

Nevertheless, the Group’s gross profit margin was increased greatly 

from approximately 37.15% for the Previous Financial Year to 

approximately 59.03% for the Financial Year. For the Financial Year, 

loss attributable to the owners of the Company was approximately 

HK$123.9 million, representing a significant decrease compared to the 

profit of approximately HK$5.2 million in the Previous Financial Year. 

This was mainly due to the substantial decrease of turnover of the 

Group, the impairment losses on intangible assets for the distribution 

of gene testing services and the distribution of bio-industrial products 

and the impairment loss on goodwill arising from the acquisition of the 

distribution of bio-industrial business in the Previous Financial Year.

各位股東：

本人謹代表聯合基因科技集團有限公司（「本公

司」）之董事（「董事」）會（「董事會」）提呈予所有股

東（「股東」）有關本公司及其附屬公司（「本集團」）

截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度（「本財政年

度」）之經審核綜合財務業績。

本集團於本財政年度之營業額約為25,500,000港

元，較截至二零一一年六月三十日止去年財政年

度（「去年財政年度」）（約90,200,000港元）顯著減

少約71.73%。營業額顯著減少主要因為 (i)日期

為二零零九年七月十四日之加盟協議（「加盟協

議」）於二零一一年五月三日被終止後，分銷基因

測試服務之營業額顯著下降；(ii)本集團採納之新

銷售和營銷策略引致之過渡期，包括分銷基因測

試服務自二零一零年三月開始改變按地域劃分市

場，及在中華人民共和國地區（「中國」）設立由本

集團直接監督及管理的營銷和分銷渠道；(iii)環球

經濟持續衰退導致分銷生物產業產品之營業額顯

著下降；及 (iv)健康管理業務的醫療執照申請需

時以致市場開拓較預期緩慢。

雖然如此，本集團的毛利率由去年財政年度約

37.15%大幅上升至本財政年度約59.03%。於本

財 政 年 度， 本 公 司 擁 有 人 應 佔 虧 損 約 為

123,900,000港 元， 較 去 年 財 政 年 度 之 溢 利 約

5,200,000港元顯著減少，此乃主要由於本集團

營業額大幅下跌、分銷基因測試服務及分銷生物

產業產品之無形資產出現減值虧損以及於去年財

政年度收購分銷生物產業業務所產生商譽之減值

虧損所致。
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CHaIrmaN’S STaTEmENT
主席報告

OUTLOOK
Since December 2010, the Group has obtained the permanent 

exclusive distribution rights for gene testing services in the regions of 

the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau, the permanent non-exclusive 

distribution rights for gene testing services in other regions as well as 

the right of using certain logos on gene testing services distributed by 

the Group. On the other hand, the “United Gene (Shanghai) Health 

Care Centre” was opened in September 2011, representing the start-

up of the Group’s health care management services business in the 

PRC.

Looking forward, the Group expects to face a challenging business 

environment in the coming financial year. However, the Group will 

continue to focus on implementing measures for business 

improvement, to achieve better sales results, and to work towards 

cutting costs.

In addition, the Group will continue to explore potential investment 

opportunities in order to enhance the return to Shareholders.

apprECIaTION
Lastly, on behalf of all Board members, I would like to take this 

opportunity to express my gratitude to the Shareholders and the 

business partners of the Group for their continuous support and trust 

during the past year, and my most sincere appreciation to the Directors 

for their wise decisions and support, the management and staff at all 

levels for their dedication, hard work and contribution.

Jiang Nian

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 September 2012

展望
從二零一零年十二月起，本集團擁有在中國、香

港及澳門地區永久獨家分銷基因測試服務之權

利、在其他地區之永久非獨家分銷基因測試服務

之權利以及就本集團分銷基因測試服務使用若干

標誌之權利。另一方面，「聯合基因（上海）健康

中心」已於二零一一年九月開業，代表本集團於

中國之健康管理服務業務之啟動。

展望未來，本集團預期下一個財政年度將會面對

困難之營商環境。然而，本集團將繼續致力推行

增進業務措施，爭取更多銷售額及致力削減成本。

此外，本集團將會繼續物色有潛力之投資機會，

以增加股東回報。

致謝
最後，本人謹藉此機會代表全體董事會成員對股

東及本集團的業務夥伴在過去一年的一直支持及

信任表達謝意，以及本人對董事之英明決策及支

持，管理層與各級員工專心致志、勤勉工作及貢

獻，致以最真誠的謝意。

蔣年

主席

香港，二零一二年九月二十八日
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maNaGEmENT DISCUSSION aND aNaLYSIS
管理層討論及分析

GrOUp rESULTS
Turnover of the Group for the Financial  Year amounted to 

approximately HK$25.5 million, representing approximately 71.73% 

decrease from the Previous Financial Year (approximately HK$90.2 

million). Loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the 

Financial Year was approximately HK$123.9 million, representing a 

significant and substantial decline of results compared to the profit of 

approximately HK$5.2 million in the Previous Financial Year.

BUSINESS rEVIEW
Distribution of gene testing services
Since 13 December 2010, the Group has obtained the permanent 

exclusive distribution rights for gene testing services in the regions of 

the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau, the permanent non-exclusive 

distribution rights for gene testing services in other regions as well as 

the right of use of certain logos on gene testing services distributed by 

the Group. The Group has enjoyed a higher profit margin since then for 

the distribution of gene testing services.

On 3 May 2011, in view of the significant decrease in turnover generated 

by the distributors under the franchise agreements, and in order to 

manage the distribution channels more effectively and to achieve higher 

profit margin through less selling expenses, the Group entered into the 

termination agreements with relevant distributors to terminate the said 

franchise agreements with effect from the same date.

The Group adjusted its operating direction (transformation) at the 

beginning of this year (2012) through dedicating its sales efforts on 

professional channels, mainly hospitals and health centres, in lieu of 

the general public. This led to the slowdown in the sales of the 

corresponding market division.

For the Financial Year, the turnover arising from the distribution of 

gene testing services decreased from approximately HK$71.2 million 

in the Previous Financial Year to approximately HK$22.6 million. This 

was mainly due to the transitional period brought by the new sales and 

marketing strategy and the detrimental impact on turnover from the 

continuing economic downturn. Yet the result of the Group’s newly 

adopted sales and marketing strategy was clearly reflected in the 

improvement of the gross profit margin, which increased substantially 

from approximately 41.77% in the Previous Financial Year to 

approximately 67.17%.

集團業績
本集團於本財政年度之營業額約為25,500,000港

元，較去年財政年度（約90,200,000港元）減少約

71.73%。本公司擁有人應佔本財政年度虧損約

為123,900,000港 元， 較 去 年 財 政 年 度 溢 利 約

5,200,000港元顯著及大幅下滑。

業務回顧
分銷基因測試服務
從二零一零年十二月十三日起，本集團擁有在中

國、香港及澳門地區永久獨家分銷基因測試服務

之權利、在其他地區之永久非獨家分銷基因測試

服務之權利以及就本集團分銷基因測試服務使用

若干標誌之權利。自始本集團從分銷基因測試服

務中享有更高利潤率。

鑑於根據加盟協議之分銷商產生之營業額顯著下

降，並為更有效地管理分銷渠道及通過降低銷售

開支以實現更高的利潤率，於二零一一年五月三

日，本集團與相關分銷商訂立終止協議，終止上

述加盟協議，自同日起開始生效。

本集團於今年（二零一二年）初改變經營方向（轉

型），從以前針對大眾銷售轉為針對專業渠道（主

要是醫院及保健院等）銷售。此轉型導致這部份

的市場分層銷售逐漸放緩。

於本財政年度，來自分銷基因測試服務之營業額

從去年財政年度約71,200,000港元下跌至約為

22,600,000港元，主要源自新銷售及營銷策略產

生之過渡期及持續經濟放緩對營業額的不利影

響。雖然如此，本集團新採納之銷售及營銷策略

之成果已明顯地反映於有所改善之毛利率上，毛

利率由去年財政年度約41.77%大幅上升至約

67.17%。
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maNaGEmENT DISCUSSION aND aNaLYSIS
管理層討論及分析

鑑於未來數年採納之新銷售及營銷策略不明朗因

數及風險眾多，董事會對於此業務的未來表現持

保守看法。自獨立評估有關永久獨家及非獨家分

銷基因測試服務之權利的無形資產使用值後，本

集團作出無形資產的重大減值虧損，總金額約為

77,700,000港元。

分銷生物產業產品
本集團已擁有自二零一零年一月一日起為期五年

在中國分銷骨粒及骨油之獨家分銷權利，並可在

任何一方於二零一四年十二月三十一日或之前無

異議之情況下自動續期十年。

於本財政年度，分銷生物產業產品之營業額從去

年財政年度約19,000,000港元大幅下跌至約為

1,000,000港元。營業額下跌主要源自環球經濟

衰退及行業競爭加劇。然而，毛利率由去年財政

年度約19.78%微升至本財政年度約21.96%。由

於有關業務表現並不理想，且發達國家經濟不景

氣及全球金融市場動盪的不確定性及風險將影響

中國在未來數年的經濟發展，董事會對於此業務

的未來表現持保守看法。自獨立評估有關獨家分

銷生物產業產品業務之權利的無形資產及商譽使

用值後，本集團作出無形資產和商譽的重大減值

虧 損， 扣 除 遞 延 稅 項 負 債 撥 回 後 總 金 額 約 為

16,300,000港元。

The Board held a conservative view regarding the future performance 

of this business in view of the high uncertainties and risks of the new 

sales and marketing strategy adopted in future years. After 

independent assessment of the value in use of the intangible asset 

relating to the permanent exclusive & non-exclusive rights for the 

distribution of gene testing services, the Group made a material 

impairment loss on the intangible asset at a total amount of 

approximately HK$77.7 million.

Distribution of bio-industrial products
The Group has obtained the exclusive distribution rights for the 

distribution of bone chips and bone fat in the PRC for a period of 5 

years from 1 January 2010, which would be automatically renewed for 

another ten years subject to no objection raised by either party on or 

before 31 December 2014.

During the Financial Year, turnover of the distribution of bio-industrial 

products significantly decreased from approximately HK$19.0 million in 

the Previous Financial Year to approximately HK$1.0 million. This was 

mainly due to the global economic downturn and the keen competition 

in the industry. Nevertheless, the gross profit margin has slightly 

increased from approximately 19.78% in the Previous Financial Year to 

approximately 21.96% in the Financial Year. Due to such unsatisfactory 

business performance, the Board of Directors held a conservative view 

regarding the future performance of this business in view of the 

uncertainties and risks of developed countries’ sluggish economies 

and turbulent global financial markets affecting the economic 

development of the PRC in next few years. After an independent 

assessment of the value in use of the intangible asset and goodwill 

relating to the exclusive distribution rights for the bio-industrial 

products business, the Group made a material impairment losses on 

the intangible asset and goodwill after netting off the reversal of a 

deferred tax liability at a total amount of approximately HK$16.3 

million.
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maNaGEmENT DISCUSSION aND aNaLYSIS
管理層討論及分析

提供健康管理服務
本集團之健康管理中心「聯合基因（上海）健康中

心」（「健康中心」）於二零一一年九月經已開業，

並成為一家以基因組技術為競爭優勢之高端健康

管理及服務中心。健康中心之經營採納「4P醫療

服 務 模 式 」， 意 指 預 測 性 (Predictive)、 預 防 性

(Preventive)、 個 人 化 (Personalised)及 參 與 性

(Participatory)醫療服務模式。本集團並拓展其服

務以設立一套個人化之全面及終身之健康服務模

式。本集團研發和提供進一步的健康管理服務，

如 (i)提供健康管理服務，包括經絡調理、針灸、

拔罐、中藥治療顧問諮詢服務；(ii)提供運動生理

學治療顧問諮詢服務；(iii)提供理療和氧療法治療

服務；(iv)提供心理治療諮詢服務；(v)測試營養

和代謝水平及提供治療諮詢；(vi)提供飲食治療；

及 (vii)基因突變檢測。

於本財政年度，提供健康管理服務之營業額約為

1,800,000港元，由於醫療執照申請需時及持續

疲弱的消費意欲所致，產生之毛損及經營虧損（包

括健康中心的開設成本）約為22,900,000港元。

Provision of health care management services
The Group’s health care management centre, the “United Gene 

(Shanghai) Health Care Centre” (the “Health Care Centre”) which 

commenced business in September 2011, serves as a high-end health 

care management and service centre with genome technology as its 

competitive edge. The operation of the Health Care Centre adopts the 

“4P medical services model” which refers to the predictive, 

preventive, personalised and participatory medical services model. The 

Group also extends its services to set up an individualised 

comprehensive and lifelong health service model. The Group 

researches, develops and provides further health care management 

services, such as (i) provision of health care management services, 

including meridian conditioning, acupuncture, cupping, Chinese 

medicine treatment consultancy; (ii) provision of exercise physiology 

treatment consultancy; (iii) provision of physiotherapy and oxygen 

therapy treatment consultancy; (iv) provision of psychology treatment 

consultancy; (v) testing of nutrition and metabolism and provision of 

treatment consultancy; (vi) provision of diet treatment; and (vii) testing 

for gene mutation.

For the Financial Year, turnover for the provision of health care 

management services was approximately HK$1.8 million. Due to the 

time needed for applying for medical licenses and persistent weak 

consumer sentiment, a gross loss was incurred and the operating loss 

including start-up costs for the Health Care Centre was approximately 

HK$22.9 million.
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maNaGEmENT DISCUSSION aND aNaLYSIS
管理層討論及分析

前景
分銷基因測試服務
根據市場的變化及為配合本集團長久發展規劃，

本集團於今年（二零一二年）初改變經營方向（轉

型），從以前針對大眾銷售轉為針對專業渠道（主

要是醫院及保健院等）銷售。作出經營策略調整

是由於大眾客戶對基因檢測的實際意義認知不

足，缺乏對整體健康管理概念的認識，以致這部

份的市場分層銷售逐漸放緩。同時，為配合本集

團以基因檢測為基礎之健康管理業務發展，本集

團的管理層經過深入的市場調查和國家政策分析

及市場分析後，預期中國衛生部將對醫院逐步放

開基因檢測項目，故對經營策略作出調整。國家

發改委、衛生部等部門於二零一二年開始將基因

檢測列入醫院檢查收費目錄。本集團亦同時調整

經營策略，由針對大眾銷售轉為針對專業渠道（主

要是醫院及保健院等）銷售，同時銷售的基因檢

測產品亦趨向多樣化及具針對性，例如用藥指導

方面的基因檢測產品、輔助診斷基因檢測、遺傳

性疾病篩查產品等，以加強專業渠道之銷售。

本集團管理層相信在專業渠道之銷售具有穩定及

持續增長之特點，而於此等渠道銷售之基因檢測

產品之必需性、專業可信度均能顯著增強。本集

團管理層有信心基因檢測產品之銷售能走過低谷

稍後再逐步上升。

分銷生物產業產品
於二零一零年十二月，中荷（平湖）生物技術有限

公司（「中荷（平湖）」）已開始在中國平湖建設生產

廠房、研發實驗室及辦公室，由專家組包括A. H. 

Grobben先生（一名來自荷蘭之水降膠原蛋白及

骨油精煉技術專家）帶領，發展水降膠原蛋白。

prOSpECTS
Distribution of gene testing services
In the view of market changes and to accommodate the long-term 

development plans, the Group adjusted its operating direction 

(transformation) at the beginning of this year (2012) through dedicating 

its sales efforts on professional channels, mainly hospitals and health 

centres, in lieu of the general public. The adjustment in business 

strategy was due to the public consumers having insufficient 

understanding towards the actual purpose of gene testing and limited 

knowledge regarding the concept of comprehensive health care 

management, which led to the slowdown in the sales of the 

corresponding market division. Meanwhile, in order to accommodate 

the development of the health care management business of the 

Group, which is based on gene-testing, after thorough market 

research, analysis of national policies as well as market analysis, the 

management of the Group expects that the Ministry of Health of the 

PRC will gradually be more open to gene testing projects in hospitals, 

and has therefore adjusted its operation strategy. Since 2012, 

departments including the National Development and Reform 

Commission and the Ministry of Health have listed gene testing into 

the catalogue of charged hospital examination items. The Group has 

also adjusted its operation strategy through dedicating its sales efforts 

on professional channels, mainly hospitals and health centres, in lieu of 

the general public and sold more diversified and targeted gene testing 

products, such as gene testing products regarding medication guides, 

gene testing aided diagnosis and screening products for hereditary 

diseases, in order to strengthen its sales in professional channels.

The management of the Group believes that the sales in professional 

channels are characterised as stable and sustainable, and that both the 

necessity and professional credibility of the gene testing products sold 

in these channels will increase significantly. The management of the 

Group is confident that the sales of gene testing products will survive 

the trough and show gradual improvement soon after.

Distribution of bio-industrial products
In December 2010, CNL (Pinghu) Biotech Co. Ltd. (“CNL (Pinghu)”) 

commenced the construction of the production plant, research and 

development workshop and office in Pinghu, the PRC. It developed 

hydrolyzed gelatin under a team of experts including Mr. A. H. 

Grobben, who is from the Netherlands, with expertise in hydrolyzed 

gelatin and bone fat refining technology.
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由於現時中荷（平湖）正應付官司訴訟，廠房給建

築方非法佔領，產品投入生產及推出市場之計劃

須推遲。本集團現時正致力循法律途徑解決訴訟

及上述問題，務求盡快投入生產。長遠而言，無

論在其業務、產品或技術方面，本集團將通過與

世界領先的生物技術企業之戰略合作機會，繼續

於生物產業產品業務探索進一步之發展，並致力

建立一個具有高盈利潛力的完善產品組合。

提供健康管理服務
本集團成立健康中心後，本集團已加強了對於健

康中心之會員服務及會員福利之銷售及推廣計劃。

作為中國第一家以基因檢測為主導提供全面健康

管理服務之專業機構，健康中心提供之健康管理

服務填補了現時中國國內對高檔次及個人化之健

康管理服務供應之缺口，健康中心擁有專業之醫

療團隊及門診部，致力提供高端及優質之體檢服

務、基因檢測專業分析、中醫調理及運動康復指

導等。於二零一二年九月，健康中心已成功獲發

醫療執照，健康中心之市場推廣渠道能加以擴大

及強化，預期健康中心之營業額將逐步平穩及增

長。

除了發展上述業務外，本集團將繼續在中國以至

於全球各地積極物色具吸引力的投資，藉以 (i)發

展本集團業務及其他新業務，及 (ii)長期性為本集

團賺取正面的現金流及盈利。同時，本集團可能

於需要時進行多種資金籌集活動以加強本公司之

資金基礎。

Since CNL (Pinghu) is in the process of litigation and its plant was 

unlawfully occupied by the constructor, the production and launching 

schedules of products are delayed. The Group is currently endeavoring 

to resolve the litigation and the above problems via legal means, with a 

view to commence production as soon as possible. In the long run, the 

Group will continue to explore other opportunities for further growth in 

the bio-industrial products business through strategic cooperation with 

the world’s leading biotechnology enterprises, whether in the aspects 

of business, product or technology. The Group will also strive to build a 

sound product portfolio which offers high profitability potential.

Provision of health care management services
After the Group established the Health Care Centre, the Group has 

strengthened the marketing and promotion plans for the membership 

services and benefits of the Health Care Centre.

As the first professional comprehensive health care management 

services provider which focuses on gene testing in the PRC, the health 

care management services provided by the Health Care Centre 

satisfied the current supply gap in high-quality and personalised health 

care management services in the PRC. The professional medical team 

and outpatient department under the Health Care Centre are 

committed to providing high-end and quality services such as physical 

examination services, professional gene testing analysis, recuperation 

with Chinese medicine and guidance in sports rehabilitation. As at 

September 2012, the Health Care Centre has successfully obtained a 

medical license, enabling it to expand and strengthen its marketing and 

promotion channels. It is expected that the turnover of the Health Care 

Centre will gradually stabilize and improve.

On top of developing the aforementioned businesses, the Group will 

continue to proactively explore for attractive investments in the PRC 

and globally with the aim of (i) developing the businesses of the Group 

and other new businesses, and (ii) generating positive cash flow and 

earnings for the Group in the long-term. In the meantime, the Group 

may, if necessary, conduct various fund-raising activities to strengthen 

the capital base of the Company.
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財務回顧
資本架構
本公司之資本架構詳情載於財務報表附註28。

於二零一二年六月三十日，本集團之總借貸約為

11,000,000港元（二零一一年六月三十日：零港

元），包括來自一名獨立第三方之短期貸款約

4,900,000港元以及來自本集團之附屬公司龍脈

（上海）健康管理服務有限公司（「龍脈（上海）」）一

名非控股股東之貸款約6,100,000港元。

流動資金及財務資源
於二零一二年六月三十日，本集團之銀行及現金

結餘為約170,000,000港元（二零一一年六月三十

日：約222,300,000港元）。

本集團於二零一二年六月三十日之流動資產對流

動負債之比率為12.15，而於二零一一年六月

三十日則為31.89。本集團於二零一二年六月

三十日之資本負債比率為0.07（二零一一年六月

三十日：0.03），而該項比率乃根據本集團之負

債總額約25,400,000港元（二零一一年六月三十

日：約13,400,000港元）及本集團之資產總額約

356,000,000港元（二零一一年六月三十日：約

467,300,000港元）計算。

在本財政年度內，本集團已投資於金融資產，旨

在增加和平衡盈餘現金的回報。此金融資產包括

銀行定期存款，和能在任何時間於證券市場隨時

轉換為流動性資金之上市債券。本集團重視盈餘

現金及現金等價物之安全、短期承諾和可用性。

fINaNCIaL rEVIEW
Capital structure
Details of the capital structure of the Company are set out in note 28 

to the financial statements.

As at 30 June 2012, the total borrowings of the Group were 

approximately HK$11.0 million (30 June 2011: HK$nil) which consisted 

of a short term loan from an independent third party amounting to 

approximately HK$4.9 million and a loan from a non-controlling 

shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group, Longmark (Shanghai) 

HealthCare Limited (“Longmark (Shanghai)”), amounting to 

approximately HK$6.1 million.

Liquidity and financial resources
As at 30 June 2012, the Group had bank and cash balances of 

approximately HK$170.0 million (30 June 2011: approximately 

HK$222.3 million).

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities of the Group was 12.15 

as at 30 June 2012 compared to 31.89 as at 30 June 2011. The 

Group’s gearing ratio as at 30 June 2012 was 0.07 (30 June 2011: 0.03) 

which is calculated based on the Group’s total l iabil it ies of 

approximately HK$25.4 million (30 June 2011: approximately HK$13.4 

million) and the Group’s total assets of approximately HK$356.0 million 

(30 June 2011: approximately HK$467.3 million).

During the Financial Year, the Group had invested in financial assets 

with an aim to increase and balance return on surplus cash. They were 

time deposits at banks and listed bonds which can be readily converted 

to liquid funding at any time on the securities market. The Group 

places importance to security, short-term commitment and availability 

of the surplus cash and cash equivalents.
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重大投資、收購及出售
於二零一二年一月十三日，本集團與吉林精優長

白山藥業有限公司（「吉林精優」）訂立一份有條件

注資協議（「該注資協議」）。吉林精優為精優藥業

控股有限公司（「精優藥業」）（一間於香港聯合交

易所有限公司（「聯交所」）上市之公司）之間接全

資附屬公司。由於本公司之名譽主席、首席科學

顧問及最終控股股東毛裕民博士（「毛博士」）亦為

精優藥業之主席及主要股東，因此，根據聯交所

之證券上市規則（「上市規則」）第14A章，吉林精

優為本公司之關連人士，訂立該注資協議構成本

公司之一項關連交易。根據該注資協議，吉林精

優已同意於簽署該注資協議後三個月內以現金注

入人民幣2,500,000元，作為本集團之附屬公司

龍脈（上海）經有關注資擴大後之20%註冊資本

（「該注資」）。龍脈（上海）現時經營健康中心。根

據上市規則第14.29條所界定，該注資構成本集

團視為出售其於龍脈（上海）之20%股權。該注

資協議已於二零一二年四月完成。

除上文披露者外，本財政年度內，本集團並無其

他重大投資、作出任何重大收購或出售本集團公

司或關連公司之行為。

本集團資產抵押
於二零一二年六月三十日，本集團及本公司並無

任何資產抵押（二零一一年六月三十日：無）。

或然負債
董事並不知悉本集團及本公司於二零一二年六月

三十日有任何重大或然負債（二零一一年六月

三十日：無）。

訴訟
本集團及本公司於二零一二年六月三十日之訴訟

載於財務報表附註34。

Significant investments, acquisition and disposals
On 13 January 2012, the Group entered into a conditional injection of 

capital agreement (the “Injection Agreement”) with Jilin Extrawell 

Changbaishan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Jilin Extrawell”). Jilin 

Extrawell is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Extrawell 

Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (“Extrawell Pharmaceutical”), a 

company listed in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 

“Stock Exchange”). Since Dr. Mao Yumin (“Dr. Mao”), who is the 

honorary chairman, chief scientific adviser and a ultimate controlling 

shareholder of the Company, is also the chairman and a substantial 

shareholder of Extrawell Pharmaceutical, Jilin Extrawell is a connected 

person of the Company and the entering into the Injection Agreement 

constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 

14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 

Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Pursuant to the Injection Agreement, 

Jilin Extrawell agreed to inject RMB2.5 million by cash for 20% of the 

registered capital of a subsidiary of the Group, Longmark (Shanghai) as 

enlarged after such injection of capital (the “Injection of Capital”), 

within three months after signing of the Injection Agreement. 

Longmark (Shanghai) is currently operating the Health Care Centre. 

The Injection of Capital constitutes a deemed disposal by the Group of 

20% equity interest of Longmark (Shanghai) within the meaning of 

Rule 14.29 of the Listing Rules. The completion of the Injection 

Agreement took place in April 2012.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other significant 

investments, nor had it made any material acquisition or disposal of 

the Group’s companies or associated companies during the Financial 

Year.

Charges on the Group’s assets
As at 30 June 2012, the Group and the Company did not have any 

charges on its assets (30 June 2011: nil).

Contingent liabilities
The Directors were not aware of any significant contingent liabilities of 

the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2012 (30 June 2011: nil).

Litigation
Litigation of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2012 are set 

out in note 34 to the financial statements.



聯合基因科技集團有限公司
二零一二年年報

13

maNaGEmENT DISCUSSION aND aNaLYSIS
管理層討論及分析

承擔
本集團及本公司於二零一二年六月三十日之承擔

載於財務報表附註32。

外匯風險
本集團之貨幣資產及負債以及業務主要以港元、

人民幣（「人民幣」）及美元進行。本集團對其外匯

風險管理維持審慎策略，並透過平衡外幣資產與

外幣負債以及外幣收益與外幣開支減低外匯風

險。本集團並無使用任何金融工具對沖外幣風

險。本集團將密切監察外幣風險，並將於有需要

時考慮對沖外幣之風險。

僱員人數及薪酬
於二零一二年六月三十日，本集團有218（二零

一一年六月三十日：149）名全職僱員，大部份均

任職本公司於中國之附屬公司。本集團之政策乃

維持僱員（包括董事）之薪酬與市場一致，並與職

責相符。酌情年末花紅乃根據個人表現而向僱員

支付。其他僱員福利包括醫療保險、退休計劃、

培訓課程及教育資助。

於本財政年度之員工總成本（包括董事酬金）約為

20,000,000港元（二零一一年：約11,100,000港

元 ）， 包 括 約1,100,000港 元（ 二 零 一 一 年： 約

1,600,000港元）員工成本已資本化於研究及開發

成本中。

分部資料
分部資料詳情載於財務報表附註8。

李雅欣

執行董事

香港，二零一二年九月二十八日

Commitments
Commitments of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2012 are 

set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

Foreign exchange exposure
The monetary assets and liabilities and businesses of the Group are 

mainly carried out and conducted in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi 

(“RMB”) and United States Dollars. The Group maintains a prudent 

strategy in its foreign exchange risk management, with the foreign 

exchange risks being minimised through balancing the foreign currency 

monetary assets against foreign currency monetary liabilities, and 

foreign currency revenue against foreign currency expenditure. The 

Group did not use any financial instrument to hedge against foreign 

currency risk. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure 

closely and consider hedging foreign currency exposure should the 

need arises.

Number and remuneration of employees
As at 30 June 2012, the Group had 218 (30 June 2011: 149) full-time 

employees, most of whom were working in the Company’s 

subsidiaries in the PRC. It is the Group’s policy that remuneration of 

the employees including the Directors is in line with the market and 

commensurate with the responsibilities. Discretionary year-end 

bonuses are payable to the employees based on individual 

performance. Other employee benefits include medical insurance, 

retirement schemes, training programmes and education subsidies.

Total staff costs including Directors’ remuneration for the Financial 

Year amounted to approximately HK$20.0 million (2011: approximately 

HK$11.1 million) inclusive of approximately HK$1.1 million (2011: 

approximately HK$1.6 million) staff costs capitalized in the research 

and development costs.

Segment information
Details of the segment information are set out in note 8 to the financial 

statements.

Lee Nga Yan

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 September 2012
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EXECUTIVE DIrECTOrS
ms. Lee Nga Yan, aged 33, has been appointed as an executive 

Director with effect from 8 June 2011. Ms. Lee graduated from The 

Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2009 with a master’s degree in 

business administration, majoring in finance. She also serves as a 

director of United Win Private Equity Management Limited, a 

healthcare and pharmaceutical investment management company 

which is substantially owned by Dr. Mao indirectly. Prior to joining the 

Company, Ms. Lee worked in the healthcare sector for the years from 

2004 to 2007. Ms. Lee has extensive experience in the healthcare 

sector, particularly with respect to clinical consultancy, client 

management, operation and strategy execution.

Dr. Guo Yi, aged 31, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the 

Company in 8 June 2011 and has been re-designated as an executive 

Director with effect from 27 April 2012. He obtained a bachelor’s 

degree in science, majoring in biology and a doctorate degree in 

science, majoring in genetics from the School of Life Sciences of 

Fudan University in 2003 and 2011 respectively. Since 2009, he has 

served as an assistant to the president of the group companies of 

United Gene Holdings Limited, a corporation owned by Mr. Mao and is 

in interest of the Company. Dr. Guo has extensive knowledge in the 

field of genetics. He was appointed as the director of 龍脈 (上海 )健康

管理服務有限公司 , an indirectly owned subsidiary of the Company, on 

6 December 2011.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIrECTOrS
ms. Jiang Nian, aged 58, has been appointed as a non-executive 

Director and chairman of the Company with effect from 21 December 

2010 and 10 June 2011 respectively. Ms. Jiang graduated from 安徽廣

播電視大學省直分校專科 (Junior College, Provincial Campus of Anhui 

Radio and Television University) in August 1986, majoring in Chinese 

Language and Literature. Ms. Jiang was the Associate Dean of the 

School of Life Sciences of Fudan University from June 2003 to April 

2010. To the Company’s best knowledge, she also serves as an 

authorized representative of 聯合基因生物醫葯有限公司 (United Gene 

Biomedical Limited). She has extensive experience in general 

administrative management particularly in the field of genomic 

research.

執行董事
李雅欣小姐，33歲，自二零一一年六月八日起已

獲委任為執行董事。二零零九年李小姐畢業於香

港中文大學，取得工商管理碩士學位，主修財

務。彼亦擔任聯盈股權投資管理有限公司（一間

醫藥投資管理公司）之董事，此公司主要由毛博

士間接擁有。加入本公司之前，李小姐於二零零

四年至二零零七年期間曾任職於醫療行業。李小

姐於醫療行業擁有廣泛經驗，特別於臨床諮詢、

客戶管理、營運及策略執行方面。

郭懿博士，31歲，自二零一一年六月八日起已獲

委任為本公司非執行董事，並自二零一二年四月

二十七日起已獲調任為執行董事。彼分別於二零

零三年及二零一一年取得復旦大學生命科學學院

理學學士學位（主修生物科學）及理學博士學位（主

修遺傳學）。彼從二零零九年起於由毛先生所擁

有以及持有本公司權益之聯合基因科技有限公司

之集團公司任職總裁助理。郭博士於基因行業擁

有廣泛經驗。彼於二零一一年十二月六日獲委任

為本公司之間接附屬公司龍脈（上海）健康管理服

務有限公司之董事。

非執行董事
蔣年女士，58歲， 分 別 自 二 零 一 零 年 十 二 月

二十一日起及自二零一一年六月十日起已獲委任

為 非 執 行 董 事 及 本 公 司 之 主 席。 蔣 女 士 於

一九八六年八月畢業於安徽廣播電視大學省直分

校漢語語言文學專科。蔣女士從二零零三年六月

至二零一零年四月曾任復旦大學生命科學學院副

院長。據本公司知悉，彼亦擔任聯合基因生物醫

葯有限公司之授權代表。彼於一般行政管理方面

擁有豐富經驗，特別是在基因組學研究領域上。
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肖焱女士，33歲，自二零一二年五月二十二日起

已獲委任為非執行董事。肖女士於二零零七年畢

業於上海財經大學，取得會計學士學位。肖女士

於二零零二年至今，擔任聯合基因科技有限公司

行政總裁謝毅博士之行政經理。肖女士於醫療服

務及一般行政方面擁有廣泛經驗。於二零一一年

十二月一日，彼獲委任為本公司之間接附屬公司

中荷（平湖）生物技術有限公司之財務經理。

鄔燕敏女士，35歲，自二零一一年六月八日起已

獲委任為非執行董事。鄔女士於一九九九年畢業

於上海大學生命科學學院，取得生物化學學士學

位。鄔女士於二零零一年加入聯合基因科技有限

公司 (United Gene Technology Holdings Limited)

負責一般行政工作，此公司為一間基因科技公

司，其股權主要由毛博士間接擁有。從二零零六

年開始，鄔女士擔任聯合基因科技有限公司之董

事長助理及負責協助董事長處理各類投資項目。

鄔女士於一般行政及投資管理方面擁有廣泛經驗。

獨立非執行董事
陳偉君女士，54歲，自二零零九年十一月六日起

已獲委任為獨立非執行董事，兼為本公司審核委

員會主席。陳女士現為上海瑞和會計師事務所有

限公司業務部經理。彼於二零零一年四月至二零

零三年六月曾為毛博士間接擁有之公司之前任財

務主管。彼畢業於中國共產黨中央黨校並自二零

零五年起為中國註冊會計師。彼於會計、財務及

核數服務方面擁有逾30年經驗。

ms. Xiao Yan, aged 33, has been appointed as a non-executive 

Director with effect from 22 May 2012. Ms. Xiao graduated from the 

Shanghai University of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’s 

degree in Account ing in 2007. Ms. Xiao has served as an 

administrative manager of the chief executive, Dr. Xie Yi, in 聯合基因

科 技 有 限 公 司 (United Gene Holdings Limited) since 2002. Ms. Xiao 

has extensive experience in medical  services and general 

administration. On 1 December 2011, she was appointed as the 

finance manager of 中 荷 (平 湖 )生 物 技 術 有 限 公 司 (CNL (Pinghu)), 

which is an indirectly owned subsidiary of the Company.

ms. Wu Yanmin, aged 35, has been appointed as a non-executive 

Director with effect from 8 June 2011. Ms. Wu graduated from the 

School of Life Sciences, Shanghai University in 1999 with a bachelor’s 

degree in biochemistry. Ms. Wu joined 聯合基因科技有限公司 (United 

Gene Technology Holdings Limited), a genetic engineering company 

substantially owned by Dr. Mao indirectly, in 2001 and was responsible 

for general administrative duties. Since 2006, Ms. Wu has served as 

an assistant to the chairman of United Gene Holdings Limited, and is 

responsible for assisting the chairman in handling various investment 

projects. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in general administrative 

and investment management.

INDEpENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIrECTOrS
ms. Chen Weijun, aged 54, has been appointed as an independent 

non-executive Director with effect from 6 November 2009 and is the 

chairman of the audit committee of the Company. Ms. Chen is 

currently the manager in the business department of Shanghai Ruihe 

Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd. She was formerly the finance 

supervisor of the companies indirectly owned by Dr. Mao from April 

2001 to June 2003. She graduated from the Chinese Communist Party 

Central Party College and has been a registered accountant in the PRC 

since 2005. She has more than 30 years of experience in accounting, 

finance and audit services.
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張志鴻博士，72歲，自二零一一年六月八日起已

獲委任為獨立非執行董事及本公司審核委員會成

員。張博士於一九六三年畢業於復旦大學，主修

生物物理學，並於一九八八年取得日本京都大學

理學博士學位。從一九九零年至一九九一年，張

博士為美國哈佛醫學院高級訪問學者。張博士從

一九八六年至二零零零年期間為復旦大學擔任不

同高級職位，包括生理學與生物物理系主任及生

命科學學院副院長。張博士於一九九四年至二零

零二年曾為中國生物物理學會副理事長，及於二

零零零年至二零零八年曾為上海生物物理學會理

事長。張博士於中國生物物理學和生理學界擁有

豐富知識，並受到很高的評價。

王榮樑先生，62歲，自二零一一年六月八日起已

獲委任為獨立非執行董事，並為審核委員會成

員。王先生畢業於上海市商業一局職工大學，主

修商業及經濟。彼從一九九六年至二零零五年曾

為上海七百集團廣告有限公司之常務副經理。王

先生於營運及行政管理方面擁有廣泛經驗。

管理層
賴世和先生，38歲，自二零一二年四月二十七日

起已獲委任為本公司之公司秘書、財務總監及授

權代表。賴先生為英國特許公認會計師公會之資

深會員，亦為香港會計師公會之資深會計師。賴

先生於財務管理、會計及核數方面擁有約15年專

業經驗。

Dr. Zhang Zhihong, aged 72, has been appointed as an independent 

non-executive Director and is a member of the audit committee of the 

Company with effect from 8 June 2011. Dr. Zhang graduated from 

Fudan University majoring in biophysics in 1963 and obtained a 

doctorate degree in science from Kyoto University, Japan in 1988. 

From 1990 to 1991, Dr. Zhang was a senior visiting fellow at the 

medical school of Harvard University in the United States of America. 

From 1986 to 2000, Dr. Zhang undertook various senior positions at 

Fudan University, including the officer of the Department of Physiology 

and Biophysics and the associate dean of the School of Life Sciences. 

Dr. Zhang was the deputy chairman of the Biophysical Society of China 

from 1994 to 2002 and the chairman of the Shanghai Society of 

Biophysics from 2000 to 2008. Dr. Zhang has extensive knowledge 

and is highly regarded in the field of biophysics and physiology in 

China.

mr. Wang rongliang, aged 62, has been appointed as an independent 

non-executive Director with effect from 8 June 2011 and is a member 

of the Audit Committee. Mr. Wang graduated from 上海市商業一局職

工 大 學 (Shanghai First Commercial Bureau Staff College) majoring in 

business and economics. He acted as a deputy manager of 上海七百

集團廣告有限公司 (Shanghai 700 Group Advertising Company Limited) 

from 1996 to 2005. Mr. Wang has extensive experience in operation 

and administrative management.

maNaGEmENT
mr. Lai Sai Wo, ricky, aged 38, has been appointed as the Company 

secretary, financial controller and an authorised representative of the 

Company with effect from 27 April 2012. Mr. Lai is a fellow member 

of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a fellow 

Certified Public Accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants. Mr. Lai has about 15 years of professional experience in 

financial management, accounting and auditing.



聯合基因科技集團有限公司
二零一二年年報

17

EXTErNaL CONSULTaNT prOfILE
外聘顧問履歷

rESEarCH aND DEVELOpmENT
Dr. mao Yumin, aged 60, has been engaged as the chief scientific 

adviser and honorary chairman of the Company since 1 September 

2010, responsible for providing advisory and consultancy services to 

the Group in relation to the research and development of its gene-

testing products and other scientific technologies. Dr. Mao is a 

ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company. He was a member of 

the Consultant Committee of Fudan University, the dean of the School 

of Life Sciences and Institute of Genetics of Fudan University, and the 

director of State Key Laboratory of Genetic Engineering in Fudan 

University. Dr. Mao’s main area of research focuses on biological and 

genetic engineering. Dr. Mao has accumulated extensive experiences 

in operations in the genomic research based industry. Dr. Mao is the 

chairman and an executive director of Extrawell Pharmaceutical 

Holdings Limited (stock code: 858), a company listed on the Stock 

Exchange, since April 2002.

研究及開發
毛裕民博士，60歲，自二零一零年九月一日起已

獲聘任為本公司之首席科學顧問及名譽主席，負

責向本集團提供與其基因檢測產品及其他科學技

術的研究及開發有關之諮詢及顧問服務。毛博士

是本公司之最終控股股東。彼曾任復旦大學校務

委員會委員、復旦大學生命科學學院及遺傳學研

究所院長、復旦大學遺傳工程國家重點實驗室主

任。毛博士的主要研究領域集中於生物及遺傳基

因工程上。毛博士在研究基因工程產業的營運上

積累了許多廣泛經驗。毛博士自二零零二年四月

起為於聯交所上市之精優藥業控股有限公司（股

份代號：858）之主席及執行董事。
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COrpOraTE GOVErNaNCE praCTICES
The Company has adopted and complied with all the code provisions 

as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “Code”) (and the 

new code provisions since 1 April 2012 when the amendments to the 

Code become effective) on the Stock Exchange for the Financial Year, 

except for the deviations discussed below.

DIrECTOrS’ SECUrITIES TraNSaCTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions 

by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in 

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding 

Directors’ securities transactions. All Directors have confirmed that 

they have fully complied with the Model Code throughout the Financial 

Year. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company in the 

Financial Year.

BOarD Of DIrECTOrS
The composition of the Board during the Financial Year are set out 

below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Jian (resigned on 25 April 2012)

Ms. Lee Nga Yan

Dr. Guo Yi (re-designated as an executive director

  on 27 April 2012)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan (appointed on 22 May 2012)

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Dr. Zhang Zhihong

Mr. Wang Rongliang

Further details of the composition of the Board are set out in the 

section headed “Management Profile” on pages 14 to 16.

企業管治常規
於本財政年度，本公司已採納及遵守聯交所上市

規則附錄十四所載之一切守則條文（「守則」）（及

由二零一二年四月一日守則修訂生效起遵守新守

則條文），惟下文所述之偏離情況除外。

董事進行之證券交易
本公司已採納上市規則附錄十所載之上市發行人

董事進行證券交易的標準守則（「標準守則」）作為

董事進行證券交易之行為守則。全體董事已確

認，彼等於整個本財政年度已完全遵守標準守

則。於本財政年度，本公司並無注意到有任何不

遵守此守則之事件。

董事會
本財政年度內，董事會組成載列如下：

執行董事
蔣健先生 （於二零一二年四月二十五日辭任）

李雅欣小姐

郭懿博士 （於二零一二年四月二十七日

  獲調任為執行董事）

非執行董事
蔣年女士（主席）

肖焱女士 （於二零一二年五月二十二日

  獲委任）

鄔燕敏女士

獨立非執行董事
陳偉君女士

張志鴻博士

王榮樑先生

董事會組成之更多詳情載於第14至第16頁「管

理層履歷」一節。
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董事會認為執行董事及非執行董事之平衡足以保

障股東之利益。獨立非執行董事亦可為本集團提

供多樣化之專業知識及寶貴經驗。彼等之獨立建

議有助於董事會決策時作出獨立判斷，為企業策

略之制定帶來新思路。

董事負責監察本集團之財務業績及制定業務策略

及釐訂企業管治政策，並於董事會會議上商討任

何有關本集團之重大事宜。日常經營事務則委派

予本集團管理層負責。

本財政年度內，董事會曾舉行11次會議。各成員

於董事會會議之出席記錄載列如下：

守則條文第A.2.1條
行政總裁之職位仍空置，本公司正物色合適人選

擔任此職位。

The Board considers the balance between executive Directors and 

non-executive Directors is adequate to safeguard the Shareholders’ 

interests. Independent non-executive Directors can also provide the 

Group with diversified expertise and valuable experience. Their 

independent advice can bring independent judgment to the decision 

making of the Board and bring new ideas to the formulation of 

corporate strategy.

The Directors oversee the financial performance and formulate 

business strategies and determine the corporate governance policy of 

the Group, as well as discuss on any significant matters relating to the 

Group at the Board meetings. Daily operational matters are delegated 

to the management of the Group.

During the Financial Year, the Board held eleven meetings. The 

attendance of each member at the Board meeting is set out as 

follows:

Directors

meetings attended/

Total meetings as Directors

董事

出席會議次數╱
作為董事之會議總數

   

Executive Directors 執行董事
Mr. Jiang Jian 蔣健先生 6/8

Ms. Lee Nga Yan 李雅欣小姐 11/11

Dr. Guo Yi 郭懿博士 10/11

Non-executive Directors 非執行董事

Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman) 蔣年女士（主席） 11/11

Ms. Wu Yanmin 鄔燕敏女士 11/11

Ms. Xiao Yan 肖焱女士 2/2

Independent non-executive Directors 獨立非執行董事
Ms. Chen Weijun 陳偉君女士 9/11

Dr. Zhang Zhihong 張志鴻博士 10/11

Mr. Wang Rongliang 王榮樑先生 11/11

Code provision A.2.1
The position of chief executive officer remains vacant and the 

Company is looking for a suitable person to assume this role.
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入職培訓及專業發展
董事培訓
全體董事須不時瞭解彼等作為董事之集體責任，

以及本集團之業務及活動。因此，本公司提供及

安排簡介，以確保新委任董事了解董事會之角

色、彼等作為董事之法律及其他職務及責任以及

本集團之業務及企業管治常規。

根據守則第A.6.5條（自二零一二年四月一日起生

效），董事應參與持續專業發展，發展並更新彼

等的知識及技能，以確保彼等繼續向董事會作出

知情及相關之貢獻。自二零一二年四月一日起至

二零一二年六月三十日止期間內，全體董事已參

與合適之持續專業發展活動，當中包括出席與本

公司業務或與董事職務及職責相關之培訓或閱讀

相關之材料。

非執行董事
守則條文第A.4.1條
守則條文第A.4.1條規定，非執行董事之委任應

有特定任期，並須接受重選。

本公司已偏離守則條文第A.4.1條。非執行董事

及獨立非執行董事之委任並無特定任期，惟須根

據本公司組織章程細則之條文，至少每三年輪值

告退一次並膺選連任。因此，本公司認為已採取

足夠措施以符合是項守則條文目的。

董事相信，儘管非執行董事之服務並無指定任

期，董事承諾致力代表本公司及股東之整體長遠

利益。

INDUCTION aND prOfESSIONaL DEVELOpmENT 
Directors’ training
All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as 

Directors and of the business and activities of the Group. As such, 

briefings are provided and organised to ensure that newly appointed 

Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their legal and other 

duties and responsibilities as Director as well as the business and 

corporate governance practices of the Group.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the Code (which is effective from 1 April 

2012), Directors should participate in continuous professional 

development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is 

to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and 

relevant. For the period from 1 April 2012 to 30 June 2012, all Directors 

have participated in appropriate continuous professional development 

activities by ways of attending training or reading material relevant to 

the  Company’s  bus iness  or  to  the  D i rectors ’  dut ies  and 

responsibilities.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIrECTOrS
Code provision A.4.1
Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive Directors should be 

appointed for specific term and should be subject to re-election.

The Company has deviated from the Code provision A.4.1. The non-

executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors were not 

appointed for specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation 

and re-election at least once every three years in accordance with the 

provision of the Company’s articles of association. As such, the 

Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to serve 

the purpose of this Code provision.

The Directors believe that, despite the absence of specified term of 

non-executive Directors, the Directors are committed to representing 

the long-term interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a 

whole.
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薪酬委員會
本公司根據上市規則之規定以書面方式擬定本公

司薪酬委員會（「薪酬委員會」）之職權範圍。薪酬

委員會於二零零八年六月三十日成立，薪酬委員

會之大部份成員應為獨立非執行董事。

薪酬委員會之主要職能如下：

(a) 就須獲股東批准之服務合約條款是否屬公

平合理向股東作出建議；

(b) 就本集團之薪酬政策及架構向董事會提供

推薦建議；

(c) 就聘請高級管理層制訂指引；

(d) 釐定高級管理層之薪酬；及

(e) 制定薪酬政策及就年度薪酬檢討向董事會

提供推薦建議。

董事及高級管理層之薪酬由薪酬委員會進行檢

討，並經參考市場基準及業內標準，及彼等於本

集團之職務及職責以及各董事之專業知識、表現

及經驗後釐定。

rEmUNEraTION COmmITTEE
The Company formulated written terms of reference for the 

remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration 

Committee”) in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. 

The Remuneration Committee was set up on 30 June 2008. The 

majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee shall be 

independent non-executive Directors.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(a) to advise the Shareholders on whether the terms of service 

contracts that require the Shareholder’s approval are fair and 

reasonable;

(b) to make recommendation to the Board on the Group’s 

remuneration policy and structure;

(c) to establish guidelines for recruitment of members of the senior 

management;

(d) to determine the remuneration of members of the senior 

management; and

(e) to formulate remuneration policy and make recommendations to 

the Board on annual remuneration review.

Remuneration of the Directors and senior management is reviewed 

and fixed by the Remuneration Committee, with reference to the 

market benchmarks and industry norms, and their duties and 

responsibilities in the Group, having regard to the expertise, 

performance and experience possessed by individual Directors.
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本財政年度內，薪酬委員會已舉行6次會議。各

成員於委員會會議之出席記錄載列如下：

提名委員會
本公司已於二零一二年三月十六日成立本公司之

提名委員會（「提名委員會」）。

本財政年度內，提名委員會曾舉行2次會議，各

成員於委員會會議之出席記錄載列如下：

During the Financial Year, the Remuneration Committee held six 

meetings. The attendance of each member at the committee meeting 

is set out as follows:

Directors

meetings attended/

Total meetings as

the committee

member

董事

出席會議次數╱

作為委員會

成員之會議總數
     

Non-executive Director 非執行董事
Ms. Jiang Nian 蔣年女士 6/6

Independent non-executive Directors 獨立非執行董事
Dr. Zhang Zhihong (chairman of the Remuneration 

 Committee)
張志鴻博士（薪酬委員會主席）

6/6

Mr. Wang Rongliang 王榮樑先生 6/6

NOmINaTION COmmITTEE
The Company has established a nomination committee of the 
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) on 16 March 2012.

During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee held two 
meetings. The attendance of each member of the committee meeting 
is set out as follow:

Directors

meetings attended/
Total meetings as

the committee member

董事
出席會議次數╱

作為委員會成員之會議總數
   

Non-executive Director 非執行董事
Ms. Jiang Nian 蔣年女士 2/2

Independent non-executive Directors 獨立非執行董事
Dr. Zhang Zhihong  
 (chairman of the Nomination Committee)

張志鴻博士

 （提名委員會主席） 2/2
Mr. Wang Rongliang 王榮樑先生 2/2
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董事及核數師對財務報表負有之責
任
董事深知彼等有責任編製本集團之綜合財務報

表。本公司核數師深知其於本財政年度綜合財務

報表之核數師報告中負有申報責任。董事確認本

集團之綜合財務報表乃按照法定規定及適用會計

準則編製。董事亦確認本集團已按時刊發綜合財

務報表。

董事確認，於作出一切合理查詢後，就彼等所深

知、所悉及所信，彼等並不知悉任何存在重大不

確定因素之事件或情況或會對本公司之持續經營

能力造成重大疑慮。

核數師酬金
本集團之外聘核數師為安達會計師事務所有限公

司。於本財政年度，本公司之核數師及其關連公

司就審核收取600,000港元，而就審閱本公司中

期財務資料、持續關連交易及供股所提供之其他

專業服務以及本集團稅項服務則收取110,000港

元。

企業管治職能
董事會負責根據守則之規定履行下列企業管治職

務：

(a) 制訂及檢討發行人之企業管治政策及常規，

並向董事會提供推薦建議；

(b) 檢討及監察董事及高級管理層之培訓及持

續專業發展；

(c) 檢討及監察發行人在遵守法律及監管規定

方面之政策及常規；

(d) 制訂、檢討及監察適用於僱員及董事之行

為守則及合規手冊（如有）；及

(e) 檢討發行人遵守守則之情況及審閱企業管

治報告（「企業管治報告」）內之披露事項。

DIrECTOrS’ aND aUDITOr’S rESpONSIBILITY 
fOr THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The auditor of the 
Company acknowledges its reporting responsibilities in the auditor’s 
report on the consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year. 
The Directors confirm that the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory requirements 
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also confirm that 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group has been published 
in a timely manner.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information 
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of 
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubts upon the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern.

aUDITOrS’ rEmUNEraTION
The Group’s external auditors are ANDA CPA Limited. For the Financial 
Year, the auditors of the Company and its connected firm charged the 
amount of HK$600,000 and HK$110,000 for the audit and other 
professional services provided on review of interim financial 
information, continuing connected transactions, and on the rights issue 
of the Company and taxation services of the Group respectively.

COrpOraTE GOVErNaNCE fUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate 
governance duties as required under the Code:

(a) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on 
corporate governance and make recommendations to the board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional 
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and 
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; 
and

(e) to review the issuer’s compliance with the code and disclosure 
in the corporate governance report (the “Corporate Governance 
Report”).
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審核委員會
本公司根據上市規則之規定以書面方式擬定本公

司審核委員會（「審核委員會」）之職權範圍。審核

委員會由三名獨立非執行董事組成。審核委員會

中至少一名成員具備上市規則所規定之合適專業

資格或會計或相關財務管理專業知識。

審核委員會之主要職能如下：

(a) 擔當董事與外聘核數師之間之重要溝通橋

樑；

(b) 與管理層一起就本集團採納之會計政策及

常規提供獨立審閱、監督財務匯報，並監

察及檢討本集團之內部監控成效以及外聘

審核是否足夠，從而協助董事會履行其職

責；

(c) 每年審閱外聘核數師之委任，並確保核數

師保持一貫獨立立場；及

(d) 倘聘用外聘核數師提供其他專業服務（稅務

相關服務除外），制訂及監察政策之應用。

審核委員會已審閱本集團於本財政年度之經審核

綜合財務報表。

aUDIT COmmITTEE
The Company formulated written terms of reference for the audit 

committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) in accordance 

with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is 

composed of three independent non-executive Directors. At least one 

of the members of the Audit Committee has appropriate professional 

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise 

as required under the Listing Rules.

The primary functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(a) to serve as a focal point for communication between the 

Directors and external auditors;

(b) to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing an 

independent review with the management of the accounting 

policies and practices adopted by the Group, and supervision of 

f inancial  report ing, and monitor ing and reviewing the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and the adequacy of 

the external audit;

(c) to review the appointment of external auditors on an annual basis 

as well as to ensure continuing auditors independence; and

(d) to develop and monitor the applications of the policies on the 

engagement of the external auditors to perform other 

professional services (other than tax-related services).

The Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the Financial 

Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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During the Financial Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings 

with the Company’s external auditors to review the interim and annual 

financial statements. The attendance of each member of the Audit 

Committee at the committee meeting is set out as follows:

Independent

non-executive

Directors

meetings attended/

Total meetings as

the committee

member

獨立非執行董事

出席會議次數╱

作為委員會

成員之會議總數
     

Ms. Chen Weijun (Chairman) 陳偉君女士（主席） 3/3

Dr. Zhang Zhihong 張志鴻博士 3/3

Mr. Wang Rongliang 王榮樑先生 3/3

INTErNaL CONTrOL
The Directors have an overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and 

effective internal control system to safeguard the Shareholders’ 

interests, and to review the effectiveness of such system regularly. 

The internal control system includes defined management structure 

with limits of authority set at various levels, which is designed to 

safeguard assets, ensure the maintenance of proper records, provide 

reliable financial information for internal use or publication, and ensure 

compliance with regulations.

During the Financial Year, the Directors have reviewed the internal 

control procedures of the Group and consider the internal control 

system adequate.

本財政年度內，審核委員會曾與本公司之外聘核

數師舉行3次會議，以審閱中期及年度財務報表，

審核委員會各成員於委員會會議之出席記錄載列

如下：

內部監控
董事須負全責維持健全有效之內部監控系統，以

保障股東之利益，並定期檢討該系統之成效。該

內部監控系統包括釐清管理層架構，訂明各級權

限，以保障資產、確保保留良好記錄、提供可靠

財務資料供內部使用或刊發，並確保符合有關規

例。

本財政年度內，董事已審閱本集團之內部監控程

序，認為內部監控系統足夠。
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股東通訊
(i) 召開股東特別大會及於股東大會上

提呈建議之程序

建議股東出席所有股東週年大會。根據本

公司之組織章程細則，於提交請求當日持

有不少於十分之一有權於本公司股東大會

上投票之本公司繳足股本之任何一名或多

名股東，將隨時有權向董事會或公司秘書

提交書面請求（「書面請求」）（本公司之香港

主要營業地點，地址為香港灣仔港灣道25

號海港中心1405–1406室）要求董事會召開

股東特別大會，以處理有關請求所指定之

任何事項，而有關大會須於提交有關請求

後兩 (2)個月內舉行。

根據本公司之組織章程細則，股東週年大

會須以不少於二十一 (21)個完整日及不少

於二十(20)個完整營業日之書面通知召開，

而任何考慮通過特別決議案之股東特別大

會須以不少於二十一 (21)個完整日及不少

於十 (10)個完整營業日之書面通知召開。

根據上市規則，營業日為聯交所開放進行

證券交易業務之任何日子。

倘董事會未能於提交請求起計二十一 (21)

日內著手召開有關大會，該（該等）請求人

本身可以相同方式召開大會，而請求人由

於董事會未能召開大會而產生之所有合理

費用將由本公司償還予請求人。

COmmUNICaTION WITH SHarEHOLDErS
(i) Procedures for convening of an extraordinary 

general meeting and putting forward proposals at 
shareholders’ meeting
Shareholders are encouraged to attend all annual general 

meetings. Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, 

any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of 

the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of 

the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of 

the Company shall at all times have the right, by written 

requisition (the “Written Requisition”) to the Board or the 

Secretary of the Company at the principal place of business in 

Hong Kong of the Company (at Rooms No. 1405–1406, Harbour 

Centre, No. 25 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong), to require 

an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for 

the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and 

such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the 

deposit of such requisition.

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an annual 

general meeting shall be called by a written notice of not less 

than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than twenty (20) 

clear business days and any special general meeting at which the 

passing of a special resolution is to be considered shall be called 

by a written notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days 

and not less than ten (10) clear business days. Business day 

under the Listing Rules means any day on which the Stock 

Exchange is open for business of dealing in securities.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to 

proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself 

(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable 

expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure 

of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the 

Company.
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(ii) 向本公司作出查詢之程序
如欲向董事會作出查詢，股東應以書面方

式向公司秘書提交查詢，並註明聯絡資料

（包括 閣下之登記姓名、地址及電話號碼

等），提交查詢之方法如下：

郵寄至本公司之香港總辦事處及主要營業

地點，地址為香港灣仔港灣道25號海港中

心1405–1406室。

電話：(852) 25986818

傳真：(852) 25986628

(iii) 有關股份登記之事宜
就股份過戶及登記、更改股東名稱及地址、

遺失股票或股息單等股份登記之相關事宜

而言，股東可聯絡香港股份登記及過戶辦

事處，地址如下：

卓佳登捷時有限公司

香港灣仔

皇后大道東28號

金鐘匯中心26樓

(iv) 股東提名人士參選董事之程序

根據本公司組織章程細則之條文，本公司

股東（「股東」）可不時於股東大會上以普通

決議案推選任何人士成為董事，以填補臨

時空缺或作為新增董事。

股東可於股東大會上提名本公司現有董事

以外之人士參選董事。股東必須將書面通

知（「通知」）送交本公司之香港總辦事處，

註明由公司秘書接收。

股東必須證明其於本公司之持股量。

(ii) Procedures for directing enquiries to the Company
To direct enquiries to the Board, Shareholders should submit his/

her/its enquires in writing with contact details (including, your 

registered name, address and telephone number, etc.) to the 

Company Secretary at the following:

By post to the head office and principal place of business in Hong 

Kong at Rooms No. 1405–1406, Harbour Centre, No. 25 Harbour 

Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Tel: (852) 25986818

Fax: (852) 25986628

(iii) Matters relating to share registration
For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and 

registration, change of name and address of Shareholders, loss 

of share certificates or dividend warrants, Shareholders can 

contact the Hong Kong share registrar and transfer office at the 

following:

Tricor Tengis Limited

26/F., Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

(iv) Procedures for a shareholder to propose a person 
for election as a Director
Subject to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association, 

the Shareholder(s) of Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) may from 

time to time in general meeting by Ordinary Resolution elect any 

person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an 

additional Director.

Shareholder(s) may propose a person other than an existing 

Director of the Company for election as a Director at a general 

meeting. The Shareholder(s) must deposit a written notice (the 

“Notice”) to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong 

for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The Shareholder(s) must prove his/her/their shareholding in the 

Company.
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通知必須由股東（獲提名之人士除外）簽署，

並須附上以下資料及文件：

— 股東之全名及聯絡資料；

— 獲提名參選本公司董事人士之聯絡資

料、年齡及全名；

— 香港聯合交易所有限公司證券上市規

則第13.51(2)條所規定獲提名參選人

士之履歷詳情；

— 獲提名參選人士所簽署之同意書，同

意出任本公司董事（倘獲選）。

通知及上述資料及文件須於寄發大會通告

當日起直至召開有關股東大會日期前不少

於七 (7)日止期間內送交本公司。

投資者關係
本公司並無於本財政年度更改其組織章程大綱及

細則。

The Notice must be signed by the Shareholder(s) (other than a 

person to be proposed) and shall be accompanied by the 

following of information and documents:

— the ful l  name and the contact information of the 

Shareholder(s);

— the contact details, age and the full name of the person 

proposed for election as a Director of the Company;

— biographical details of the person proposed for election as 

required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Rules Governing the 

Listing of Securities on The Stock of Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited;

— letter of consent signed by the person proposed to be 

elected that he or she consents to be Director of the 

Company, if elected.

The Notice and the abovementioned information and documents 

must be lodged with the Company commencing from the day 

after dispatch of the notice of the meeting and ending no later 

than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOr rELaTIONS
The Company did not make any changes in its memorandum and 

articles of association during the Financial Year.
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The Directors hereby submit their report with the audited consolidated 

financial statements for the Financial Year.

prINCIpaL aCTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal 

activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the financial 

statements.

rESULTS aND fINaNCIaL pOSITION
The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 42.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for 

the Financial Year.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2012 

are set out in the consolidated statement of financial position and the 

statements of financial position on pages 43 and 44, and 45 

respectively.

prOpErTY, pLaNT aND EQUIpmENT
Details of the movements during the Financial Year in the property, 

plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company are set out in 

note 17 to the financial statements.

pUrCHaSE, SaLE Or rEDEmpTION Of THE 
COmpaNY’S LISTED SECUrITIES
During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its 

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 

securities.

SHarE CapITaL
Details of the movements during the Financial Year in the share capital 

of the Company are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

董事謹此提呈本財政年度之報告及經審核綜合財

務報表。

主要業務
本公司為一間投資控股公司。其附屬公司之主要

業務載於財務報表附註36。

業績及財務狀況
本集團於本財政年度之業績載於第42頁之綜合全

面收益表。

董事不建議派付於本財政年度之末期股息。

本集團及本公司於二零一二年六月三十日之財務

狀況分別載於第43及第44頁和第45頁之綜合財

務狀況表及財務狀況表。

物業、廠房及設備
本集團及本公司之物業、廠房及設備於本財政年

度內之變動詳情載於財務報表附註17。

購買、出售或贖回本公司上市證券

本財政年度內，本公司或其任何附屬公司概無購

買、出售或贖回本公司任何上市證券。

股本
本公司於本財政年度內之股本變動詳情載於財務

報表附註28。



United Gene High-Tech Group Limited
Annual Report 2012

30

rEpOrT Of THE DIrECTOrS
董事會報告

儲備
本集團及本公司於本財政年度內之儲備變動詳情

分別載於第46頁之綜合權益變動表以及財務報表

附註29。

本公司於二零一二年六月三十日之可分派儲備約

為13,883,000港元（二零一一年六月三十日：約

189,127,000港元）。

董事
於本財政年度內及截至本年報日期之在任董事如

下：

執行董事
蔣健先生 （於二零一二年四月二十五日辭任）

李雅欣小姐

郭懿博士 （於二零一二年四月二十七日

  獲調任為執行董事）

非執行董事
蔣年女士（主席）

肖焱女士 （於二零一二年五月二十二日

  獲委任）

鄔燕敏女士

獨立非執行董事
陳偉君女士

張志鴻博士

王榮樑先生

根據本公司之組織章程細則第86(3)條，於二零

一一年十一月一日舉行之本公司股東週年大會後

獲委任之肖焱女士之任期僅直至應屆股東週年大

會（「二零一二年股東週年大會」）為止，彼等符合

資格且願意於二零一二年股東週年大會上膺選連

任。

根據本公司之組織章程細則第87(1)條，張志鴻

博士及王榮樑先生須於二零一二年股東週年大會

上輪值告退。張志鴻博士及王榮樑先生符合資格

且願意於二零一二年股東週年大會上膺選連任。

rESErVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the 

Company during the Financial Year are set out in the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity on page 46, and note 29 to the financial 

statements, respectively.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 30 June 2012 amounted 

to approximately HK$13,883,000 (30 June 2011: approximately 

HK$189,127,000).

DIrECTOrS
The Directors who held office during the Financial Year and up to the 

date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Jian (resigned on 25 April 2012)

Ms. Lee Nga Yan

Dr. Guo Yi  (redesignated as an executive director

  on 27 April 2012)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan (appointed on 22 May 2012)

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Dr. Zhang Zhihong

Mr. Wang Rongliang

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the Company’s articles of 

association, Ms. Xiao Yan who was appointed subsequent to the 

annual general meeting of the Company held on 1 November 2011, 

shall hold office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting 

(“2012 AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election 

at the 2012 AGM.

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s articles of 

association, Dr. Zhang Zhihong and Mr. Wang Rongliang will retire by 

rotation at the 2012 AGM. Dr. Zhang Zhihong and Mr. Wang Rongliang, 

being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2012 AGM.
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DIrECTOrS’ SErVICE CONTraCTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the 2012 AGM has a service 

contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year 

w i thout  payment  o f  compensat ion  (o ther  than  s ta tu to ry 

compensation).

BIOGrapHICaL DETaILS Of DIrECTOrS aND 
SENIOr maNaGEmENT
Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management are 

set out on pages 14 to 16 of this annual report.

DIrECTOrS’ INTErESTS IN SHarES
As at 30 June 2012, the Directors, chief executive of the Company or 

their associates had interests or short positions in any shares, 

underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its 

associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 

Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register 

required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the 

Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in the issued share capital of the 
Company

Name of Director Capacity

Number

of shares/

underlying

shares held

percentage

of the issued

share capital of

the Company

董事姓名 身份

持有之股份╱

相關股份數目

佔本公司已發行

股本百分比
    

Ms. Wu Yanmin Beneficial owner 270,000 0.002%

鄔燕敏女士 實益擁有人

Ms. Xiao Yan Beneficial owner 1,440,000 0.012%

肖焱女士 實益擁有人

董事服務合約
於二零一二年股東週年大會建議重選連任之董事

概無訂有本集團不可於一年內不作賠償（法定賠

償除外）而終止之服務合約。

董事及高級管理層之履歷詳情

董事及高級管理層之簡要履歷詳情載於本年報第

14至第16頁。

董事於股份之權益
於二零一二年六月三十日，董事、本公司主要行

政人員或彼等之聯繫人士於本公司或其任何相聯

法團（定義見證券及期貨條例（「證券及期貨條例」）

第XV部）之任何股份、相關股份或債券中，擁有

須根據證券及期貨條例第352條載入本公司存置

之登記冊，或根據標準守則須知會本公司及聯交

所之權益或淡倉如下：

於本公司已發行股本之好倉
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除上文披露者外，於二零一二年六月三十日，概

無董事、本公司主要行政人員或彼等之聯繫人士

於本公司或其任何相聯法團（定義見證券及期貨

條例第XV部）之任何股份、相關股份或債券中，

擁有須根據證券及期貨條例第352條載入本公司

存置之登記冊，或根據標準守則須知會本公司及

聯交所之任何權益或淡倉。

董事及控股股東於重大合約之權益

除財務報表附註33所披露者外，本公司、其控股

公司、同系附屬公司或附屬公司均並非在本財政

年度終結時或本財政年度內任何時間生效且董事

於當中直接或間接擁有重大權益之重大合約之訂

約方，本公司或本公司之任何附屬公司亦無與控

股股東或其任何附屬公司訂立與本集團業務有關

之任何其他重大合約。

管理合約
本財政年度內，並無訂立或存續有關本公司之整

體或任何主要部份業務之管理及行政之合約。

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2012, none of the Directors, 

chief executive of the Company nor their associates had any interests 

or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of 

the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning 

of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept 

under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company 

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIrECTOrS’ aND CONTrOLLING SHarEHOLDErS’ 
INTErESTS IN CONTraCTS Of SIGNIfICaNCE
Save as disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements, no contract of 

significance, to which the Company, its holding company, fellow 

subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a 

material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of 

the Financial Year or at any time during the Financial Year, nor was 

there any other contract of significance in relation to the Group’s 

business between the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries 

and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

maNaGEmENT CONTraCT
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the 

whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were 

entered into or in existence during the Financial Year.
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主要股東及其他人士於股份及相關
股份之權益及淡倉

於二零一二年六月三十日，根據證券及期貨條例

第336條存置之本公司股份及相關股份之權益及

淡倉登記冊所載，下列實體於本公司已發行股本

中擁有或被視為擁有5%或以上權益：

於本公司已發行股本之好倉

除上文披露者外，於二零一二年六月三十日，董

事並不知悉佔本公司已發行股本5%或以上之任

何其他相關權益或淡倉。

獨立非執行董事
本公司已接獲各獨立非執行董事根據上市規則第

3.13條作出之年度確認書，確認其獨立性。本公

司認為全體獨立非執行董事均為獨立人士。

SUBSTaNTIaL SHarEHOLDErS’ aND OTHEr 
pErSONS’ INTErESTS aND SHOrT pOSITIONS 
IN SHarES aND UNDErLYING SHarES
As at 30 June 2012, the register of interests and short positions in the 

shares and underlying shares of the Company kept under Section 336 

of the SFO showed that, the following entities had an interest or 

deemed interest of 5% or more in the issued share capital of the 

Company:

Long positions in the issued share capital of the 
Company

Name of Shareholder Capacity

Number of
shares/

underlying 
shares held

percentage of 
the issued

share capital of
the Company

股東姓名╱名稱 身份
持有之股份╱
相關股份數目

佔本公司已發行
股本百分比

    

Dr. Mao Beneficial owner 4,852,335,385 39.89%
毛博士 實益擁有人

Dr. Xie Yi Beneficial owner 4,852,335,385 39.89%
謝毅博士 實益擁有人

United Gene Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 4,852,335,385 39.89%
聯合基因科技有限公司 受控制法團之權益

Ease Gold Investment Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 4,852,335,385 39.89%
受控制法團之權益

Best Champion Holdings Limited 
 (“Best Champion”)

Interest of a controlled corporation 4,852,335,385 39.89%

凱佳控股有限公司（「凱佳」） 受控制法團之權益

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other 

relevant interests or short positions of 5% or more in the issued share 

capital of the Company as at 30 June 2012.

INDEpENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIrECTOrS
The Company has received an annual confirmation from each 

independent non-executive Director confirming his/her independence 

pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all 

of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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關連交易
本財政年度內，本集團簽訂之關連人士交易摘要

載於財務報表附註33。

本財政年度內，以下為若干關連人士（定義見上

市規則）與本集團已訂立及╱或正在進行的交易，

如有需要，本公司已根據上市規則第14A章作出

相關公告。

(1) 關連交易
由 (i)本公司之間接全資附屬公司聯合基因

（上海）健康管理服務有限公司（「聯合基因

（上海）」）；(ii)聯合基因（上海）之全資附屬

公司龍脈（上海）；與 (iii)吉林精優於二零

一二年一月十三日訂立之該注資協議，內

容有關吉林精優注資人民幣2,500,000元（約

3,080,000港元），作為收購龍脈（上海）經

該注資擴大後之20%註冊資本之代價。

於二零一一年八月十五日，龍脈（上海）與

上海博仲生物技術有限公司（「上海博仲」）

訂立一份協議，同意自二零一一年九月至

二零一二年八月止期間向上海博仲供應若

干 基 因 測 試 服 務， 並 每 月 收 取 人 民 幣

50,000元作服務費。於二零一二年一月五

日，雙方簽署終止協議，自二零一二年一

月起生效。於本財政年度，龍脈（上海）向

上海博仲供應若干基因測試服務，總值約

為245,000港元。

於二零一二年二月五日及二零一二年二月

八日，復旦健康國際（澳門離岸商業服務）

有限公司（「復旦澳門」）與聯合基因（上海）

分別訂立一份協議及一份補充協議，同意

提供三個月基因測試數據服務。於本財政

年度，復旦澳門向聯合基因（上海）提供基

因測試數據服務，總值約為896,000港元。

CONNECTED TraNSaCTIONS
A summary of the related parties transactions entered into by the 

Group during the Financial Year is contained in note 33 to the financial 

statements.

The following transactions between certain connected parties (as 

defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group have been entered into 

during the Financial Year and/or are ongoing for which relevant 

announcements, if necessary, had been made by the Company in 

accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(1) Connected transactions
The Injection Agreement dated 13 January 2012 entered into 

between (i) United Gene HealthCare Limited, Shanghai (“United 

Gene (Shanghai)”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company; (ii) Longmark (Shanghai), wholly-owned subsidiary of 

United Gene (Shanghai); and (iii) Jilin Extrawell in relation to 

injection of capital of RMB2.5 million (approximately HK$3.08 

million) by Jilin Extrawell as consideration to acquire 20% of the 

registered capital of Longmark (Shanghai) as enlarged by the 

Injection of Capital.

On 15 August 2011, Longmark (Shanghai) entered into an 

agreement with 上海博仲生物技術有限公司 (“SH Bozhong”) and 

agreed to supply certain gene testing services to SH Bozhong at 

a monthly service fee of RMB 50,000 for the period from 

September 2011 to August 2012. On 5 January 2012, the 

termination agreement was signed effective from January 2012. 

During the Financial Year, Longmark (Shanghai) supplied the 

certain gene testing services to SH Bozhong at an aggregate 

sum of approximately HK$245,000.

On 5 February 2012 and 8 February 2012, Fudan Health 

International (Macao Commercial Offshore) Limited (“Fudan 

Macao”) entered into an agreement and a supplementary 

agreement respectively with United Gene (Shanghai) and agreed 

to provide the gene testing data services for 3-month. During the 

Financial Year, Fudan Macao provided the gene testing data 

services to United Gene (Shanghai) at an aggregate sum of 

approximately HK$896,000.
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由 (i)本公司（作為受讓方）；(ii)本公司關連

人士聯合基因科技有限公司（作為轉讓方）；

與(iii)上海市生物醫葯行業協會（「SBIA」）（作

為談家楨生命科學獎（「該獎項」）之承辦單

位）於二零一二年五月二十二日訂立之談家

楨生命科學獎設獎單位協議，內容有關 (i)

本公司授讓該獎項；(ii)聯合基因科技有限

公司負責於六個年度提供合共為人民幣

9,000,000元（ 約10,890,000港 元 ）之 金 額

作頒授該獎項，並負責支付行政開支；及

(iii)SBIA承諾繼續負責承辦該獎項。

(2) 持續關連交易
於二零零九年四月十七日，本公司與凱佳

訂立為期一年之管理服務協議，該協議會

於到期日自動更新多一年直至任何一方發

出終止通知為止。本公司按每月行政服務

費用3,600港元於本公司之香港主要營業地

點為凱佳提供行政服務。於本財政年度，

自二零一一年七月至二零一二年一月止期

間之行政服務費為23,520港元。

本公司於二零一零年八月三十一日與毛博

士訂立協議，根據協議，毛博士獲聘任為

本公司首席科學顧問，其服務酬勞為每月

37,500港元，彼向本集團提供與其基因檢

測產品及其他科學技術的研究及開發有關

之諮詢及顧問服務。聘用任期為三年，從

二零一零年九月一日開始生效，惟根據協

議被提早終止則除外。

於二零一零年十一月八日，復旦健康廣東

有限公司與上海博仲及復旦澳門（兩者均為

毛博士間接全資擁有）各自簽訂協議，自二

零一零年十二月十三日起向本集團提供基

因測試服務（「持續供應」）。根據該協議，

上海博仲亦作為次級分銷商向本集團採購

基因測試服務（「分銷安排」）。於本財政年

度內，本集團根據持續供應之採購總數約

為3,183,000港元，而本集團並無產生有關

分銷安排之營業額。

The Tan Jia Zhen Life Sciences Prize Sponsorship agreement 
dated 22 May 2012 entered into between (i) the Company as the 
assignee; (ii) 聯合基因科技有限公司 (United Gene Holdings 
Limited), a connected person of the Company, as the assignor; 
and (iii) 上海市生物醫葯行業協會 (Shanghai Biopharmaceutical 
Industry Association) (the “SBIA”) as the administrator of the 談
家楨生命科學獎 (Tan Jia Zhen Life Sciences Prize) (the “Prize”), 
in relation to (i) the assignation of the Prize by the Company; (ii) 
the obligations to provide an aggregate of RMB9 million 
(approximately HK$10.89 million) for the grant of the Prize 
together with the administrative cost by United Gene Holdings 
Limited for the six years; and (iii) the continuous responsibility for 
the administration of the Prize undertaking by the SBIA.

(2) Continuing connected transactions
On 17 April 2009, the Company entered into a management 
services agreement with Best Champion for one year, which 
would be automatically renewed for one more year upon expiry 
until any notification of termination by either party. The Company 
would provide administrative services to Best Champion in the 
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for a 
monthly administrative services fee of HK$3,600. During the 
Financial Year the administrative service fee amounted to 
HK$23,520 from the period of July 2011 to January 2012.

The Company entered into an agreement with Dr. Mao on 31 
August 2010 pursuant to which Dr. Mao has been engaged as 
the chief scientific adviser of the Company at a monthly service 
fee of HK$37,500, to provide advisory and consultancy services 
to the Group in relation to the research and development of its 
gene-testing products and other scientific technologies. The 
engagement shall be for a term of three years commencing from 
1 September 2010 unless terminated earlier in accordance with 
the agreement.

On 8 November 2010, Fudan Health (Guang Dong) Ltd. entered 
into an agreement with each of SH Bozhong and Fudan Macao, 
both being indirectly wholly owned by Dr. Mao, for supply of 
gene testing services to the Group (“Continuing Supplies”) with 
effect from 13 December 2010. Pursuant to such agreement, SH 
Bozhong would also serve as a sub-distributor to purchase the 
gene test ing serv ices f rom the Group (“Dist r ibut ion 
Arrangement”). During the Financial Year, purchase of the Group 
under the Continuing Supplies amounted to an aggregate sum of 
approximately HK$3,183,000 and no turnover under the 
Distribution Arrangement was generated by the Group.
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於二零一一年八月一日，復旦健康國際（香

港）有限公司（「復旦香港」）與復旦澳門訂立

協議，同意向復旦澳門提供若干基因測試

服務，並每月收取20,000港元作服務費。

於本財政年度內，復旦香港向復旦澳門提

供若干基因測試服務，總值為220,000港

元。

上述持續關連交易已由獨立非執行董事審閱。獨

立非執行董事確認持續關連交易之訂立乃：

(a) 在本集團的日常和一般業務過程中進行；

(b) 按不遜於本集團從獨立第三方獲得的條款

進行；及

(c) 根據規管彼等之有關協議，按公平合理及

符合本公司及股東整體利益之條款進行。

本公司核數師根據香港核證工作準則第3000號

「審核或審閱過往財務資料以外的核證」及參考香

港會計師公會頒佈之應用指引第740號「關於香

港上市規則所述持續關連交易之核數師函件」，

獲委聘就本集團的持續關連交易作出報告。核數

師對於本集團根據主板上市規則第14A.38條於

本報告第35及第36頁披露的持續關連交易，已

發出一封並無保留意見的函件，當中載有調查結

果和結論。本公司已向聯交所提交核數師函件的

副本。

獨立非執行董事進一步確認，根據上市規則，本

財政年度內之若干關連人士交易（持續供應及分

銷安排除外）（誠如財務報表附註33所披露）構成

關連交易，根據上市規則第14A.31條，該等交易

獲豁免遵守披露規定。

就董事所深知，本財政年度內，概無進行其他關

連交易。

On 1 August 2011, Fudan Health International (HK) Limited 
(“Fudan HK”) entered into an agreement with Fudan Macao and 
agreed to supply certain gene testing services to Fudan Macao at 
a monthly service fee of HK$20,000. Fudan HK supplied certain 
gene testing services to Fudan Macao at an aggregate sum of 
HK$220,000 during the Financial Year.

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed 
by the independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-
executive Directors confirmed that the continuing connected 
transactions were entered into:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available 
from independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on 
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the 
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s 
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements 
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and 
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing 
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor 
has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions 
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the 
Group on page 35 and 36 of this report in accordance with Main Board 
Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided 
by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have further confirmed that 
certain related party transactions except for the Continuing Supplies 
and the Distribution Arrangement (as disclosed in note 33 to the 
financial statements) which constituted connected transactions under 
the Listing Rules for the Financial Year, are exempted from the 
disclosure requirements in accordance with rule 14A.31 of the Listing 
Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there were no other 
connected transactions during the Financial Year.
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於競爭業務之權益
本財政年度內及截至本報告日期，根據上市規

則，除董事獲委任為董事以代表業務權益之業務

外，概無董事被視為於與本集團業務直接或間接

構成競爭或可能構成競爭之業務中擁有權益。

薪酬政策
管理層會按本集團僱員之表現、資歷及能力制訂

彼等之薪酬政策。

董事會經考慮本集團之營運業績、董事於本集團

之職務及職責、彼等之個人表現及可資比較市場

數據後釐定本財政年度內之董事薪酬，並已由薪

酬委員會於本財政年度內審閱。

購股權計劃
於二零零九年十一月六日（「採納日期」），本公司

已採納購股權計劃（「購股權計劃」），除非以其他

方式註銷或修訂，否則，購股權計劃將於採納日

期起維持有效十年。於二零一零年十一月三日購

股權計劃更新後，因行使根據購股權計劃將予授

出之所有購股權而可予發行之最高股份數目合共

不 得 超 過1,216,450,806股， 即 於 二 零 一 零 年

十一月三日本公司已發行股份之10%。每次接納

授出須支付1港元之名義代價。

根據購股權計劃授出購股權之行使價由董事會釐

定，惟不得低於以下最高者：(i)股份之面值；(ii)

股份於緊接授出日期前五個營業日在聯交所每日

報價表之平均收市價；或 (iii)股份於授出日期在

聯交所每日報價表之收市價。

於二零一二年六月三十日，本公司並無向購股權

計劃之合資格人士授出任何購股權，亦無根據購

股權計劃尚未行使之購股權。

INTErESTS IN COmpETITOrS
During the Financial Year and up to the date of this report, other than 
those businesses of which the Directors were appointed as directors 
to represent the interests of such businesses, no Director is 
considered to have had an interest in a business which competes or is 
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of 
the Group, pursuant to the Listing Rules.

EmOLUmENT pOLICY
The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the 
management on the basis of their merit, qualif ications and 
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors for the Financial Year are decided by 
the Board, having regard to the Group’s operating results, their duties 
and responsibilities in the Group, individual performance and 
comparable market statistics, and have been reviewed by the 
Remuneration Committee during the Financial Year.

SHarE OpTION SCHEmE
On 6 November 2009 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company adopted a 
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which, unless 
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from 
the Adoption Date. After the refreshment of the Share Option Scheme 
on 3 November 2010, the maximum number of Shares which may be 
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share 
Option Scheme may not in aggregate exceed 1,216,450,806, being 
10% of the Shares in issue of the Company as at 3 November 2010. 
The offer of a grant may be accepted upon payment of a nominal 
consideration of HK$1 per acceptance.

The exercise price of the share options granted under the Share Option 
Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the 
highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average closing 
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation 
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of 
grant; or (iii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the grant.

As at 30 June 2012, the Company had not granted any options to 
eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme and there were no 
outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme.
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除上述者外，於本財政年度內任何時間，本公司

或其任何附屬公司並無訂立任何安排，致使董事

及主要股東或任何彼等之聯繫人士可透過收購本

公司或任何其他法人團體之股份或債券而獲得利

益。

優先購買權
本公司之組織章程細則或開曼群島法例均無優先

購買權條文，致使本公司有責任向現有股東按比

例基準發售新股份。

慈善捐款
本財政年度內，本集團並無作出任何慈善捐款（二

零一一年：無）。

主要客戶及供應商
本財政年度內，本集團主要供應商及客戶分別應

佔本集團之採購總額及銷售總額百分比之資料如

下：

五大供應商之一上海博仲由毛博士間接全資擁

有，佔本集團採購總額之約11.45%。除上述者

外，本財政年度內任何時間，任何董事、彼等之

聯繫人士或任何股東（據董事所知，擁有本公司

已發行股本5%以上之權益者）概無於本集團任何

五大供應商或客戶中擁有權益。

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the Financial Year was the 

Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to 

enable the Directors and substantial Shareholders or any of their 

associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, 

or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

prE-EmpTIVE rIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s 

articles of association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would 

oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the 

existing Shareholders.

CHarITaBLE DONaTIONS
During the Financial Year, the Group did not make any charitable 

donation (2011: Nil).

maJOr CUSTOmErS aND SUppLIErS
The information in respect of the Group’s total purchases and sales 

attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers respectively 

during the Financial Year is as follows:

percentage of

the Group’s total

應佔本集團

總額之百分比
   

purchases 採購
 – the largest supplier  — 最大供應商 25.94%

 – five largest suppliers combined  — 五大供應商合計 53.61%

Sales 銷售
 – the largest customer  — 最大客戶 25.34%

 – five largest customers combined  — 五大客戶合計 76.05%

One of the five largest suppliers, Shanghai Bozhong, being indirectly 

wholly owned by Dr. Mao, represented approximately 11.45% of the 

Group’s total purchases. Apart from the above, at no time during the 

Financial Year had any of the Directors, their associates or any 

Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more 

than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) an interest in any of 

the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.
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充足公眾持股量
根據本公司可公開獲得之資料及據董事所知，於

本報告日期，董事相信由公眾人士持有之本公司

證券數目高於上市規則相關規定之最低百分比。

承擔
本集團承擔之詳情載於財務報表附註32。

訴訟及或然負債
訴訟及或然負債之詳情分別載於財務報表附註34

及31。

報告期後事項
報告期後發生之重大事項詳情載於財務報表附註

35。

企業管治
本公司之企業管治報告詳情載於本報告第18至第

28頁。

財務概要
本集團截至二零一二年六月三十日止五個年度之

業績及資產與負債概要載於本報告第107及第

108頁。

核數師
截至二零零八年至二零一零年六月三十日止年度

為本公司核數師之安達會計師事務所已於二零一

零年十一月三日辭任，自當日起安達會計師事務

所有限公司已獲委任為本公司核數師。安達會計

師事務所有限公司已審核本財政年度之財務報

表，該會計師行將於二零一二年股東週年大會上

退任，惟符合資格並願意膺選連任。

代表董事會

蔣年
主席

香港，二零一二年九月二十八日

SUffICIENCY Of pUBLIC fLOaT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and 
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the 
Directors believe that the number of securities of the Company which 
are in the hands of the public is above the relevant prescribed 
minimum percentage under the Listing Rules.

COmmITmENTS
Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 32 to the 
financial statements.

LITIGaTIONS aND CONTINGENT LIaBILITIES
Details of the litigation and contingent liabilities are set out in notes 34 
and 31 respectively to the financial statements.

EVENTS afTEr THE rEpOrTING pErIOD
Details of significant event occurring after the reporting period are set 
out in note 35 to the financial statements.

COrpOraTE GOVErNaNCE
Details of the Corporate Governance Report of the Company are set 
out on pages 18 to 28 of this report.

fINaNCIaL SUmmarY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group 
for the five years ended 30 June 2012 is set out on pages 107 and 108 
of this report.

aUDITOrS
On 3 November 2010, ANDA Certified Public Accountants, auditors of 
the Company for the years ended 30 June 2008 to 2010 resigned and 
ANDA CPA Limited has been appointed as auditors of the Company 
since then. The financial statements for the Financial Year have been 
audited by ANDA CPA Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-appointment in the 2012 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Nian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 September 2012



United Gene High-Tech Group Limited
Annual Report 2012

40

INDEpENDENT aUDITOr’S rEpOrT
獨立核數師報告

TO THE SHarEHOLDErS Of

United Gene High-Tech Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of United Gene 

High-Tech Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 108, 

which comprise the consolidated and Company statements of financial 

position as at 30 June 2012, and the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 

and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 

a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information.

DIrECTOrS’ rESpONSIBILITY fOr THE 
CONSOLIDaTED fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by 

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the 

“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.

aUDITOr’S rESpONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 

financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely 

to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 

responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 

contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with 

Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA. Those 

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the consolidated financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

致聯合基因科技集團有限公司

全體股東

（於開曼群島註冊成立之有限公司）

本行已審核第42至第108頁所載聯合基因科技集

團有限公司（「貴公司」）及其附屬公司（統稱「貴

集團」）之綜合財務報表，其內容涵蓋於二零一二

年六月三十日之綜合及 貴公司財務狀況表；截

至當日止年度之綜合全面收益表、綜合權益變動

表及綜合現金流量表；以及主要會計政策概要及

其他說明資料。

董事就綜合財務報表須承擔之責任

貴公司之董事有責任根據香港會計師公會（「香港

會計師公會」）頒佈之香港財務報告準則及香港公

司條例之披露規定，編撰並真實公平地呈列綜合

財務報表，以及作出董事認為就編撰綜合財務報

表而言屬必需之內部監控，致使綜合財務報表之

編撰並無重大錯誤陳述（不論由欺詐或錯誤引致）。

核數師之責任
本行有責任按本行之審核就此等綜合財務報表發

表意見，並僅向全體股東作出報告，除此以外別

無其他目的。本行不會就本報告內容向任何其他

人士負責或承擔任何責任。本行乃按香港會計師

公會頒佈之香港核數準則進行核數工作。該等準

則要求本行遵守道德規範，並規劃及執行核數工

作，以合理確定綜合財務報表是否存有任何重大

錯誤陳述。
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審核涉及執行程序以獲取有關綜合財務報表所載

金額及披露資料之審核憑證。所選定之程序取決

於核數師之判斷，包括評估由於欺詐或錯誤而導

致綜合財務報表存有重大錯誤陳述之風險。在評

估該等風險時，核數師考慮與該實體編撰及真實

公平地呈列綜合財務報表相關之內部監控，以設

計切合當時情況之適當審核程序，而並非就實體

之內部監控成效發表意見。審核亦包括評價董事

所採用之會計政策是否合適及所作出之會計估計

是否合理，以及評價綜合財務報表之整體呈列方

式。

本行相信，本行所獲得之審核憑證充分，並就本

行之審核意見提供合理依據。

意見
本行認為，綜合財務報表已根據香港財務報告準

則真實公平地反映 貴公司及 貴集團於二零

一二年六月三十日之財務狀況，以及 貴集團截

至該日止年度之業績及現金流量，並已遵照香港

公司條例之披露規定妥為編製。

安達會計師事務所有限公司

執業會計師

施連燈

執業證書號碼P03614

香港

二零一二年九月二十八日

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OpINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 

fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 

30 June 2012, and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

aNDa Cpa Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Practising Certificate Number P03614

Hong Kong

28 September 2012
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CONSOLIDaTED STaTEmENT Of COmprEHENSIVE INCOmE
綜合全面收益表
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
附註 千港元 千港元

     

Turnover 營業額 6 & 8 25,475 90,193
Cost of sales 銷售成本 (10,437) (56,686)
     

Gross profit 毛利 15,038 33,507
Other income 其他收入 7 7,820 5,180
Selling expenses 銷售開支 (2,436) (2,640)
Administrative expenses 行政開支 (55,678) (27,352)
Impairment loss on goodwill 商譽之減值虧損 20 (1,954) —
Impairment loss on intangible assets 無形資產之減值虧損 19 (94,397) —
     

(Loss)/profit from operations 經營（虧損）╱溢利 (131,607) 8,695
Gain on deconsolidation of the subsidiaries 停止綜合計算附屬公司之收益 — 161
Finance costs 財務費用 9 (150) —
     

(Loss)/profit before tax 除稅前（虧損）╱溢利 (131,757) 8,856
Income tax credit/(expense) 所得稅抵免╱（開支） 10 2,060 (3,250)
     

(Loss)/profit for the year 本年度（虧損）╱溢利 11 (129,697) 5,606
     

Other comprehensive income after tax: 其他全面收益，除稅後：
Exchange differences on translating 
 foreign operations

換算海外業務之匯兌差額

1,839 2,033
Fair value changes of property 物業之公平值變動 1,395 —
Fair value changes of available-for-sale 
 financial assets

可供出售金融資產之 
 公平值變動 116 508

     

Other comprehensive income 
 for the year, net of tax

年內其他全面收益， 
 除稅後 3,350 2,541

     

TOTaL COmprEHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOmE 
 fOr THE YEar

年內全面（虧損）╱收益 
 總額 (126,347) 8,147

     

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: 本年度（虧損）╱溢利歸屬：
 Owners of the Company  本公司擁有人 (123,882) 5,247
 Non-controlling interests  非控股權益 (5,815) 359
     

(129,697) 5,606
     

Total comprehensive (loss)/income 
  for the year attributable to:

年內全面（虧損）╱收益
 總額歸屬：

 Owners of the Company  本公司擁有人 (120,883) 7,574
 Non-controlling interests  非控股權益 (5,464) 573
     

(126,347) 8,147
     

(Loss)/earnings per share 每股（虧損）╱盈利 16
 Basic and diluted (HK cents per share)  基本及攤薄（每股港仙） (1.02) 0.04
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綜合財務狀況表
At 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

附註 千港元 千港元
     

Non-current assets 非流動資產
Property, plant and equipment 物業、廠房及設備 17 52,540 32,081

Intangible assets 無形資產 19 8,091 100,270

Goodwill 商譽 20 — 1,954
     

60,631 134,305
     

Current assets 流動資產
Inventories 存貨 21 155 118

Prepayments, deposits and 

 other receivables
預付款項、按金及 

 其他應收款項 22 26,688 21,654

Available-for-sale financial assets 可供出售金融資產 23 98,467 77,235

Trade receivables 貿易應收賬款 24 20 11,672

Bank and cash balances 銀行及現金結餘 170,037 222,267
     

295,367 332,946
     

Current liabilities 流動負債
Trade payables 貿易應付賬款 25 499 1,301

Accruals and other payables 應計費用及其他應付款項 12,772 7,251

Other borrowings 其他借貸 26 11,040 —

Current tax liabilities 即期稅項負債 — 1,890
     

24,311 10,442
     

Net current assets 流動資產淨額 271,056 322,504
     

Total assets less current liabilities 總資產減流動負債 331,687 456,809
     

Non-current liabilities 非流動負債
Deferred tax liabilities 遞延稅項負債 27 1,120 2,972
     

NET aSSETS 資產淨額 330,567 453,837
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CONSOLIDaTED STaTEmENT Of fINaNCIaL pOSITION
綜合財務狀況表
At 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

附註 千港元 千港元
     

Capital and reserves 資本及儲備
Share capital 股本 28 121,645 121,645

Reserves 儲備 29 197,603 314,879
     

Equity attributable to owners of 

 the Company
本公司擁有人應佔權益

319,248 436,524

Non-controlling interests 非控股權益 11,319 17,313
     

TOTaL EQUITY 權益總額 330,567 453,837
     

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 

September 2012.

Jiang Nian Lee Nga Yan

蔣年 李雅欣
Director Director

董事 董事

於二零一二年九月二十八日獲董事會核准並授權

發行。
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STaTEmENT Of fINaNCIaL pOSITION
財務狀況表
At 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

附註 千港元 千港元
     

Non-current assets 非流動資產
Property, plant and equipment 物業、廠房及設備 17 140 210

Investment in subsidiaries 附屬公司之投資 18 — —
     

140 210
     

Current assets 流動資產
Due from subsidiaries 應收附屬公司款項 18 97,557 251,198

Prepayments, deposits and 

 other receivables
預付款項、按金及

 其他應收款項 1,574 1,305

Bank and cash balances 銀行及現金結餘 141,754 163,440
     

240,885 415,943
     

Current liabilities 流動負債
Accruals and other payables 應計費用及其他應付款項 582 466
     

Net current assets 流動資產淨額 240,303 415,477
     

NET aSSETS 資產淨額 240,443 415,687
     

Capital and reserves 資本及儲備
Share capital 股本 28 121,645 121,645

Reserves 儲備 29 118,798 294,042
     

TOTaL EQUITY 權益總額 240,443 415,687
     

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 

September 2012.

Jiang Nian Lee Nga Yan

蔣年 李雅欣
Director Director

董事 董事

於二零一二年九月二十八日獲董事會核准並授權

發行。
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CONSOLIDaTED STaTEmENT Of CHaNGES IN EQUITY
綜合權益變動表
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

attributable to owners of the Company
歸屬本公司擁有人 

Share
capital

Share 
premium 
account

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve

property
revaluation

reserve
Statutory 

reserve

foreign
currency

translation
reserve

accumulated
losses Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity

股本
股份

溢價賬
投資重估

儲備
物業重估

儲備 法定儲備
外幣兌換

儲備 累計虧損 總額
非控股
權益 權益總額

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元            

At 1 July 2010 於二零一零年

 七月一日 121,645 726,123 — — — 208 (418,834) 429,142 465 429,607
Acquisition of a subsidiary 收購一間附屬公司 — — — — — — — — 7,018 7,018
Further capital injection
 by a non-controlling
 interest

非控股權益之 
 額外股本注資

— — — — — — — — 9,718 9,718
Total comprehensive
 income for the year

年內全面收益總額

— — 508 — — 1,819 5,247 7,574 573 8,147
Transfer to statutory
 reserve

轉予法定儲備

— — — — 1,319 — (1,319) — — —
Deconsolidation of 
 the subsidiaries

停止綜合計算

 附屬公司 — — — — — (192) — (192) (461) (653)            

At 30 June 2011 於二零一一年

 六月三十日 121,645 726,123 508 — 1,319 1,835 (414,906) 436,524 17,313 453,837
            

At 1 July 2011 於二零一一年 
 七月一日 121,645 726,123 508 — 1,319 1,835 (414,906) 436,524 17,313 453,837

Gain on deemed disposal
 (note 30)

視為出售之收益

 （附註30） — — — — — — 3,607 3,607 (530) 3,077
Total comprehensive
 (loss) for the year

年內全面（虧損）總額

— — 116 1,395 — 1,488 (123,882) (120,883) (5,464) (126,347)            

at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年
 六月三十日 121,645 726,123 624 1,395 1,319 3,323 (535,181) 319,248 11,319 330,567
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CONSOLIDaTED STaTEmENT Of CaSH fLOWS
綜合現金流量表
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
附註 千港元 千港元

     

Cash flow from operating activities 經營活動之現金流量
(Loss)/profit before tax 除稅前（虧損）╱溢利 (131,757) 8,856
Adjustment for: 調整以下各項：

 Depreciation  折舊 17 4,568 764
 Amortization of an intangible asset  無形資產攤銷 19 1,687 1,208
 Impairment of intangible assets  無形資產之減值 19 94,397 —
 Impairment of goodwill  商譽之減值 20 1,954 —
 Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, 
   plant and equipment

 出售物業、廠房及設備之 

  虧損╱（收益） 1,545 (27)
 Gain on deconsolidation of 
   the subsidiaries

 停止綜合計算附屬公司之 

  收益 — (161)
 Interest income  利息收入 (2,260) (1,640)
 Interest income of available-for-sale 
  financial asset

 可供出售金融資產之

  利息收入 (3,867) —
 Net gain on available-for-sale 
  financial assets

 可供出售金融資產之 

  淨收益 (756) (532)
 Finance costs  財務費用 150 —
     

Operating cash flows before working 
 capital changes

營運資金變動前經營現金流量

(34,339) 8,468
Changes in inventories 存貨變動 (37) (5)
Changes in prepayment, deposits and 
 other receivables

預付款項、按金及其他 

 應收款項變動 (5,036) 58,932
Changes in trade receivables 貿易應收賬款變動 11,652 89,327
Changes in trade payables 貿易應付賬款變動 (802) (84,882)
Changes in accruals and other payables 應計費用及其他應付款項變動 5,521 643
     

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 經營（動用）╱產生之現金額 (23,041) 72,483
Tax paid 已付稅項 (2,209) (4,838)
     

Net cash (used in)/generated from 
 operating activities

經營活動（動用）╱產生之 

 現金淨額 (25,250) 67,645
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CONSOLIDaTED STaTEmENT Of CaSH fLOWS
綜合現金流量表
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
附註 千港元 千港元

     

Cash flow from investing activities 投資活動之現金流量
Interest received 已收利息 2,260 1,640
Interest received of available-for-sale 
 financial asset

可供出售金融資產之

 已收利息 3,867 —
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 購置物業、廠房及設備 17 (27,913) (23,262)
Proceeds on sale of property, 
 plant and equipment

出售物業、廠房及設備之 

 所得款項 3,815 292
Purchases of intangible assets 購置無形資產 19 (3,484) (82,913)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of 
 subsidiaries

收購附屬公司之現金流出 

 淨額 — (18,960)
Purchases of available-for-sale 
 financial assets

購置可供出售金融資產

(62,105) (84,243)
Proceeds on sale of available-for-sale 
 financial assets

出售可供出售金融資產之 

 所得款項 41,745 7,356
Deconsolidation of the subsidiaries 停止綜合計算附屬公司 — (99)
     

Net cash used in investing activities 投資活動動用之現金淨額 (41,815) (200,189)
     

Cash flow from financing activities 融資活動之現金流量
Further capital injection by an non-controlling 
 interest

非控股權益之額外股本注資

3,077 9,718
Loan from others 來自其他方之貸款 26 11,040 —
Interest paid 已付利息 (150) —
     

Net cash generated from financing 
 activities

融資活動產生之現金淨額
13,967 9,718

     

Net decrease in cash and 
 cash equivalents

現金及現金等價物減少 

 之淨額 (53,098) (122,826)
 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  外幣匯率變動影響 868 869
 Cash and cash equivalents at 
  beginning of year

 年初現金及現金等價物

222,267 344,224
     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 年末現金及現金等價物 170,037 222,267
     

analysis of cash and cash equivalents 現金及現金等價物分析
Bank and cash balances 銀行及現金結餘 170,037 222,267
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

1. GENEraL INfOrmaTION
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an 

exempted company with limited liability under the Companies 

Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office 

is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P. O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman 

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business in 

Hong Kong is situated at Rooms No. 1405–1406, Harbour Centre, 

No. 25 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s 

shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal 

activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the financial 

statements.

The ultimate holding company of the Company is United Gene 

Holdings Limited, being wholly owned by Dr. Mao.

2. aDOpTION Of NEW aND rEVISED HONG 
KONG fINaNCIaL rEpOrTING STaNDarDS
In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and 

revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

(the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to its operations and effective 

for its accounting year beginning on 1 July 2011. HKFRSs 

comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), 

Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”), and Interpretations. 

The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in 

substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies, 

presentation of the Group’s financial statements and amounts 

reported for the current and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that 
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has 
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new 
and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether 
these new and revised HKFRSs would have a material impact on 
its results of operations and financial position.

1. 一般資料
本公司為根據開曼群島公司法於開曼群島

註冊成立之獲豁免有限責任公司。其註冊

辦 事 處 地 址 為Cricket Square, Hutchins 

Drive, P. O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman  

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands。香港主要營業

地點位於香港灣仔港灣道25號海港中心

1405–1406室。本公司之股份於聯交所主

板上市。

本公司為一間投資控股公司。其附屬公司

之主要業務載於財務報表附註36。

本公司之最終控股公司為聯合基因科技有

限公司，為毛博士全資擁有之公司。

2. 採納新訂及經修訂之香港財務
報告準則
於本年度，本集團已採納所有由香港會計

師公會（「香港會計師公會」）頒佈與其經營

有關並於二零一一年七月一日開始之會計

年度生效之新訂及經修訂香港財務報告準

則（「香港財務報告準則」）。香港財務報告

準則包括香港財務報告準則、香港會計準

則（「香港會計準則」）及詮釋。採納此等新

訂及經修訂之香港財務報告準則並無導致

本集團之會計政策、本集團財務報表呈報

及本年度與過往年度呈報之金額產生任何

重大轉變。

本集團並無應用已頒佈但尚未生效之新訂

及經修訂香港財務報告準則。本集團已開

始評估該等新訂及經修訂香港財務報告準

則之影響，惟目前尚未能說明該等新訂及

經修訂香港財務報告準則會否對其經營業

績及財務狀況造成重大影響。
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策
遵例聲明
本財務報表乃根據香港財務報告準則、香

港普遍採納之會計原則及聯交所證券上市

規則及香港公司條例之適用披露規定編製。

本財務報表乃按歷史成本慣例編製，並就

土地及樓宇及投資按公平值進行重估作出

修訂。

編製符合香港財務報告準則之財務報表需

作出若干主要假設及估計。董事於應用會

計政策之過程中亦需作出判斷。需作出重

大判斷及所作假設及估計對本財務報表有

重大影響之範疇已於財務報表附註4披露。

編製本財務報表時所應用之主要會計政策

載列如下。

綜合賬目
綜合財務報表包括本公司及其附屬公司截

至六月三十日之財務報表。附屬公司指本

集團有控制權之實體。控制權指監管一個

實體之財務及經營政策以從其業務中獲得

利益之權力。於評定本集團是否有控制權

時，會考慮是否有現時可行使或可轉換之

潛在投票權及其影響。

附屬公司之賬目自其控制權轉至本集團當

日起綜合計算至本集團之賬目，並自控制

權終止當日起停止綜合計算本集團賬目。

於出售附屬公司導致失去控制權之盈虧，

是指下述兩者的差額：(i)出售代價之公平

值，加上保留在該附屬公司之任何投資額

之公平值及 (ii)本公司分佔該附屬公司之資

產淨額加上該附屬公司任何保留之商譽及

任何有關累計外幣兌換儲備。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES
Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong 
Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and 
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of land 
and buildings and investments which are carried at their fair 
values.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and 
estimates. It also requires the Directors to exercise its judgments 
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas 
involving critical judgments and areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to these financial statements, are 
disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
these financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30 
June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. 
Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The 
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Group has control.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date 
on which the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a 
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair 
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any 
investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s 
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining 
goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated 
foreign currency translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

綜合賬目（續）

集團內公司間之交易、結餘及未變現溢利

已作出對銷。未變現虧損亦會作出對銷，

惟有證據顯示轉讓資產出現減值之交易則

除外。附屬公司之會計政策已作出必要變

動，以確保與本集團所採納之政策一致。

非控股權益是指不可直接或間接歸屬於本

公司之附屬公司權益。非控股權益在綜合

財務狀況表及綜合權益變動表內的權益中

列明。非控股權益在綜合全面收益表呈列

作非控股股東和本公司擁有人之間的本年

度溢利或虧損及全面收益總額之分配。

溢利或虧損及其他全面收益內每個部份均

歸屬於本公司擁有人和非控股股東，即使

這會導致在非控股權益中出現赤字結餘。

凡本公司於附屬公司的擁有權變動不會導

致控制權流失，均列作股權交易（即以擁有

人身份與擁有人進行之交易）。控股及非控

股權益之賬面值進行調整以反映於附屬公

司的相關權益之變動。調整非控股權益之

金額和已付或已收代價之公平值之任何差

額直接在權益中確認並歸屬於本公司擁有

人。

於本公司之財務狀況表中，附屬公司之投

資乃按成本減去減值虧損撥備列賬。本公

司按已收及應收股息將附屬公司之業績入

賬。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Intergroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are 

eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 

transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 

transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 

changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 

policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not 

attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-

controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement 

of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in 

equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in 

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an 

allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for 

the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners 

of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 

income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 

non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary 

that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 

transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as 

owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-

controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their 

relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the 

amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and 

the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 

directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of f inancial  posit ion, the 

investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for 

impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for 

by the Company on the basis of dividends received and 

receivable.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

業務合併及商譽
於業務合併中收購附屬公司按收購法列賬。

收購成本按所付出資產、所發行的股本工

具、所產生的負債及或然代價於收購日期

的公平值而計量。收購的相關成本於該等

成本產生及獲得服務的期間確認為開支。

附屬公司於收購中的可識別資產及負債按

其於收購日期的公平值計量。

收購成本超出本公司應佔附屬公司的可識

別資產及負債的公平淨值的差額記賬為商

譽。本公司應佔可識別資產及負債的公平

淨值超出收購成本的任何差額在綜合溢利

或虧損中確認為本公司應佔議價收購的收

益。

對於分階段進行之業務合併而言，過往持

有之附屬公司之權益乃按收購日期之公平

值重新計量，而由此產生之盈虧於綜合溢

利或虧損內確認。公平值被加入至收購成

本以計算商譽。

倘過往持有之附屬公司權益之價值變動已

於其他全面收益內確認（例如可供出售投

資），則於其他全面收益確認之金額乃按過

往持有之權益被出售時所規定之相同基準

確認。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Business combination and goodwill
The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a 

subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is 

measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, 

equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent 

consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as 

expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the 

services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the 

subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-

date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share 

of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and 

liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s 

share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 

over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or 

loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the 

Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held 

equity interest in the subsidiary is re-measured at its acquisition-

date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in 

consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the cost of 

acquisition to calculate the goodwill. 

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest 

in the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive 

income (for example, available-for-sale investment), the amount 

that was recognised in other comprehensive income is 

recognised on the same basis as would be required if the 

previously held equity interest were disposed of.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

業務合併及商譽（續）

倘有事件發生或情況改變顯示商譽可能出

現減值時，則商譽每年或更頻繁作減值測

試。商譽乃按成本減累計減值虧損計量。

計量商譽減值虧損的方法與下文會計政策

「資產減值」所載述計量其他資產的方法相

同。商譽的減值虧損於綜合溢利或虧損中

確認，其後不會撥回。商譽乃分配予預期

將從就減值測試進行的收購的協同效應中

獲益的現金產生單位。

附屬公司之非控股權益初步按收購日期之

非控股股東於附屬公司之可識別資產及負

債之公平淨值中所佔比例計量。

外幣兌換
(a) 功能及呈列貨幣

計入本集團各實體之財務報表之項目

乃以實體經營業務之主要經濟環境之

貨幣（「功能貨幣」）計量。綜合財務報

表乃以本公司之功能及呈列貨幣港元

呈列。

(b) 各實體之財務報表內之交易及結餘

外幣交易於初步確認時按交易日期適

用之匯率換算為功能貨幣。以外幣計

值之貨幣資產及負債乃以各報告期末

之匯率換算。此換算政策所產生之盈

虧於溢利或虧損內確認。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if 

events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be 

impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated 

impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses 

of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in the 

accounting policy “Impairment of assets” below. Impairment 

losses of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss 

and are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-

generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies 

of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially 

measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate 

share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets 

and liabilities at the acquisition date.

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the 

Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates 

(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 

statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is 

the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial 

statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the 

functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange 

rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets 

and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the 

exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains 

and losses resulting from this translation policy are 

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

外幣兌換（續）

(b) 各實體之財務報表內之交易及結餘

（續）

按公平值計量以外幣計值之非貨幣項

目乃按釐定公平值當日之匯率換算。

當非貨幣項目之盈虧於其他全面收益

確認時，該盈虧之任何匯兌部份於其

他全面收益內確認。當非貨幣項目之

盈虧於溢利或虧損內確認時，該盈虧

之任何匯兌部份於溢利或虧損內確

認。

(c) 綜合賬目時作出之換算

功能貨幣有別於本公司呈列貨幣之所

有本集團實體之業績及財務狀況均會

以下列方式換算為本公司之呈列貨

幣：

— 所呈列之各份財務狀況表之資

產及負債以該財務狀況表日期

之收市匯率換算；

— 各份全面收益表之收支以平均

匯率換算（惟倘此平均匯率並

非交易日期適用之匯率累計影

響之合理概約值，則收支以交

易日期之匯率換算）；及

— 所產生之所有匯兌差額於外幣

兌換儲備內確認。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial 

statements (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in 

foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates 

at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised 

in other comprehensive income, any exchange component 

of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive 

income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is 

recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of 

that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(c) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities 

that have a functional currency different from the 

Company’s presentation currency are translated into the 

Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial 

position presented are translated at the closing rate at 

the date of that statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses for each statement of 

comprehensive income are translated at average 

exchange rates (unless this average is not a 

reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of 

the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which 

case income and expenses are translated at the 

exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised in 

the foreign currency translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

外幣兌換（續）

(c) 綜合賬目時作出之換算（續）

於綜合賬目時，換算於海外實體之投

資淨額及借貸所產生之匯兌差額乃於

外幣兌換儲備內確認。於出售海外業

務時，有關匯兌差額於綜合溢利或虧

損中確認為出售盈虧之部份。

收購海外實體所產生之商譽及公平值

調整視作海外實體之資產及負債處

理，並會以收市匯率換算。

物業、廠房及設備
土地及樓宇主要包括工廠及辦公室。土地

及樓宇以公平值減其後折舊及減值虧損列

賬。於重估日期之任何累計折舊會與資產

之賬面原值對銷，而淨額則重列為資產之

重估值。所有其他物業、廠房及設備乃以

成本減累計折舊及減值虧損列賬。

其後之成本僅會於與該項目有關之未來經

濟利益有可能流入本集團，且該項目之成

本能可靠地計量時計入資產之賬面值或確

認為一項獨立資產（如適用）。所有其他維

修及保養開支乃於產生之期內在溢利或虧

損中確認。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the 

translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of 

borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency 

translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such 

exchange differences are recognised in consolidated profit 

or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 

acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing 

rate.

Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings comprise mainly factories and offices. Land 

and buildings are carried at fair values less subsequent 

depreciation and impairment losses. Any accumulated 

depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the 

gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is 

restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other property, 

plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or 

recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 

will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 

reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit 

or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

物業、廠房及設備（續）

土地及樓宇之重估增加乃於溢利或虧損中

確認，以增加款項撥回同一資產過往於溢

利或虧損中確認之重估減少為限。所有其

他重估增加會作為其他全面收益計入物業

重估儲備。物業重估儲備內抵銷餘下過往

同一資產之重估增加之重估減少會於物業

重估儲備作為其他全面收益扣除。所有其

他減少均於溢利或虧損中確認。經重估之

土地及樓宇於其後出售或報廢時，其於物

業重估儲備內餘下之應佔重估增加會直接

轉撥至保留溢利。

物業、廠房及設備減剩餘價值後以其估計

可使用年期採用足以撇銷其成本或重估金

額之比率以直線法計算折舊。主要年率如

下：

土地 租賃期

樓宇 租賃期或30年

 （以較短者為準）

廠房及機器 3至10年

汽車 3至8年

剩餘價值、可使用年期及折舊法會於各報

告期末進行審閱及作出調整（如適用）。

在建工程指在建樓宇，並以成本減任何減

值虧損列賬。當相關資產可使用時，開始

計提折舊。

出售物業、廠房及設備之盈虧即相關資產

之出售所得款項淨額與其賬面值兩者之差

額，並在溢利或虧損中確認。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Revaluation increases of land and buildings are recognised in 

profit or loss to the extent that the increases reverse revaluation 

decreases of the same asset previously recognised in profit or 

loss. All other revaluation increases are credited to the property 

revaluation reserve as other comprehensive income. Revaluation 

decreases that offset previous revaluation increases of the same 

asset remaining in the property revaluation reserve are charged 

against the property revaluation reserve as other comprehensive 

income. All other decreases are recognised in profit or loss. On 

the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued land and building, 

the attributable revaluation increases remaining in the property 

revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at 

rates sufficient to write off their cost or revalued amounts less 

their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-

line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land Over the lease terms

Buildings Over the lease terms or 30 years 

  whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 3–10 years

Motor vehicles 3–8 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are 

reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each 

reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction, 

which is stated at cost less any impairment losses. Depreciation 

begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is 

the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

經營租賃
凡租賃資產的擁有權之所有風險及回報未

有大幅轉移至本集團，均列作經營租賃。

租賃支出在扣除從出租人所收取之任何優

惠後，於租賃期內以直線法確認為開支。

存貨
存貨按成本與可變現淨值兩者中之較低者

列賬。成本以先入先出法釐定。製成品及

在製品之成本包括原料、直接人工、適當

比例之所有生產經常性開支及（如適用）分

包費。可變現淨值乃日常業務過程中之估

計銷售價格減估計完成成本及進行銷售所

必要之估計成本。

無形資產
無形資產乃按成本減累計攤銷及減值虧損

列賬。業務合併收購的無形資產成本為收

購日期之公平值。該無形資產按照直線法

在可使用的經濟年限內攤銷。當因預期提

供現金流量的時限無法預見以致該無形資

產可使用的年期權利為無限時，此等權利

會在每年及每當有跡象顯示無形資產可能

減值時進行減值評估。具有有限可使用年

期的無形資產的攤銷期及攤銷方法於各報

告期均至少會獲檢討。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the risks 

and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as 

operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives received 

from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis. The 

cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw 

materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of all 

production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate, 

subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated 

selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 

estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 

necessary to make the sale.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated 

amortization and impairment losses. The cost of intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of 

acquisition. Such intangible assets are amortized on a straight-

line basis over the useful economic life. When the rights have 

indefinite useful lives as there is no foreseeable limit on the 

period of time over which the rights are expected to provide cash 

flows, these rights are assessed for impairment annually and 

whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 

impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method 

for intangible assets with a finite useful life are reviewed at least 

at each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

研究及開發開支
研究活動的開支乃於產生期間確認為開支。

源自本集團健康管理服務業務開發之內部

產生無形資產僅於符合下列所有條件時確

認：

— 資產已創作及可識別（如軟件及新工

序）；

— 已創作資產很有可能將產生未來經濟

利益；及

— 可靠地計量資產開發成本。

內部產生之無形資產按成本減累計攤銷及

減值虧損列賬。攤銷乃於其估計可使用年

期以直線法計算。倘未能確認內部產生之

無形資產，開發開支於產生期間在溢利或

虧損中確認。

確認及終止確認金融工具

金融資產及金融負債於本集團成為工具合

約條文的訂約方時，於財務狀況表內確認。

倘從資產收取現金流的合約權利已到期，

或本集團將其於資產擁有權的絕大部份風

險及回報轉移，或本集團並無轉移及保留

其於資產擁有權的絕大部份風險及回報，

惟並無保留對資產的控制權，則金融資產

將被終止確認。於終止確認金融資產時，

資產的賬面值與已收代價及已於其他全面

收益內確認的累計盈虧兩者總和的差額，

將於溢利或虧損內確認。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in 

the period in which it is incurred. An internally generated 

intangible asset ar is ing from the Group’s health care 

management services business development is recognised only 

if all of the following conditions are met:

— An asset is created that can be identified (such as software 

and new processes);

— It is probable that the asset created will generate future 

economic benefits; and

— The development cost of the asset can be measured 

reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is 

calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 

lives. Where no internally generated intangible asset can be 

recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or 

loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Recognition and derecognition of financial 
instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 

statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party 

to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to 

receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; 

or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not 

retained control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial 

asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 

the sum of the consideration received and the cumulative gain or 

loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is 

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

確認及終止確認金融工具（續）

倘於有關合約的特定責任獲解除、註銷或

到期，則金融負債將被終止確認。終止確

認的金融負債的賬面值與已付代價的差額

於溢利或虧損內確認。

投資
凡購買或出售一項投資是根據合同條款規

定於有關市場設立的時限內交付投資，投

資以交易日基礎被確認及被終止確認並初

步按公平值計量，加上直接歸屬的交易成

本，惟按公平值計入溢利或虧損之金融資

產則除外。

可供出售金融資產乃指非衍生金融資產，

不歸類為貿易及其他應收款項、持有至到

期投資或按公平值計入溢利或虧損之金融

資產。可供出售金融資產其後以公平值計

量。此投資公平值變動所產生之盈虧會確

認於其他全面收益內，直到該投資出售或

有客觀證據顯示該投資減值，過往在其他

全面收益內確認的累計盈虧被確認於溢利

或虧損中。利息計算採用實際利率法確認

於溢利或虧損中。

歸類為可供出售金融資產之證券投資之減

值虧損於溢利或虧損中確認，此其後不能

於溢利或虧損撥回。歸類為可供出售金融

資產之債務工具之減值虧損確認於溢利或

虧損中，如該等工具之公平值增加能客觀

地與確認減值虧損後所發生之事項有關，

則減值虧損可於其後撥回，並於溢利或虧

損中確認。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial 
instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation 

specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or 

expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the 

financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is 

recognised in profit or loss.

Investments
Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 

basis where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a 

contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within 

the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are 

initially measured at fair value, plus directly attributable 

transaction costs except in the case of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial 

assets not classified as trade and other receivables, held-to-

maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently 

measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in 

fair value of these investments are recognised in other 

comprehensive income, until the investments are disposed of or 

there is objective evidence that the investments are impaired, at 

which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised 

in other comprehensive income are recognised in profit or loss. 

Interest calculated using the effective interest method is 

recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for equity 

investments classified as available-for-sale financial assets are 

not subsequently reversed through profit or loss. Impairment 

losses recognised in profit or loss for debt instruments classified 

as available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently reversed 

and recognised in profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of 

the instruments can be objectively related to an event occurring 

after the recognition of the impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

貿易及其他應收款項
貿易及其他應收款項為有固定或可釐定付

款額，且並無活躍市場報價之非衍生金融

資產，初步以公平值確認，而其後則採用

實際利率法以攤銷成本（扣除減值撥備）計

量。倘有客觀證據顯示本集團無法按應收

款項之原有條款收回所有到期金額，則會

確認貿易及其他應收款項之減值撥備。撥

備金額為應收款項之賬面值與估計未來現

金流現值（於初步確認時按實際利率貼現）

間之差額。撥備金額於溢利或虧損中確認。

倘應收款項之可收回金額增加能客觀地與

確認減值後所發生之事項有關，則減值虧

損可於其後期間撥回，並於溢利或虧損中

確認，惟應收款項於減值撥回當日之賬面

值不得超過並無確認減值之攤銷成本。

現金及現金等價物
就現金流量表而言，現金及現金等價物指

銀行及手頭現金、存於銀行及其他金融機

構之活期存款以及可隨時轉換為已知數額

現金且價值變動風險不大之短期高流通性

投資。需應要求償還及構成本集團現金管

理不可分割部份之銀行透支亦計入現金及

現金等價物部份。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market and are recognised initially at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less allowance for impairment. An allowance for 

impairment of trade and other receivables is recognised when 

there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 

collect all amounts due according to the original terms of 

receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference 

between the receivables’ carrying amount and the present value 

of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective 

interest rate computed at initial recognition. The amount of the 

allowance is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods and 

recognised in profit or loss when an increase in the receivables’ 

recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the 

restriction that the carrying amount of the receivables at the date 

the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the amortised 

cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 

equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand 

deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-

term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into 

known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of 

change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand 

and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are 

also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

金融負債及股本工具
金融負債及股本工具乃根據所訂立合約安

排的實質內容及根據香港財務報告準則對

金融負債及股本工具的定義而分類。股本

工具為證明於本集團經扣除其所有負債後

的資產中所剩餘權益的任何合約。就特定

金融負債及股本工具而採納的會計政策載

於下文。

借貸
借貸初步以公平值減所產生之交易成本確

認，其後則以實際利率法按攤銷成本計量。

除非本集團有權無條件延遲負債清償至報

告期後最少十二個月，否則借貸均分類為

流動負債。

貿易及其他應付款項
貿易及其他應付款項初步以公平值列賬，

其後則採用實際利率法以攤銷成本計量，

惟貼現影響甚微除外，於此情況下則以成

本列賬。

股本工具
本公司發行之股本工具以扣除直接發行成

本後之已收所得款項記賬。

收入確認
收入按已收或應收代價之公平值計量，並

於經濟利益有可能流入本集團，且收入金

額能可靠地計量時予以確認。

買賣貨物之收入於擁有權之大部份風險及

回報轉讓時（一般為於向客戶交付貨物及轉

讓所有權時）予以確認。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according 

to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into 

and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument 

under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that 

evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 

deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for 

specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out 

below.

Borrowing
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction 

costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group 

has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 

least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method unless the effect of discounting would be 

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the 

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable and is recognised when it is probable that 

the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of 

revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenues from trading of goods are recognised on the transfer 

of significant risks and rewards of ownership, which generally 

coincides with the time when the goods are delivered and the 

title has passed to the customers.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

收入確認（續）

基因測試服務卡銷售予客戶，且本集團對

客戶再無其他責任後，分銷基因測試服務

之收入方可確認。

提供健康管理服務之收入於提供服務予客

戶時確認。

利息收入按時間比例基準採用實際利率法

確認。

政府補助
當能夠合理地保證本集團將遵守附帶條件

及將可收取補助時，政府補助確認入賬。

與收入相關的政府補助在其與擬補償成本

相對之期間內予以遞延及於溢利或虧損中

確認。

當用於補償已產生開支或虧損或旨在為本

集團提供即時財務資助（而無未來相關成本）

的政府補助成為應收款項時，則於成為應

收款項的期間內於溢利或虧損中確認。

與購買資產相關的政府補助於資產之賬面

值扣減，並按相關之可折舊資產可使用年

期以扣減折舊費用方式予以確認於溢利或

虧損中。

償還與收入相關之補助會首先扣除就補助

而設立之任何未攤銷遞延收入。倘償還款

項超出任何有關遞延收入，或並無遞延收

入存在，償還款項即時確認於溢利或虧損

中。與資產相關的補助透過增加資產賬面

值或減少應償還金額之遞延收入予以償還。

在未獲得補助時本應確認於溢利或虧損中

的累計額外折舊會即時確認於溢利或虧損

中。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenues from the distribution of gene testing services are 
recognised when the testing services cards have been sold to 
the customers and the Group has no further obligation to the 
customers.

Revenues from the provision of health care management 
services is recognised when the services have been provided to 
the customers.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using 
the effective interest method.

Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable 
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions 
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and 
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them with 
the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for 
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related 
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they 
become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are 
deducted from the carrying amount of the assets. The grant is 
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset by 
way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against 
any unamortised deferred income set up in respect of the grant. 
To the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred 
income, or where no deferred income exists, the repayment is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Repayment of a grant 
related to an asset is recorded by increasing the carrying amount 
of the asset or reducing the deferred income by the amount 
repayable. The cumulative additional depreciation that would 
have been recognised in profit or loss to date in the absence of 
the grant is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

僱員福利
本集團向所有僱員參與之定額供款退休計

劃作出供款。本集團及僱員向計劃作出之

供款按僱員基本薪金之百分比計算。在溢

利或虧損中支銷之退休福利計劃成本指本

集團就基金應付之供款。

借貸成本
因收購、建設或生產合資格資產（即必須經

一段長時間方能作其擬定用途或出售之資

產）而直接應佔之借貸成本，均會資本化為

該等資產之部份成本，直至該等資產已大

致上可用作其擬定用途或出售。特定借貸

待撥作合資格資產之開支前用作短暫投資

所賺取之投資收入，會自合資格資本化之

借貸成本中扣除。

倘所借資金之一般目的為獲取合資格資產，

則合資格資本化之借貸成本金額乃以資本

化率計算該項資產開支的方法釐定。資本

化率為適用於該期間本集團未償還借貸（為

獲取合資格資產而產生之特定借貸除外）的

借貸成本之加權平均數。

所有其他借貸成本於產生期間在溢利或虧

損中確認。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Employee benefits
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement 

schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions to 

the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a 

percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit 

scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents contributions 

payable by the Group to the funds.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 

that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for 

their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of 

those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 

ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned 

on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 

their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the 

purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing 

costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a 

capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The 

capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs 

applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding 

during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for 

the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

稅項
所得稅指即期稅項與遞延稅項之總和。

即期應付稅項乃根據年內應課稅溢利計算。

應課稅溢利不同於溢利或虧損中確認之溢

利，此乃由於前者不包括在其他年度應課

稅或可扣稅之收入或開支項目，並且不包

括永不課稅或扣稅之項目。本集團之即期

稅項負債乃按於報告期末已頒行或已實質

頒行之稅率計算。

遞延稅項乃就財務報表內資產及負債之賬

面值與計算應課稅溢利所採用之相應稅基

間之差額確認。遞延稅項負債一般乃就所

有應課稅臨時性差額確認，而遞延稅項資

產則於可能出現應課稅溢利以抵扣可扣減

臨時性差額、可動用未動用稅項虧損或未

動用稅項抵免時確認。倘因商譽或初步確

認一項交易（業務合併除外）之其他資產及

負債而引致之臨時性差額既不影響應課稅

溢利，亦不影響會計溢利，則不會確認該

等資產及負債。

遞延稅項負債乃就於附屬公司之投資引致

之應課稅臨時性差額確認，惟倘本集團有

能力控制臨時性差額之撥回及臨時性差額

不會於可見將來撥回之情況則除外。

遞延稅項資產之賬面值會於各報告期末作

出審閱，並會調低至再無足夠應課稅溢利

恢復全部或部份資產。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred 

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. 

Taxable profit differs from profit as recognised in profit or loss 

because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 

or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are 

never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 

calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and 

the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 

profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all 

taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 

recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 

will be available against which deductible temporary differences, 

unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such 

assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 

difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition 

(other than in a business combination) of other assets and 

liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor 

the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 

differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except where 

the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will 

not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 

end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 

no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 

to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

稅項（續）

遞延稅項乃以負債清償或資產變現的年度

內預期應用之稅率計算，並以於報告期末

所頒行或實質上已頒行之稅率為依據。遞

延稅項於溢利或虧損中確認，惟倘遞延稅

項與在其他全面收益中確認或直接在權益

中確認之項目有關則除外，於此情況下，

遞延稅項亦會於其他全面收益或直接在權

益中確認。

倘有可依法強制執行之權利將即期稅項資

產與即期稅項負債抵銷，而有關資產及負

債與同一稅務機構所徵收之所得稅有關，

且本集團擬按淨額基準償付其即期稅項資

產及負債時，則會將遞延稅項資產與負債

抵銷。

關連人士
關連人士乃指與本集團有關連之個人或實

體。

(A) 倘屬以下人士，則該人士或該人士之

近親與本集團有關連：

(i) 控制或共同控制本集團；

(ii) 可對本集團行使重大影響力；

或

(iii) 為本公司或其母公司之一名主

要管理人員。

(B) 倘符合下列任何條件，則該實體與本

集團（報告實體）有關連：

(i) 該實體與本公司屬同一集團之

成員公司（即各母公司、附屬

公司及同系附屬公司彼此間有

關連）。

(ii) 一間實體為另一間實體之聯營

公司或合營公司（或為另一間

實體所屬集團旗下成員公司之

聯營公司或合營公司）。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset is 
realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates 
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is 
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the 
Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of 
the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the 
same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the 
others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other 
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of 

a group of which the other entity is a member).
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For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

關連人士（續）

(B) （續）

(iii) 兩間實體均為同一第三方之合

營公司。

(iv) 一間實體為第三方實體之合營

公司，而另一間實體為該第三

方實體之聯營公司。

(v) 該實體為本集團或與本集團有

關連之實體就僱員利益設立的

離職福利計劃。倘本集團本身

為該計劃，則提供資助的僱主

亦與本集團有關連。

(vi) 該實體受 (A)所識別人士控制或

共同控制。

(vii) 於 (A)(i)所識別人士可對該實體

行使重大影響力或為該實體（或

該實體之母公司）之一名主要

管理人員。

分部報告
就本集團各業務及地域之資源分配及業績

評估而言，經營分部及各分部項目呈報於

財務報表之金額識別於定期提供予本集團

最高級行政管理層之財務資料中。

就財務呈報目的而言，個別重大經營分部

不會綜合計算，除非有關分部具有相似的

經濟特徵，並在產品和服務的性質、生產

過程的性質、客戶的類型或類別、分銷產

品或提供服務所用的方法及監管環境的性

質上均相類似。個別非重大之經營分部倘

符合上述大多數條件，則可綜合計算。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(B) (Continued)

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third 

party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the 

other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the 

benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 

related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, 

the sponsoring employers are also related to the 

Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a 

person identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence 

over  the  ent i ty  o r  i s  a  member  o f  the  key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of 

the entity).

Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item 

reported in the financial statements, are identified from the 

financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most 

senior executive management for the purposes of allocating 

resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s 

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for 

financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar 

economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature 

of products and services, the nature of production processes, the 

type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the 

products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory 

environment. Operating segments which are not individually 

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these 

criteria.
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For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

資產減值
可使用年期為無限或未供使用的無形資產

須每年作減值審閱，且於有事件發生或情

況改變顯示賬面值可能無法收回時作減值

審閱。

於各報告期末，本集團會審閱有形及其他

無形資產（商譽、投資、存貨及應收款項除

外）之賬面值，以釐定是否有任何跡象顯示

該等資產已出現減值虧損。倘有任何該等

跡象，則會估計資產之可收回金額，以釐

定任何減值虧損之程度。如不能估計個別

資產之可收回金額，則本集團會估計資產

所屬現金產生單位之可收回金額。

可收回金額為公平值減銷售成本及使用值

兩者中之較高者。於評估使用值時，估計

未來現金流量乃以反映當前市場對貨幣時

值之評估及該資產特定風險之稅前貼現率

貼現至其現值。

倘資產或現金產生單位之可收回金額估計

將少於其賬面值，則資產或現金產生單位

之賬面值會減少至其可收回金額。減值虧

損即時於溢利或虧損中確認，惟有關資產

乃按重估金額列賬則除外，在該情況下，

減值虧損會被視作重估減少處理。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Impairment of assets
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet 

available for use are reviewed annually for impairment and are 

reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be 

recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the 

carrying amounts of its tangible and other intangible assets 

except goodwill, investments, inventories and receivables to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 

suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 

determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not 

possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 

asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 

and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 

cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is 

estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried 

at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 

treated as a revaluation decrease.
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財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

3. 主要會計政策（續）

資產減值（續）

倘減值虧損於其後撥回，則資產或現金產

生單位之賬面值會增加至經修訂之估計可

收回金額，惟增加後之賬面值不可高於過

往年度並無就資產或現金產生單位確認減

值虧損所釐定之賬面值（扣除攤銷或折舊）。

減值虧損撥回即時於溢利或虧損中確認，

惟倘有關資產按重估金額列賬則除外，於

該情況下，減值虧損撥回會視作重估增加

處理。

撥備及或然負債
倘本集團因過往事件負上現有法律或推定

責任，而履行責任可能導致經濟利益流出，

且能作出可靠估算時，則會就未能確定時

間或金額之負債確認撥備。倘貨幣時值重

大，則撥備會以履行責任預期所需開支之

現值列賬。

倘需要經濟利益流出之可能性不大，或未

能可靠估計有關金額，則除非經濟利益流

出之可能性極微，否則有關責任將披露為

或然負債。須視乎一件或多件未來事件是

否發生才能確定存在與否之潛在責任，亦

會披露為或然負債，惟倘導致經濟利益流

出之可能性極微者除外。

報告期後事項
提供本集團於報告期末狀況之額外資料或

顯示持續經營假設並不適當之報告期後事

項均為調整事項，並於財務報表內反映。

倘並非調整事項之報告期後事項為重大事

項，則會於財務報表附註內披露。

3. SIGNIfICaNT aCCOUNTING pOLICIES 
(Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 

amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the 

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the 

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 

that would have been determined (net of amortisation or 

depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the 

asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an 

impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, 

unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 

which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 

revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or 

amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 

outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time 

value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present 

value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits 

will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the 

obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the 

probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose 

existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-

occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as 

contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period
Events after the reporting period that provide additional 

information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting 

period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not 

appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the financial 

statements. Events after the reporting period that are not 

adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial 

statements when material.
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財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

4. 主要估算
估計不明朗因素之主要來源
於報告期末有重大風險可致使下個財政年

度之資產及負債賬面值須作重大調整而與

未來有關之主要假設及估計不明朗因素之

其他主要來源論述如下。

(a) 物業、廠房及設備及折舊
本集團釐定其物業、廠房及設備之估

計可使用年期、剩餘價值及相關折舊

費用。此項估計乃基於對性質及功能

相若之物業、廠房及設備之實際可使

用年期及剩餘價值之過往經驗。本集

團將於可使用年期及剩餘價值有別於

過往估計時調整折舊費用，或會撇銷

或撇減已棄置或售出之技術過時或非

策略資產。

(b) 商譽減值
釐定商譽是否減值時，需要估計商譽

已分配至現金產生單位之使用值。計

算使用值需要本集團估計現金產生單

位預期產生的未來現金流量及合適的

貼現率以計算現值。繼於二零一二年

確認減值虧損約1,954,000港元後，

於報告期末，商譽之賬面值為零港

元。計算減值虧損之詳情載於財務報

表附註20。

(c) 呆壞賬減值虧損
本集團作出呆壞賬減值虧損乃根據對

貿易及其他應收款項可收回性之評

估，包括每名債務人目前之信譽及過

往收款記錄。倘有事件發生或情況改

變顯示餘額可能無法收回時，則出現

減值。本集團需憑判斷及估計識別呆

壞賬。倘實際結果有別於原來估計，

則有關差異將影響上述估計出現變動

之年度之貿易及其他應收款項之賬面

值及呆賬開支。

4. KEY ESTImaTES
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual 
values and related depreciation charges for the Group’s 
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on 
the historical experience of the actual useful lives and 
residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar 
nature and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation 
charge where useful lives and residual values are different 
to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have 
been abandoned or sold.

(b) Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an 
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating unit to 
which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use 
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash 
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 
value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the 
reporting period was HK$nil after an impairment loss of 
approximately HK$1,954,000 was recognised during 2012. 
Details of the impairment loss calculation are provided in 
note 20 to financial statements.

(c) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful 
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of the 
trade and other receivables, including the current 
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each 
debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be 
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts 
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the 
actual result is different from the original estimate, such 
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and 
other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year in 
which such estimate has been changed.
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財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

4. 主要估算（續）

估計不明朗因素之主要來源（續）

(d) 無形資產之可使用年期及可收回性

本集團釐定其無形資產的估計可使用

年期及相關攤銷費用，乃根據類似性

質及功能的無形資產之實際可使用年

期的過往經驗以及由本集團購置的無

形資產之合約條款。

本集團已審閱永久獨家及非獨家分銷

基因測試服務之權利之使用值。於二

零一二年六月三十日，根據羅馬國際

評估有限公司（本集團之獨立評估師）

之 評 估 報 告， 使 用 值 獲 評 估 為 約

2,000,000港元。於評估報告中永久

獨家及非獨家權利之預測現金流量使

用之貼現率為19.83%。因此，截至

二零一二年六月三十日止年度，本集

團 錄 得 無 形 資 產 之 減 值 虧 損 約 為

77,718,000港元。於二零一一年十二

月三十一日，本集團已審閱獨家分銷

生物產業產品權利之使用值。於二零

一一年十二月三十一日，根據利駿行

測量師有限公司（本集團之獨立評估

師）之評估報告，使用值獲評估為約

310,000港元。因此，截至二零一二

年六月三十日止年度，本集團錄得無

形資產之減值虧損約為16,679,000

港元。此外，本集團亦考慮來自提供

健康管理服務項目之研究與開發之賬

面值約為5,795,000港元並已列賬於

二零一二年六月三十日之綜合財務狀

況表中。提供健康管理服務項目持續

以令人滿意的方式進行，而本集團有

信心此無形資產的賬面值將全數收

回。此情況將受密切監察，並在未來

期間作出調整（如未來的市場活動顯

示此等調整屬適當）。

4. KEY ESTImaTES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Useful life and recoverability of intangible assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and 

related amortisation charges for the Group’s intangible 

assets based on the historical experience of the actual 

useful lives of intangible assets of similar nature and 

functions as well as the contractual terms of intangible 

assets being purchased by the Group.

The Group reviewed the value in use of the permanent 

exclusive & non-exclusive rights for distribution of gene 

testing services. As at 30 June 2012, the value in use was 

assessed to be approximately HK$2,000,000 according to 

the valuation report of Roma Appraisals Limited, an 

independent valuer to the Group. The rate used in the 

valuation report to discount the forecast cash flows from 

these permanent exclusive and non-exclusive rights is 

19.83%. Accordingly, the Group made an impairment loss 

on an intangible asset of approximately HK$77,718,000 for 

the year ended 30 June 2012. As at 31 December 2011, 

the Group reviewed the value in use of the exclusive 

distribution rights for the bio-industrial products. As at 31 

December 2011, the value in use was assessed to be 

approximately HK$310,000 according to the valuation 

report of LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, an 

independent valuer to the Group. Accordingly, the Group 

made an impairment loss on an intangible asset of 

approximately HK$16,679,000 for the year ended 30 June 

2012. Besides, the Group also considered the carrying 

amounts of its research and development arising from 

provision of health care management services project 

which was included in the consolidated statement of 

financial position as at 30 June 2012 at approximately 

HK$5,795,000. Provision of health care management 

services project continue to progress in a satisfactory 

manner, and the Group is confident that the carrying 

amounts of the intangible assets will be recovered in full. 

This situation will be closely monitored, and adjustments 

made in future periods, if future market activity indicates 

that such adjustments are appropriate.
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5. 財務風險管理
本集團業務面對多種財務風險：外幣風險、

價格風險、信貸風險及流動資金風險。本

集團之整體風險管理政策集中於金融市場

之不可預見性，並力求盡量減低對本集團

財務業績之潛在不利影響。

(a) 外幣風險
本集團承受之外幣風險甚微，此乃由

於其大部份業務交易、資產及負債主

要以本集團實體之功能貨幣計值。本

集團現時並無就外幣交易、資產及負

債制定外幣對沖政策。本集團將密切

監察外幣風險，並將於有需要時考慮

對沖重大外幣風險。

(b) 價格風險
本集團之可供出售金融資產於各報告

期末以公平值計量。因此，本集團承

受證券價格風險。董事透過維持一個

涉及不同風險程度的投資組合來控制

有關風險。

於二零一二年六月三十日，倘利率上

升╱下跌1%而所有其他變數維持不

變，且本集團之可供出售金融資產根

據利率之過往相關性作出變化，此等

可 供 出 售 金 融 資 產 之 公 平 值 會 

減 少 ╱ 增 加3.10%（ 二 零 一 一 年：

2.73%）。公平值變動會於綜合全面

收益表中確認為其他全面收益。

5. fINaNCIaL rISK maNaGEmENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The 

Group’s overall risk management policy focuses on the 

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 

potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk
The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as 

most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are 

principally denominated in the functional currencies of the 

Group entities. The Group currently does not have a foreign 

currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency 

transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor 

its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider 

hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the 

need arise.

(b) Price risk
The Group’s available-for-sale financial assets are measured 

at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Therefore, 

the Group is exposed to security price risk. The Directors 

manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of 

investments with different risk profiles.

As at 30 June 2012, if the interest rate had increased/

decreased by 1% with all other variables held constant and 

the Group’s available-for-sale financial assets moved 

according to the historical correlation with the interest rate, 

the fair value of these available-for-sale financial assets 

would decrease/increase by 3.10% (2011: 2.73%). The 

change in fair value would be recognised as other 

comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income.
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5. 財務風險管理（續）

(c) 信貸風險
倘若交易對方無法履行彼等於二零

一二年六月三十日有關各類已確認金

融資產之責任，本集團承受之最高信

貸風險為綜合財務狀況表內所列示之

該等資產之賬面值。本集團之信貸風

險主要來自其貿易應收賬款、可供出

售金融資產及銀行及現金結餘。

為盡量減低信貸風險，董事已委任有

關員工，專責釐定信貸限額、信貸批

核及其他監察程序。此外，管理層會

定期審閱各個別貿易債務之可收回金

額，以確保就無法收回債務確認足夠

減值虧損。由於交易對方為國際信貸

評級機構評定為高信貸評級之銀行，

故銀行及現金結餘之信貸風險有限。

由於交易對方為香港一間完善投資銀

行，故可供出售金融資產之信貸風險

有限。就此而言，管理層認為本集團

之信貸風險已大大減少。

本集團並無高度集中之信貸風險，風

險分佈於數目眾多之交易對方及客

戶。

5. fINaNCIaL rISK maNaGEmENT (Continued)

(c) Credit risk
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event 

that counterparties fail to perform their obligations at 30 

June 2012 in relation to each class of recognised financial 

assets is the carrying amounts of those assets as stated in 

the consolidated statement of financial position. The 

Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade 

receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and bank and 

cash balances.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Directors has delegated 

the relative staffs to be responsible for the determination of 

credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring 

procedures. In addition, management reviews the 

recoverable amount of each individual trade debt regularly 

to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised 

for irrecoverable debts. The credit risk on bank and cash 

balances is limited because the counterparties are banks 

with high creditratings assigned by international credit-

rating agencies. The credit risk on available-for-sale financial 

assets is limited because the counterparty is a well-

established investment banker in Hong Kong. In this regard, 

management considers that the Group’s credit risk is 

significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, 

with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and 

customers.
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5. 財務風險管理（續）

(d) 流動資金風險
本集團之政策為定期監察現有及預期

之流動資金需要，以確保其維持足以

應付短期及較長遠流動資金需要之現

金儲備。本集團所有金融負債於一年

內到期。

(e) 公平值
第一等級「相同資產或負債的活躍市

場所報價格（未經調整）」採納於二零

一二年六月三十日本集團可供出售金

融資產之公平值計量。

於綜合財務狀況表所反映本集團之其

他金融資產及金融負債之賬面值與其

各自之公平值相若。

6. 營業額
本集團之營業額如下：

5. fINaNCIaL rISK maNaGEmENT (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and 

expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains 

suff ic ient  reserves of  cash to  meet  i ts  l iqu id i ty 

requirements in the short and longer term. All financial 

liabilities of the Group are matured within 1 year.

(e) Fair values
Level 1 “quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities” was adopted in the fair value 

measurements on the Group’s available-for-sale financial 

assets as at 30 June 2012.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other financial assets 

and financial liabilities are reflected in the consolidated 

statement of financial position approximate their respective 

fair values.

6. TUrNOVEr
The Group’s turnover is as follows:

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Distribution of: 分銷：

 Gene testing services  基因測試服務 22,607 71,242

 Bio-industrial products  生物產業產品 1,025 18,951

Provision of health care management 

 services
提供健康管理服務

1,843 —
    

25,475 90,193
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7. 其他收入

8. 分部資料
本集團的三項呈報分部如下：

(a) 分銷基因測試服務

(b) 分銷生物產業產品

(c) 提供健康管理服務

本集團的呈報分部是提供不同產品及服務

的策略性業務單位。該等分部受個別管理，

因各業務所需的技術及市場策略不同。

經營分部之會計政策與於財務報表附註3

所述的會計政策一致。分部溢利或虧損不

包括投資之盈虧。分部資產不包括企業資

產、應收關連人士款項及投資。分部負債

不包括企業負債及應付關連人士款項。

7. OTHEr INCOmE

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Interest income 利息收入 2,260 1,640

Interest income of available-for-sale

 financial assets
可供出售金融資產之

 利息收入 3,867 —

Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets 可供出售金融資產之淨收益 756 532

Government grant from the PRC 

 for a health care management 

 services project

對健康管理服務項目之 

 中國政府補貼

913 2,938

Gain on disposals of property, 

 plant and equipment
出售物業、廠房及設備之收益

— 27

Sundry income 雜項收入 24 43
    

7,820 5,180
    

8. SEGmENT INfOrmaTION
The Group has three reportable segments as follows:

(a) distribution of gene testing services

(b) distribution of bio-industrial products

(c) provision of health care management services

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units 

that offer different products and services. They are managed 

separately because each business requires different technology 

and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same 

as those described in note 3 to the financial statements. 

Segment profits or losses do not include gains or losses from 

investments. Segment assets do not include corporate assets, 

amounts due from related parties and investments. Segment 

liabilities do not include corporate liabilities and amounts due to 

related parties.
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8. 分部資料（續）8. SEGmENT INfOrmaTION (Continued)

Distribution of
gene testing services

Distribution of
bio-industrial

products

provision of
health care

management
services Total

分銷基因測試服務 分銷生物產業產品 提供健康管理服務 總額

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年 二零一二年 二零一一年 二零一二年 二零一一年 二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元

          

Years ended 30 June
 2012 and 2011:

截至二零一二年及
 二零一一年
 六月三十日止年度：

Revenue from external 
 customers

來自外界客戶之收入

22,607 71,242 1,025 18,951 1,843 — 25,475 90,193

Segment (loss)/profit 
 after income tax 
 credit/(expense)

除所得稅抵免╱（開支）後

 分部（虧損）╱溢利

(93,760) 6,006 (19,308) 1,244 (22,875) (3,074) (135,943) 4,176

Additional disclosures 
 for operating segments:

營運分部之

 附加披露：

Additions to property, 
 plant and equipment

添置物業、

 廠房及設備 5,373 365 6,464 17,095 16,070 5,802 27,907 23,262

Additions to intangible 
 assets

添置無形資產

— 79,718 — 17,658 3,484 3,195 3,484 100,571

Interest income 利息收入 29 114 70 59 6 15 105 188

Interest expense 利息開支 — 4,741 — — 150 — 150 4,741

Depreciation 折舊 2,041 565 64 51 2,386 30 4,491 646

Amortization 攤銷 — — 664 1,208 1,023 — 1,687 1,208

Impairment 減值 77,718 — 18,633 — — — 96,351 —

Income tax credit/
 (expenses)

所得稅抵免╱（開支）

(319) (3,068) 2,342 55 37 (237) 2,060 (3,250)

at 30 June 2012 and
 2011:

於二零一二年及
 二零一一年
 六月三十日：

Segment assets 分部資產 33,949 140,778 44,230 63,315 35,857 20,942 114,036 225,035

Segment liabilities 分部負債 3,073 5,058 1,318 3,650 20,445 4,228 24,836 12,936
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8. 分部資料（續）8. SEGmENT INfOrmaTION (Continued)

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011: 截至二零一二年及二零一一年 

 六月三十日止年度：

reconciliation of reportable segment 

 (loss)/profit, assets and liabilities:

呈報分部（虧損）╱溢利、資產 

 及負債對賬：

(Loss)/profit （虧損）╱溢利
Total (loss)/profit of reportable segments 呈報分部（虧損）╱溢利總額 (135,943) 4,176

Corporate and other expenses 企業及其他開支 (7,660) (8,074)

Elimination of inter-companies expenses 集團內公司間之開支對銷 7,106 7,479

Unallocated income: 未分類收入：

 Other income  其他收入 6,800 2,025
    

Consolidated (loss)/profit for the year 年度綜合（虧損）╱溢利 (129,697) 5,606
    

assets 資產
Total assets of reportable segments 呈報分部資產總額 114,036 225,035

Corporate and other assets 企業及其他資產 241,962 242,216
    

Consolidated total assets 綜合資產總額 355,998 467,251
    

Liabilities 負債
Total liabilities of reportable segments 呈報分部負債總額 24,836 12,936

Corporate and other liabilities 企業及其他負債 595 478
    

Consolidated total liabilities 綜合負債總額 25,431 13,414
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8. 分部資料（續）

本集團之業務主要位於香港及中國。本集

團來自外界客戶之收入以及其按資產所在

地理位置分類之非流動資產及添置物業、

廠房及設備資料如下：

9. 財務費用

10. 所得稅抵免╱（開支）

8. SEGmENT INfOrmaTION (Continued)

The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong and 

the PRC. The Group’s revenue from external customers and 

information about its non-current assets and additions to 

property, plant and equipment by geographical location of the 

assets are as follows:

revenue Non-current assets
additions to property,
plant and equipment

收入 非流動資產
添置物業、
廠房及設備

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年 二零一二年 二零一一年 二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元

        

The PRC 中國 18,800 86,034 59,784 133,160 27,907 23,262
Hong Kong and
 other regions

香港及其他地區

6,675 4,159 847 1,145 6 —
        

25,475 90,193 60,631 134,305 27,913 23,262
        

9. fINaNCE COSTS

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

    

Interest on other borrowings 其他借貸利息 150 —
    

10. INCOmE TaX CrEDIT/(EXpENSE)

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

    

Current tax — The PRC 即期稅項 — 中國

 Provision for the year  本年度撥備 (319) (3,163)
Deferred tax (note 27) 遞延稅項（附註27） 2,379 (87)
    

2,060 (3,250)
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10. 所得稅抵免╱（開支）（續）

由於本集團於本財政年度在香港並無產生

任何應課稅溢利，故於本財政年度並無就

香港利得稅作出撥備。香港利得稅乃根據

截至二零一一年六月三十日止年度應課稅

溢利按16.5%之稅率作出撥備。

其他地區應課稅溢利之稅項支出乃根據本

集團經營所在國家之現行法例、詮釋及慣

例，按通行稅率計算。

所得稅抵免╱（開支）與除稅前（虧損）╱溢

利對賬如下：

10. INCOmE TaX CrEDIT/(EXpENSE) (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the 

Financial Year as the Group did not generate any assessable 

profit arising in Hong Kong during the Financial Year. Hong Kong 

Profits Tax had been provided at a rate of 16.5% based on the 

assessable profit for the year ended 30 June 2011.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated 

at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group 

operates, based on existing legislation, interpretation and 

practices in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax credit/(expense) and 

the (loss)/profit before tax is as follows:

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

(Loss)/profit before tax 除稅前（虧損）╱溢利 (131,757) 8,856
    

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 

 16.5% (2011: 16.5%)
按本地所得稅稅率16.5% 

 （二零一一年：16.5%）計算之 

 稅項 21,740 (1,461)

Tax effect of net income that is not taxable 

 and net expenses that are not deductible
毋須課稅淨收入及不可扣稅 

 淨開支之稅務影響 (9,848) (252)

Effect of difference in tax rates of 

 subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions
於其他司法權區經營之附屬公司 

 稅率差異之影響 1,310 (529)

Utilisation of previously unrecognised 

 tax losses
動用過往未確認之稅項虧損

— 7

Unrecognised tax losses 未確認之稅項虧損 (11,142) (1,015)
    

Income tax credit/(expense) 所得稅抵免╱（開支） 2,060 (3,250)
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11. 本年度（虧損）╱溢利
本集團之本年度（虧損）╱溢利乃扣除下列

各項後達致：

11. (LOSS)/prOfIT fOr THE YEar
The Group’s (loss)/profit for the year is stated after charging the 

following:

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Amortization of intangible assets 無形資產之攤銷 1,687 1,208

Depreciation 折舊 5,010 764

Impairment loss on goodwill 商譽之減值虧損 1,954 —

Impairment loss on intangible assets 無形資產之減值虧損 94,397 —

Directors’ emoluments 董事酬金 1,261 1,148

Operating lease charges on 

 land and buildings
土地及樓宇之經營租賃支出

12,665 5,886

Auditor’s remuneration 核數師酬金 600 550

Cost of inventories sold 售出存貨成本 458 15,203

Loss on disposals of property, 

 plant and equipment
出售物業、廠房及設備之虧損

1,545 —

Staff costs including directors’ emoluments 包括董事酬金在內之職工成本

 Salaries, bonus and other benefits  薪金、花紅及其他福利 15,599 8,256

 Retirement benefits scheme contributions  退休福利計劃供款 3,347 1,279
    

18,946 9,535
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12. 董事酬金及最高薪人士

各董事之酬金如下：

12. DIrECTOrS’ EmOLUmENTS aND 
INDIVIDUaLS WITH HIGHEST EmOLUmENTS
The emoluments of each Director were as follows:

fee

Salaries and 

discretionary 

bonus

Other

benefits

retirement

benefit

scheme 

contributions Total

袍金

薪金及酌情

花紅 其他福利

退休福利計劃

供款 總額
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元
       

Name of Directors 董事姓名

Jiang Jian (note a) 蔣健（附註a） — 317 — 10 327

Lee Nga Yan (note b) 李雅欣（附註b） — 403 — 12 415

Guo Yi (note b) 郭懿（附註b） 40 — — — 40

Chen Weijun (note c) 陳偉君（附註c） 60 — — — 60

Xiao Yan (note d) 肖焱（附註d） — 7 — — 7

Jiang Nian (note e) 蔣年（附註e） 40 202 — — 242

Zhang Zhihong (note b) 張志鴻（附註b） 40 — — — 40

Wang Rongliang (note b) 王榮樑（附註b） 40 — — — 40

Wu Yanmin (note b) 鄔燕敏（附註b） 40 50 — — 90
       

Total for 2012 二零一二年總額 260 979 — 22 1,261
       

Shen Xiaodong (note f) 申曉東（附註 f） — 170 — 6 176

Jiang Jian (note a) 蔣健（附註a） — 390 — 13 403

Qin Yilong (note g) 秦義龍（附註g） — 370 — 7 377

Lee Nga Yan (note b) 李雅欣（附註b） — 22 — 1 23

Zhang Huiming (note h) 張暉明（附註h） 38 — — — 38

Chen Weijun (note c) 陳偉君（附註c） 60 — — — 60

Jiang Di (note i) 蔣迪（附註 i） 38 — — — 38

Jiang Nian (note e) 蔣年（附註e） 21 — — — 21

Zhang Zhihong (note b) 張志鴻（附註b） 3 — — — 3

Wang Rongliang (note b) 王榮樑（附註b） 3 — — — 3

Wu Yanmin (note b) 鄔燕敏（附註b） 3 — — — 3

Guo Yi (note b) 郭懿（附註b） 3 — — — 3
       

Total for 2011 二零一一年總額 169 952 — 27 1,148
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12. 董事酬金及最高薪人士（續）

附註：

(a) 於二零一二年四月二十五日辭任

(b) 於二零一一年六月八日獲委任

(c) 於二零零九年十一月六日獲委任

(d) 於二零一二年五月二十二日獲委任

(e) 於二零一零年十二月二十一日獲委任

(f) 於二零一零年十二月二十一日辭任

(g) 於二零零九年九月九日獲委任並於二零

一一年六月十日辭任

(h) 於二零零九年五月十三日獲委任並於二零

一一年六月八日辭任

(i) 於二零一零年六月九日獲委任並於二零

一一年六月八日辭任

年內，本集團五名最高薪人士包括三名（二

零一一年：三名）董事，彼等之酬金於上表

分析中反映。其餘兩名（二零一一年：兩名）

人士之酬金載列如下：

12. DIrECTOrS’ EmOLUmENTS aND 
INDIVIDUaLS WITH HIGHEST EmOLUmENTS 
(Continued)
Notes:

(a) Resigned on 25 April 2012

(b) Appointed on 8 June 2011

(c) Appointed on 6 November 2009

(d) Appointed on 22 May 2012

(e) Appointed on 21 December 2010

(f) Resigned on 21 December 2010

(g) Appointed on 9 September 2009 and resigned on 10 June 2011

(h) Appointed on 13 May 2009 and resigned on 8 June 2011

(i) Appointed on 9 June 2010 and resigned on 8 June 2011

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year 

included three (2011: three) Directors whose emolument is 

reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of 

the remaining two (2011: two) individuals are set out below:

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Basic salaries and discretionary bonus 基本薪金及酌情花紅 724 844

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 退休福利計劃供款 23 23
    

747 867
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For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

12. 董事酬金及最高薪人士（續）

酬金介乎以下範圍：

年內，本集團並無向任何董事或最高薪人

士支付酬金，作為鼓勵加入或加入本集團

之獎勵或離職補償。

13. 退休福利計劃
本集團根據香港強制性公積金計劃條例為

所有香港合資格僱員設立強制性公積金計

劃（「強積金計劃」）。本集團向強積金計劃

作出之供款按薪金及工資之5%計算，每

名僱員之每月最高供款額為1,000港元（自

二零一二年六月一日起為1,250港元），對

強積金計劃作出之供款全數歸屬於僱員。

本集團於中國成立之附屬公司之僱員為當

地市政府設立之中央退休金計劃之成員。

該等附屬公司須按僱員基本薪金及工資之

若干百分比向中央退休金計劃供款作退休

福利用途。當地市政府則承諾為該等附屬

公司目前及日後所有退休僱員提供退休福

利，該等附屬公司於中央退休金計劃之唯

一責任乃依例作出計劃規定之供款。

12. DIrECTOrS’ EmOLUmENTS aND 
INDIVIDUaLS WITH HIGHEST EmOLUmENTS 
(Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following band:

Number of individuals

人數

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年
    

Nil — HK$1,000,000 零 — 1,000,000港元 2 2
    

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any 

of the Directors nor the highest paid individuals as an inducement 

to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of 

office.

13. rETIrEmENT BENEfIT SCHEmES
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the 

“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident 

Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong 

Kong. The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are 

calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly 

maximum amount of HK$1,000 (HK$1,250, with effect from 1 

June 2012) per employee and vest fully with employees when 

contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the 

PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated by the 

local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to 

contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries 

and wages to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement 

benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to assume 

the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future 

retired employees of these subsidiaries. The only obligation of 

these subsidiaries with respect to the central pension scheme is 

to meet the required contributions under the scheme.
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For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

14. 本公司擁有人應佔本年度（虧
損）╱溢利

本公司擁有人應佔本年度（虧損）╱溢利包

括 已 於 本 公 司 財 務 報 表 處 理 之 虧 損 約

(175,244,000)港元（二零一一年：溢利約

564,000港元）。

15. 股息
董事並不建議派發本財政年度之股息（二零

一一年：無）。

16. 每股（虧損）╱盈利
每股基本（虧損）╱盈利
本公司擁有人應佔每股基本（虧損）╱盈利

乃根據本公司擁有人應佔本年度（虧損）╱溢

利約 (123,882,000)港元（二零一一年：溢

利約5,247,000港元）及本財政年度內已發

行普通股之加權平均數12,164,508,062股

（二零一一年：12,164,508,062股）計算。

每股攤薄（虧損）╱盈利
由於本公司截至二零一二年六月三十日及

二零一一年六月三十日止兩個年度內概無

任何具攤薄潛力之普通股，故並無呈列每

股攤薄（虧損）╱盈利。

14. (LOSS)/prOfIT fOr THE YEar 
aTTrIBUTaBLE TO OWNErS Of THE 
COmpaNY
The (loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the 

Company included a loss of approximately HK$(175,244,000) 

(2011: profit of approximately HK$564,000) which has been dealt 

with in the financial statements of the Company.

15. DIVIDENDS
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for 

the Financial Year (2011: Nil).

16. (LOSS)/EarNINGS pEr SHarE
Basic (loss)/earnings per share
The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to 

owners of the Company is based on the (loss)/profit for the year 

attributable to owners of the Company of approximately 

HK$(123,882,000) (2011: profit approximately HK$5,247,000) and 

the weighted average number  of  ord inary  shares  of 

12,164,508,062 (2011: 12,164,508,062) in issue during the 

Financial Year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share
No diluted (loss)/earnings per share is presented as the Company 

did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the two 

years ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011.
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For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

17. prOpErTY, pLaNT aND EQUIpmENT

Land and 
buildings

plant and 
machinery

motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

土地及樓宇 廠房及機器 汽車 在建工程 總額
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元
       

THE GrOUp 本集團

Cost or valuation 成本或估值
At 1 July 2010 於二零一零年七月一日 939 1,288 347 — 2,574
Acquisition of subsidiaries 收購附屬公司 6,950 1,062 256 — 8,268
Additions 添置 — 6,193 — 17,069 23,262
Disposals 出售 — — (354) — (354)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries 停止綜合計算附屬公司 (959) (208) — — (1,167)
Exchange differences 匯兌差額 285 36 22 74 417
       

At 30 June and 1 July 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日 
 及七月一日 7,215 8,371 271 17,143 33,000

Additions 添置 1,110 19,219 2,279 5,305 27,913
Valuation 估值 1,860 — — — 1,860
Transfer 轉撥 22,928 — — (22,928) —
Disposals 出售 — (6,182) — — (6,182)
Exchange differences 匯兌差額 8 301 46 480 835
       

at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 33,121 21,709 2,596 — 57,426
       

accumulated depreciation 累計折舊
At 1 July 2010 於二零一零年七月一日 — 426 33 — 459
Charge for the year 本年度支出 31 642 91 — 764
Written back on disposals 出售撥回 — — (89) — (89)
Written back on deconsolidation
 of subsidiaries

停止綜合計算附屬公司 
 撥回 (31) (208) — — (239)

Exchange differences 匯兌差額 — 20 4 — 24
       

At 30 June and 1 July 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日 
 及七月一日 — 880 39 — 919

Charge for the year 本年度支出 442 4,111 457 — 5,010
Written back on disposals 出售撥回 — (822) — — (822)
Written back on revaluation 重估撥回 (442) — — — (442)
Exchange differences 匯兌差額 — 178 43 — 221
       

at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 — 4,347 539 — 4,886
       

Carrying amounts 賬面值
at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 33,121 17,362 2,057 — 52,540
       

At 30 June 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日 7,215 7,491 232 17,143 32,081
       

17. 物業、廠房及設備
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For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

17. 物業、廠房及設備（續）

上述資產之成本或估值分析如下：

於二零一一年六月三十日，本集團土地及

樓宇之賬面值本應約為7,215,000港元，乃

由獨立專業合資格評估師利駿行測量師有

限公司於二零一一年六月三十日以公開市

場使用值基準重估為約7,215,000港元。

於二零一二年六月三十日，本集團土地及

樓宇之賬面值本應約為30,819,000港元，

乃由獨立專業合資格評估師羅馬國際評估

有限公司於二零一二年六月三十日以公開

市場使用值基準重估為約33,121,000港元。

17. prOpErTY, pLaNT aND EQUIpmENT (Continued)

The analysis of the cost or valuation of the above assets is as 

follows:

Land and 

buildings

plant and 

machinery

motor 

vehicles

Construction 

in progress Total

土地及樓宇 廠房及機器 汽車 在建工程 總額
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元
       

as at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日

At cost 成本 — 21,709 2,596 — 24,305

At valuation 估值 33,121 — — — 33,121
       

33,121 21,709 2,596 — 57,426
       

As at 30 June 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日

At cost 成本 — 8,371 271 17,143 25,785

At valuation 估值 7,215 — — — 7,215
       

7,215 8,371 271 17,143 33,000
       

The carrying amount of the Group‘s land and buildings would 

have been approximately HK$7,215,000 as at 30 June 2011, 

which was revalued on 30 June 2011 by an independent 

professional qualified valuer, LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors 

Limited, at approximately HK$7,215,000 on an open market value 

use basis.

The carrying amount of the Group‘s land and buildings would 

have been approximately HK$30,819,000 as at 30 June 2012, 

which was revalued on 30 June 2012 by an independent 

professional qualified valuer, Roma Appraisals Limited, at 

approximately HK$33,121,000 on an open market value use 

basis.
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For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

17. 物業、廠房及設備（續）

18. 附屬公司之投資

應收附屬公司款項為無抵押、免息及無固

定還款期。

附屬公司於二零一二年六月三十日之詳情

載於財務報表附註36。

17. prOpErTY, pLaNT aND EQUIpmENT (Continued)

plant and 
equipment
廠房及設備

HK$’000
千港元

   

THE COmpaNY 本公司

Cost 成本
At 1 July 2010, 30 June and 1 July 2011 於二零一零年七月一日、二零一一年六月三十日

 及七月一日 377
Additions 添置 6
Disposals 出售 (2)
   

at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 381
   

accumulated depreciation 累計折舊
At 1 July 2010 於二零一零年七月一日 92
Charge for the year 本年度支出 75
   

At 30 June and 1 July 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日及七月一日 167
Charge for the year 本年度支出 76
Written back on disposals 出售撥回 (2)
   

at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 241
   

Carrying amounts 賬面值
at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 140
   

At 30 June 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日 210
   

18. INVESTmENT IN SUBSIDIarIES

THE COmpaNY
本公司

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

    

Unlisted investment, at cost 非上市投資，按成本 — —
    

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free 
and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 30 June 2012 are shown in 
note 36 to the financial statements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

19. 無形資產
本集團

19. INTaNGIBLE aSSETS
THE GROUP

permanent 
exclusive & 

non-exclusive 
rights — 

distribution of 
gene testing 

services

Exclusive 
rights —

distribution of
bio-industrial

products

research and 
development —

provision of 
health care 

management 
services Total

(note a) (note b) (note c)
永久獨家及

非獨家分銷基因
測試服務權利

獨家分銷
生物產業
產品權利

研究及開發 —

提供健康
管理服務 總額

（附註a） （附註b） （附註c）
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元
      

Cost 成本
At 1 July 2010 於二零一零年七月一日 — — — —
Additions 添置 79,718 — 3,195 82,913
Acquisition of a subsidiary 收購附屬公司 — 17,658 — 17,658
Exchange differences 匯兌差額 — 861 74 935
      

At 30 June and 1 July 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日及 
 七月一日 79,718 18,519 3,269 101,506

Additions 添置 — — 3,484 3,484
Exchange differences 匯兌差額 — 372 64 436
      

at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 79,718 18,891 6,817 105,426
      

accumulated amortization and
 impairment

累計攤銷及減值

At 1 July 2010 於二零一零年七月一日 — — — —
Amortization for the year 本年度攤銷 — 1,208 — 1,208
Exchange differences 匯兌差額 — 28 — 28
      

At 30 June and 1 July 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日及 
 七月一日 — 1,236 — 1,236

Amortization for the year 本年度攤銷 — 664 1,023 1,687
Impairment for the year 本年度減值 77,718 16,679 — 94,397
Exchange differences 匯兌差額 — 16 (1) 15
      

at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 77,718 18,595 1,022 97,335
      

Carrying amounts 賬面值
at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 2,000 296 5,795 8,091
      

At 30 June 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日 79,718 17,283 3,269 100,270 
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For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

19. 無形資產（續）

附註：

(a) 於二零一零年十二月十三日，本集團已取

得在中國、香港及澳門地區永久獨家分銷

基因測試服務之權利、在其他地區永久非

獨家分銷基因測試服務之權利以及就本集

團分銷基因測試服務使用若干標誌之權利。

 此永久獨家及非獨家權利之可收回金額乃

以使用計算值釐定。

 使用計算值之主要假設乃與期內之貼現

率、增長率及預算毛利率及營業額有關。

本集團採用除稅前比率估計貼現率，該除

稅前比率反映此永久獨家及非獨家權利之

貨幣時值及特定風險之現時市場評估。增

長率乃根據此永久獨家及非獨家權利業務

經營所在地區之長期平均經濟增長率計

算。預算毛利率及營業額乃基於過去慣例

及市場發展預期計算。

 本集團編製之現金流量預測，乃經董事批

准就未來超過五年以零增長率按剩餘期間

計算。該增長率不超過有關市場的平均長

期增長率。

本集團已審閱永久獨家及非獨家分銷基因

測試服務之權利之使用值。於二零一二年

六月三十日，根據羅馬國際評估有限公司

（本集團之獨立評估師）之評估報告，使用

值獲評估為約2,000,000港元。於評估報

告中永久獨家及非獨家權利之預測現金流

量使用之貼現率為19.83%。因此，截至

二零一二年六月三十日止年度，本集團錄

得 此 等 無 形 資 產 之 減 值 虧 損 約 為

77,718,000港元。

19. INTaNGIBLE aSSETS (Continued)
Notes:

(a) On 13 December 2010, the Group obtained permanent exclusive 
rights for distribution of gene testing services in the regions of the 
PRC, Hong Kong and Macau, the permanent non-exclusive rights 
for the distribution of gene testing services in the other regions, as 
well as the right of use of certain logos on the gene testing 
services distributed by the Group.

The recoverable amount of these permanent exclusive and non-
exclusive rights is determined from value in use calculation.

The key assumptions for the value in use calculation are those 
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross 
margin and turnover during the period. The Group estimates 
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
these permanent exclusive and non-exclusive rights. The growth 
rates are based on long-term average economic growth rate of the 
geographical area in which the businesses of these permanent 
exclusive and non-exclusive rights operate. Budgeted gross margin 
and turnover are based on past practices and expectations on 
market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts approved by the Directors 
for the next over five years with the residual period using nil 
growth rate. This rate does not exceed the average long-term 
growth rate for the relevant markets.

The Group reviewed the value in use of the permanent exclusive & 
non-exclusive rights for distribution of gene testing services. As at 
30 June 2012, the value in use was assessed to be approximately 
HK$2,000,000 according to the valuation report of Roma Appraisals 
Limited, an independent valuer to the Group. The rate used in the 
valuation report to discount the forecast cash flows from these 
permanent exclusive and nonexclusive rights is 19.83%. 
Accordingly, the Group made an impairment loss on these 
intangible asset of approximately HK$77,718,000 for the year 
ended 30 June 2012.
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For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

19. 無形資產（續）

附註：（續）

(b) 於二零一零年一月一日，中荷（平湖）與其

供應商Sonac Vuren BV（「Sonac」）簽訂一

份獨家代理協議，Sonac授予中荷（平湖）

在中國獨家分銷其骨粒及骨油之權利，為

期五年，並可在任何一方於二零一四年

十二月三十一日前無異議之情況下自動續

期十年。本集團於二零一零年七月十三日

收購中荷（平湖）及對其14.5年獨家分銷

之權利由專業測量師作出無形資產估值金

額 約 為 人 民 幣15,400,000元，其 按 為 期

14.5年攤銷。

此獨家分銷權利之可收回金額乃以使用計

算值釐定。

使用計算值之主要假設乃與期內之貼現

率、增長率及預算毛利率及營業額有關。

本集團採用除稅前比率估計貼現率，該除

稅前比率反映此獨家分銷權利之貨幣時值

及特定風險之現時市場評估。增長率乃根

據此獨家分銷權利業務經營所在地區之長

期平均經濟增長率計算。預算毛利率及營

業額乃基於過去慣例及市場發展預期計算。

本集團編製之現金流量預測，乃經董事批

准就未來十三年以零增長率按剩餘期間計

算。該增長率不超過有關市場的平均長期

增長率。

本集團已審閱獨家分銷生物產業產品之權

利之使用值。於二零一一年十二月三十一

日，根據利駿行測量師有限公司（本集團

之獨立評估師）之評估報告，使用值獲評

估為約310,000港元。於評估報告中獨家

分銷權利之預測現金流量使用之貼現率為

16.2%。因此，截至二零一二年六月三十

日止年度，本集團錄得該等無形資產之減

值虧損約為16,679,000港元。

(c) 研發是指健康管理服務項目個別應佔之員

工、租金和管理開支和測試材料成本，該

項目將可能產生為期五年之未來經濟利

益。研發成本從二零一一年十月份開始按

照直線基準法就餘下可使用年期攤銷。

19. INTaNGIBLE aSSETS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b) On 1 January 2010, CNL (Pinghu) entered into the exclusive 
agency agreement with its supplier, Sonac Vuren BV (“Sonac”). 
Sonac granted the exclusive distribution rights to CNL (Pinghu) for 
the distribution of its bone chips and bone fat in the PRC for a term 
of five years and which would be automatically renewed for 
another ten years subject to no objection to be raised by either 
party before 31 December 2014. The Group acquired CNL (Pinghu) 
on 13 July 2010, and made the valuation of intangible assets for its 
exclusive distribution rights for the term of 14.5 years by the 
professional surveyor at the amount of approximately RMB15.40 
million, which were amortised under the term of 14.5 years.

The recoverable amount of these exclusive distribution rights is 
determined from value in use calculation.

The key assumptions for the value in use calculation are those 
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross 
margin and turnover during the period. The Group estimates 
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
these exclusive distribution rights. The growth rates are based on 
long-term average economic growth rate of the geographical area 
in which the businesses of these exclusive distribution rights 
operate. Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on past 
practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts approved by the Directors 
for the next 13 years with the residual period using nil growth rate. 
This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for 
the relevant markets.

The Group reviewed the value in use of the exclusive distribution 
rights for the bio-industrial products. As at 31 December 2011, the 
value in use was assessed to be approximately HK$310,000 
according to the valuation report of LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors 
Limited, an independent valuer to the Group. The rate used in the 
valuation report to discount the forecast cash flows from these 
exclusive distribution rights is 16.2%. Accordingly, the Group made 
an impairment loss on these intangible asset of approximately 
HK$16,679,000 for the year ended 30 June 2012.

(c) Research and development refers to the costs of staff, rental and 
management expenses and testing materials specifically 
attributable to a health care management services project which 
would generate probable future economic benefits for a term of 
five years. The research and development cost was amortised 
from October 2011 on a straight-line basis for the remaining useful 
life accordingly.
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20. GOODWILL

THE GrOUp

本集團

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary 產生自收購附屬公司 — 1,954
    

The Group acquired 70% equity interest of CNL (Pinghu) on 13 

July 2010. This transaction has been accounted for by the 

acquisition method of accounting.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at 

acquisition, to the cash generating units that are expected to 

benefit from that business combination. Before recognition of 

impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill had been 

allocated to the exclusive distribution rights for the bio-industrial 

products.

As mentioned in note 19(b) to the financial statements, the 

Group assessed the value in use of the exclusive distribution 

rights for the bio-industrial products to be approximately 

HK$310,000 as at 31 December 2011. After subsequent 

amortization, the carrying amount of the exclusive distribution 

rights was approximately HK$296,000 as at 30 June 2012. The 

goodwill allocated to such exclusive distribution rights was 

therefore impaired in full for the year ended 30 June 2012.

20. 商譽

本集團於二零一零年七月十三日收購中荷

（平湖）之70%股權。該交易以收購會計法

入賬。

於業務合併中收購之商譽乃於收購時分配

至預期將從該業務合併中受惠之現金產生

單位。於確認減值虧損前，商譽之賬面值

已被分配至獨家分銷生物產業產品之權利。

如列載於財務報表附註19(b)，於二零一一

年十二月三十一日，本集團評估獨家分銷

生物產業產品之權利之使用值約為310,000

港元。繼其後攤銷後，獨家分銷權利於二

零一二年六月三十日之賬面值約為296,000

港元。因此，截至二零一二年六月三十日

止年度，分配至此獨家分銷權利之商譽已

被全部減值。
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21. 存貨

22. 預付款項、按金及其他應收款
項

附註：

(a) 該金額包括由另一間公司保管，金額約為

9,735,000港元並於二零一二年六月三十

日屆滿之銀行本票，以及由律師保管，約

為1,190,000港元之金額。

21. INVENTOrIES

THE GrOUp

本集團

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Merchandises 商品 155 118
    

22. prEpaYmENTS, DEpOSITS aND OTHEr 
rECEIVaBLES

THE GrOUp

本集團

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Prepayment for purchases of property, 

 plant and equipment
購置物業、廠房及設備之 

 預付款項 9,248 9,079

Rental, management fee and other deposits 租金、管理費及其他按金 2,297 2,480

Receivable from sale of available-for-sale 

 financial assets
出售可供出售金融資產之 

 應收款項 — 4,014

Interest income receivable from  

 available-for-sale financial assets

可供出售金融資產之

 應收利息收入 1,205 —

Deposits paid 已付按金 1,449 —

Bill receivables 應收票據 296 —

Advancement to distributors 借款予分銷商 — 2,724

Others (note a) 其他（附註a) 12,193 3,357
    

Total 總額 26,688 21,654
    

Note:

(a) The amount included the bank draft amounting to approximately 
HK$9,735,000 expired as at 30 June 2012 which was in custody 
by another company and the amount of  approximately 
HK$1,190,000 which was in custody by lawyer. 



United Gene High-Tech Group Limited
Annual Report 2012

92

NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

23. 可供出售金融資產

以上所有債券歸類為流動資產。

投資於香港以內及以外上市之債券為本集

團提供透過票面利息收入及資本升值而賺

取回報之機會。此等可供出售金融資產並

無過期及減值。

此等上市債券的公平值是根據現時的買盤

價釐定。

24. 貿易應收賬款
本集團與客戶之交易條款大部份以信貸方

式進行，信貸期通常介乎30至180日不等。

每名客戶均設有最高信貸限額或以銀行承

兌匯票代替付款。新客戶一般須預先付款。

本集團致力嚴格控制未收回之應收款項，

高級管理層會定期審閱逾期餘款。

23. aVaILaBLE-fOr-SaLE fINaNCIaL aSSETS

THE GrOUp

本集團

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Bonds at fair value 債券之公平值

 Listed in Hong Kong  於香港以內上市 18,031 5,071

 Listed outside Hong Kong  於香港以外上市 80,436 72,164
    

98,467 77,235
    

All the above bonds are classified as current assets.

The investments in bonds listed in and outside Hong Kong offer 

the Group the opportunity for return through the coupon interest 

income and the capital appreciation. None of these available-for-

sale financial assets is either past due or impaired.

The fair values of these listed bonds are based on current bid 

prices.

24. TraDE rECEIVaBLES
The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. 

The credit terms generally range from 30 to 180 days. Each 

customer has a maximum credit limit or is replaced by the 

repayment of the bills honoured by the bank. For new customers, 

payment in advance is normally required. The Group seeks to 

maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue 

balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
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24. 貿易應收賬款（續）

貿易應收賬款按發票日期之賬齡分析如下：

於二零一二年及二零一一年六月三十日，

並無就貿易應收賬款作出撥備。

本集團貿易應收賬款之賬面值按以下貨幣

計值：

24. TraDE rECEIVaBLES (Continued)

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice 

date, is as follows:

THE GrOUp

本集團

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

30 days or less 30日或以下 20 10,470

31 to 60 days 31至60日 — 1,202
    

20 11,672
    

As at 30 June 2012 and 2011, no allowance was made for the 

trade receivables.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are 

denominated in the following currencies:

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

RMB 人民幣 — 11,616

Hong Kong dollars 港元 20 56
    

20 11,672
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25. 貿易應付賬款
貿易應付賬款按發票日期之賬齡分析如下：

本集團貿易應付賬款之賬面值按以下貨幣

計值：

26. 其他借貸
於二零一二年六月三十日，本集團之其他

借貸如下：

25. TraDE paYaBLES
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, 
is as follows:

THE GrOUp
本集團

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

    

30 days or less 30日或以下 2 1,301
31 to 60 days 31至60日 3 —
61 to 180 days 61至180日 212 —
Over 180 days 超過180日 282 —
    

499 1,301
    

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are 
denominated in the following currencies:

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

    

RMB 人民幣 499 442
Hong Kong dollars 港元 — 859
    

499 1,301
    

26. OTHEr BOrrOWINGS
As at 30 June 2012, the Group had other borrowings as follows:

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

    

Non-secured borrowings (note a) 無抵押借貸（附註a） 4,907 —
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder of
 a subsidiary of the Group, Longmark
 (Shanghai) HealthCare Limited (note b)

來自本集團之附屬公司龍脈（上海）

 健康管理服務有限公司

 一名非控股股東之貸款（附註b） 6,133 —
    

Total 總額 11,040 —
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26. 其他借貸（續）

附註：

於二零一二年六月三十日，其他借貸之條款如

下：

(a) 約4,907,000港元（二零一一年：零港元）

之其他借貸為無抵押、按年利率6.1厘（二

零一一年：無）計息，並須於提取日期起

計一年內償還。

(b) 約6,133,000港元（二零一一年：零港元）

之其他借貸為無抵押、按年利率6.65厘計

息，並須於提取日期起計兩年內償還。

27. 遞延稅項負債
以下為本集團確認之主要遞延稅項負債。

於報告期末，本集團有未動用稅項虧損約

50,217,000港元（二零一一年：約7,636,000

港元），可用作抵銷日後溢利。由於未能預

測日後溢利流量，故並無就有關虧損確認

遞延稅項資產。稅項虧損可無限期結轉。

26. OTHEr BOrrOWINGS (Continued)
Notes:

At 30 June 2012, the terms of other borrowings were as follows:

(a) Other borrowing of approximately HK$4,907,000 (2011: HK$nil) is 
unsecured, carried a interest at 6.1% (2011: nil) per annum and is 
repayable within one year from the date of drawdown.

(b) Other borrowing of approximately HK$6,133,000 (2011: HK$nil) is 
unsecured, carried a interest at 6.65% per annum and is repayable 
within two years from the date of drawdown.

27. DEfErrED TaX LIaBILITIES
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by 
the Group.

revaluation of
intangible

assets,
leasehold land

and property

rental 
expenses 

under lease 
term Total

重估無形資產、
租賃土地
及物業

根據租賃期
之租賃開支 總額

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元

     

At 1 July 2010 於二零一零年七月一日 — — —
Acquisition of a subsidiary 收購附屬公司 2,750 — 2,750
Income statement for the year 本年度損益表 (151) 238 87
Exchange differences 匯兌差額 130 5 135
     

At 30 June and 1 July 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日

 及七月一日 2,729 243 2,972
Revaluation gain 重估收益 465 — 465
Income statement for the year 本年度損益表 (2,342) (37) (2,379)
Exchange differences 匯兌差額 57 5 62
     

at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 909 211 1,120
     

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax 
losses of approximately HK$50,217,000 (2011: approximately 
HK$7,636,000) available for offset against future profits. No 
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such losses 
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses 
may be carried forward indefinitely.
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28. 股本
本集團管理資本之目標為確保本集團能夠

持續經營，並透過有效地平衡債務及權益

來盡量提高股東回報。

本集團按風險程度釐定資本金額。本集團

因應經濟狀況變動及相關資產之風險特點，

管理資本架構並作出調整。為維持或調整

資本架構，本集團可能調整股息分派、發

行新股份、回購股份、籌集新債、贖回現

有債務或出售資產以減少債務。

29. 儲備
(a) 本集團

本集團之儲備金額及當中之變動已在

綜合全面收益表及綜合權益變動表呈

列。

28. SHarE CapITaL
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to 

maximise the return to the shareholders through the optimisation 

of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The 

Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to 

it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or 

adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of 

dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, 

redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Authorized: 法定：

 50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 

  HK$0.01 each
 50,000,000,000股每股 

  面值0.01港元之普通股 500,000 500,000
    

Issued and fully paid: 已發行及已繳足：

 12,164,508,062 ordinary shares of 

  HK$0.01 each
 12,164,508,062股每股 

  面值0.01港元之普通股 121,645 121,645
    

29. rESErVES
(a) The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements 

therein are presented in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income and consolidated statement of 

changes in equity.
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29. 儲備（續）

(b) 本公司

(c) 儲備性質及用途
(i) 股份溢價賬

根 據 開 曼 群 島 法 例 第22章

（一九六一年第3號法例）公司

法（經綜合及修訂），在本公司

之組織章程大綱及細則之規限

下，本公司股份溢價賬之資金

可供分派予本公司擁有人，惟

於緊隨建議分派股息日後，本

公司須有能力償還其於日常業

務過程中已到期之債務。

(ii) 資本儲備
資本儲備指根據因籌備本公司

股份於聯交所上市而精簡本集

團架構所進行，並已於二零零

二年七月二十六日完成之重組

計劃收購附屬公司之股本╱註

冊資本之面值超逾本公司因交

換有關股本╱註冊資本而發行

股本之面值之差額。

29. rESErVES (Continued)

(b) The Company

Share 

premium 

account

Capital 

reserve

accumulated 

losses Total

股份溢價賬 資本儲備 累計虧損 總額
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

附註 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元
       

At 1 July 2010 於二零一零年七月一日 726,123 104,915 (537,560) 293,478

Profit for the year 本年度溢利 14 — — 564 564
       

At 30 June 2011 於二零一一年六月三十日 726,123 104,915 (536,996) 294,042
       

At 1 July 2011 於二零一一年七月一日 726,123 104,915 (536,996) 294,042

Loss for the year 本年度虧損 14 — — (175,244) (175,244)
       

at 30 June 2012 於二零一二年六月三十日 726,123 104,915 (712,240) 118,798
       

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium account

Under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, 
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, 
subject to the Company’s memorandum and articles 
of association, the funds in the share premium 
account of the Company are distributable to owners 
of the Company provided that immediately following 
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be 
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay 
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of 
business.

(ii) Capital reserve
Capital reserve represents the difference between 
the nominal value of the share/registered capital of 
the  subs id ia r ies  acqu i red ,  pursuant  to  the 
reorganisation scheme which rationalising the 
structure of the Group for the l ist ing of the 
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange and 
completed on 26 July 2002, over the nominal value of 
the share capital of the Company issued in exchange 
therefore.
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29. 儲備（續）

(c) 儲備性質及用途（續）

(iii) 法定儲備
法定儲備為不可分派，乃根據

中國適用法例及法規從本集團

中國附屬公司之除稅後溢利中

調撥。

(iv) 投資重估儲備
投資重估儲備包括於報告期末

持有之可供出售金融資產之公

平值之累計淨變動，並根據財

務報表附註3之會計政策處理。

(v) 物業重估儲備
本集團已設立物業重估儲備，

並按財務報表附註3就樓宇採

納之會計政策處理。

本集團於樓宇方面之物業重估

儲 備 中， 可 供 分 派 之 金 額 達

1,319,000港元（二零一零年：

零港元）。

(vi) 外幣兌換儲備
外幣兌換儲備包括換算海外業

務之財務報表所產生之所有匯

兌差額。此儲備乃根據財務報

表附註3所載之會計政策處理。

30. 視為出售之收益
由 (i)本公司之間接全資附屬公司聯合基因

（上海）；(ii)聯合基因（上海）之全資附屬公

司龍脈（上海）；與 (iii)吉林精優於二零一二

年一月十三日訂立之該注資協議，內容有

關 吉 林 精 優 注 資 人 民 幣2,500,000元（ 約

3,080,000港元），作為收購龍脈（上海）經

該注資擴大後之20%註冊資本之代價。因

此，視為出售之收益獲確認約為3,607,000

港元。

29. rESErVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iii) Statutory reserve

The statutory reserve, which is non-distributable, is 
appropriated from the profit after taxation of the 
Group’s PRC subsidiaries under the applicable laws 
and regulations in the PRC.

(iv) Investment revaluation reserve
The investment revaluation reserve comprises the 
cumulative net change in the fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets held at the end of the 
reporting period and is dealt with in accordance with 
the accounting pol icy in note 3 the f inancial 
statements.

(v) Property revaluation reserve
The property revaluation reserve has been set up and 
are dealt with in accordance with the accounting 
policies adopted for buildings in note 3 to the financial 
statements.

The property revaluation reserve of the Group in 
respect of buildings is distributable to the extent of 
HK$1,319,000 (2010: HK$nil).

(vi) Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all 
foreign exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance 
with the accounting policies set out in note 3 to the 
financial statements.

30. GaIN ON DEEmED DISpOSaL
The Injection Agreement dated 13 January 2012 entered into 
between (i) United Gene (Shanghai), an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company; (ii) Longmark (Shanghai), wholly-
owned subsidiary of United Gene (Shanghai); and (iii) Jilin 
Extrawell in relation to injection of capital of RMB2.5 million 
(approximately HK$3.08 mi l l ion)  by J i l in  Extrawel l  as 
consideration to acquire 20% of the registered capital of 
Longmark (Shanghai) as enlarged by the Injection of Capital. The 
gain on deemed disposal was therefore recognised as 
approximately HK$3,607,000.
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31. 或然負債
於二零一二年六月三十日，董事並不知悉

本集團及本公司有任何重大或然負債（二零

一一年：無）。

32. 承擔
(a) 租賃承擔

本集團

於二零一二年六月三十日，本集團根

據不可撤銷經營租賃而須支付之未來

最低租賃款項總額如下：

經營租賃付款指本集團就若干辦公

室、健康中心、實驗室及員工宿舍須

支付之租金。所磋商之租賃平均年期

為六年，租賃期內之租金固定不變，

且不包括或然租金。

31. CONTINGENT LIaBILITIES
The Directors were not aware of any significant contingent 

liabilities of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2012 

(2011: nil).

32. COmmITmENTS
(a) Lease commitments

The Group

As at 30 June 2012, the total future minimum lease 

payments of the Group under non-cancellable operating 

leases are payable as follows:

2012 2011

二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元
    

Future aggregate minimum lease payments  

 under operating leases in respect of 

 land and buildings

根據土地及樓宇之經營租賃 

 而須支付之未來最低租賃 

 款項總額

 — within one year  — 一年內 14,079 13,134

 — in the second to fifth years inclusive  — 第二至第五年 

   （包括首尾兩年） 40,588 47,123

 — over fifth years  — 第五年後 — 7,036
    

54,667 67,293
    

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the 

Group for certain of its offices, the Health Care Centre, 

laboratory and staff quarter. Leases are negotiated for an 

average term of 6 years and rentals are fixed over the lease 

terms and do not include contingent rentals.
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32. 承擔（續）

(a) 租賃承擔（續）

本公司

於二零一二年六月三十日，本公司根

據不可撤銷經營租賃而須支付之未來

最低租賃款項總額如下：

經營租賃付款指本公司就若干辦公室

須支付之租金。所磋商之租賃平均年

期為三年，租賃期內之租金固定不

變，且不包括或然租金。

(b) 資本承擔
本集團

於二零一二年六月三十日，本集團物

業、廠房及設備之已訂約但未撥備資

本 承 擔 約 為5,267,000港 元（ 二 零

一 一 年 六 月 三 十 日：約12,346,000
港元）。

本公司

於二零一二年六月三十日，本公司並

無重大資本承擔。

(c) 其他承擔
本集團及本公司

於二零一二年六月三十日，本集團及

本公司就談家楨生命科學獎設獎單位

協 議 之 未 撥 備 其 他 承 擔 約 為

9,200,250港元（二零一一年六月三十

日：零港元）。

32. COmmITmENTS (Continued)
(a) Lease commitments (Continued)

The Company

As at 30 June 2012, the total future minimum lease 
payments of the Company under non-cancellable operating 
leases are payable as follows:

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

    

Future aggregate minimum lease payments 
 under operating leases in respect of 
 land and buildings

根據土地及樓宇之經營租賃 
 而須支付之未來最低租賃 
 款項總額

 — within one year  — 一年內 1,901 1,901
 — in the second to fifth years inclusive  — 第二至第五年 

   （包括首尾兩年） 1,267 3,168
    

3,168 5,069
    

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the 
Company for certain of its office. Leases are negotiated for 
an average term of 3 years and rentals are fixed over the 
lease terms and do not include contingent rentals.

(b) Capital commitments
The Group

The Group’s capital commitments of the property, plant 
and equipment contracted but not provided for amounting 
of approximately HK$5,267,000 at 30 June 2012 (30 June 
2011: approximately HK$12,346,000).

The Company

The Company had no material capital commitments as at 
30 June 2012.

(c) Other commitments
The Group and the Company

The Group and the Company had other commitments of 
the Tan Jia Zhen Life Sciences Prize Sponsorship 
agreement but not provided for amounting of approximately 
HK$9,200,250 at 30 June 2012 (30 June 2011: HK$nil).
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33. 關連人士交易
除於綜合財務報表其他地方所披露之該等

關連人士交易及結餘外，本集團於年內與

其關連人士進行之交易如下：

本公司之最終控股股東毛博士是關連人士

之最終實益擁有人。

由 (i)本公司（作為受讓方）；(ii)本公司關連

人士聯合基因科技有限公司（作為轉讓方）；

與 (iii) SBIA作為該獎項之承辦單位於二零

一二年五月二十二日訂立之談家楨生命科

學獎設獎單位協議，內容有關 (i)本公司授

讓該獎項；(ii)聯合基因科技有限公司負責

於六個年度提供合共為人民幣9,000,000元

（約10,890,000港元）之金額作頒授該獎項，

並負責支付行政開支；及 (iii)SBIA承諾繼續

負責承辦該獎項。

33. rELaTED parTY TraNSaCTIONS
In addition to those related party transactions and balances 

disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the 

Group had the following transactions with its related parties 

during the year:

2012 2011
二零一二年 二零一一年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

    

Management services income received  
 from a holding company

自一間控股公司收取之 

 管理服務收入 24 43

Payment of gene testing services cost to 
 the related parties

支付基因測試服務成本 

 予關連人士 3,183 3,582

Receipt of gene testing services income 
 from the related parties

向關連人士收取基因測試 

 服務收入 465 56

Payment of service fee to the ultimate 
 controlling shareholder

支付服務費予最終控股股東

450 375

Payment of gene testing data handing to 
 a related party

就提交予一名關連人士的

 基因測試數據支付款項 896 —

Sale of property, plant and equipment to 
 a director

出售物業、廠房及設備 

 予一名董事 — 294
    

The related party/(ies) is/(are) ultimately beneficial owned by Dr. 

Mao, who is also the ultimate controlling shareholder of the 

Company.

The Tan Jia Zhen Life Sciences Prize Sponsorship agreement 

dated 22 May 2012 entered into between (i) the Company as the 

assignee; (ii) 聯合基因科技有限公司 (United Gene Holdings 

Limited), a connected person of the Company, as the assignor; 

and (iii) the SBIA as the administrator of the Prize, in relation to (i) 

the assignation of the Prize by the Company; (ii) the obligations 

to provide an aggregate of RMB9 million (approximately 

HK$10.89 million) for the grant of the Prize together with the 

administrative cost by United Gene Holdings Limited for the six 

years; and (iii) the continuous responsibility for the administration 

of the Prize undertaking by the SBIA.
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34. 訴訟
(i) 於中國有關龍脈（上海）之訴

訟
於二零一二年四月十七日，江蘇天騰

建設集團有限公司（「江蘇天騰」）（作

為原告）於中國向本公司之間接非全

資附屬公司龍脈（上海）健康管理服

務有限公司（「龍脈（上海）」）（作為被

告）發出傳票令狀，內容有關由龍脈

（上海）與江蘇天騰於二零一一年五月

二十三日訂立之建造協議（「龍脈建造

協議」）項下之代價及完成建造服務所

引起之爭議。根據有關目前法律訴訟

之民事裁定，龍脈（上海）合共人民幣

2,977,586元之資產被凍結。

於二零一二年五月二十七日，龍脈

（上海）與江蘇天騰達成庭外和解。龍

脈（上海）同意按龍脈建造協議之條

款向江蘇天騰支付建造費餘款人民幣

2,977,586元，而江蘇天騰同意 (i)向

中國長寧區法院申請撤銷針對龍脈

（上海）之訴訟；及 (ii)為通過相關防

火安全規定而維修已安裝惟有缺陷之

通風設施。龍脈（上海）向江蘇天騰支

付人民幣2,000,000元後，中國長寧

區法院已於二零一二年六月四日發出

撤銷訴訟之通知。龍脈（上海）之通風

設施於二零一二年六月二十五日前尚

未符合相關防火安全規定，因此，龍

脈（上海）毋須向江蘇天騰支付餘款

人民幣977,586元。

34. LITIGaTION
(i) Litigation concerning Longmark (Shanghai) in 

PRC 
 On 17 April 2012, a writ of summons was issued by 江蘇天

騰建設集團有限公司 (Jiangsu Tianteng Construction Group 

Co., Limited) (“Jiangsu Tianteng”) in the PRC as the 

plaintiff against Longmark (Shanghai) HealthCare Limited 

(“Longmark (Shanghai)”), an indirect non-wholly owned 

subsidiary of the Company, as the defendant in relation to 

the disputes arising from the consideration and completion 

of construction services under the construction agreement 

entered into between Longmark (Shanghai) and Jiangsu 

Tianteng dated 23 May 2011 (the “Longmark Construction 

Agreement”). Pursuant to the civil ruling in relation to the 

present proceedings, assets of Longmark (Shanghai) in the 

sum of RMB2,977,586 were frozen.

On 27 May 2012, Longmark (Shanghai) reached an out of 

court settlement with Jiangsu Tianteng. Longmark 

(Shanghai) agreed to pay the remaining balance of the 

construction fee of RMB2,977,586 to Jiangsu Tianteng in 

accordance with the terms of the Longmark Construction 

Agreement, and Jiangsu Tianteng agreed to (i) file an 

application to withdraw the litigation against Longmark 

(Shanghai) to the Changning District Court of the PRC; and 

(ii) repair the installed but defective aeration facilities for 

satisfying relevant fire safety requirements. A notice of 

withdrawal dated 4 June 2012 for the litigation was issued 

by the Changning District Court of the PRC after Longmark 

(Shanghai) had paid RMB2,000,000 to Jiangsu Tianteng. 

The aeration facilities of Longmark (Shanghai) was unable 

to satisfy the relevant fire safety requirements before 25 

June 2012, therefore, Longmark (Shanghai) is under no 

obligation to pay the remaining balance of RMB977,586 to 

Jiangsu Tianteng.
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34. 訴訟（續）

(ii) 於中國有關中荷（平湖）之訴訟
於二零一二年四月十七日，江蘇瑞峰

建設集團有限公司（「江蘇瑞峰」）（作

為原告）於中國向本公司之間接非全

資附屬公司中荷（平湖）生物技術有

限公司（「中荷（平湖）」）（作為被告）發

出傳票令狀，內容有關由中荷（平湖）

與江蘇瑞峰於二零一零年十月八日訂

立之建造承包服務協議、於二零一零

年十二月十七日訂立之建造協議及於

二零一一年三月八日訂立之補充協議

項下之代價及完成建造服務所引起之

爭議，江蘇瑞峰向中荷（平湖）索償人

民 幣13,149,879元 之 款 項、 利 息 及

案件之訴訟成本。於二零一二年四月

二十四日，江蘇瑞峰已取得針對中荷

（平湖）之民事裁定，據此，中荷（平

湖）之銀行存款人民幣15,000,000元

或等同金額之資產將被凍結，惟被凍

結 之 實 際 金 額 低 於 人 民 幣500,000

元，其大幅低於民事裁定所列之金

額。於此階段，根據董事會所知之事

實及情況，並視乎進一步法律意見以

及業務及財務影響之詳細評估，董事

會認為，於有關情況下，經權衡各項

因素及整體上，針對中荷（平湖）之令

狀將不會對本公司現時之整體業務營

運及財務狀況造成重大影響。

34. LITIGaTION (Continued)

(ii) Litigation concerning CNL (Pinghu) in the PRC
On 17 April 2012, a writ of summons was issued by 江蘇瑞

峰建設集團有限公司 (Jiangsu Ruifeng Construction Group 

Co., Limited) (“Jiangsu Ruifeng”) in the PRC as the plaintiff 

against 中 荷（ 平 湖 ）生 物 技 術 有 限 公 司 (CNL (Pinghu) 

Biotech Co. Ltd.) (“CNL (Pinghu)”), an indirect non-wholly 

owned subsidiary of the Company, as the defendant in 

relation to the disputes arising from the consideration and 

completion of construction services under the construction 

contracting services agreement dated 8 October 2010, the 

construction agreement dated 17 December 2010 and the 

supplemental agreement dated 8 March 2011 entered into 

between CNL (Pinghu) and Jiangsu Ruifeng, to claim the 

amount of RMB13,149,879, interests and litigation costs of 

the case. On 24 April 2012, Jiangsu Ruifeng obtained a civil 

ruling against CNL (Pinghu), pursuant to which a bank 

deposit of RMB15,000,000 or equivalent amount of assets 

of CNL (Pinghu) were to be frozen, but the actual amount 

frozen was below RMB500,000, which is significantly lower 

than the amount stated in the civil ruling. At this stage, 

based on facts and circumstances known to the Board and 

subject to further legal advice and a detailed assessment of 

business and financial implications, the Board is of the 

opinion that, in such circumstances, the writ against CNL 

(Pinghu), on balance and in general terms, shall not have a 

substantial impact on the current business operation and 

financial position of the Company as a whole.
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35. 報告期後事項
根據供股發行之股份
於二零一二年六月二十日及二零一二年六

月二十五日，本公司分別與本公司控股股

東凱佳控股有限公司及大唐投資（證券）有

限公司（兩者均為包銷商）訂立不可撤銷承

諾及包銷協議，以悉數包銷按每十股已發

行現有股份獲發三股供股股份之基準向本

公司股東派發之建議供股股份。本公司因

此 於 二 零 一 二 年 八 月 八 日 發 行

3,649,352,418股每股面值0.01港元之新普

通股，認購價為每股供股股份0.022港元。

於 供 股 完 成 後， 所 籌 集 資 金 淨 額 約 為

76,780,000港 元（ 扣 除 供 股 開 支 合 共 約

3,510,000港元）。

36. 本公司附屬公司詳情

35. EVENTS afTEr THE rEpOrTING pErIOD
Shares issued pursuant to rights issue
On 20 June 2012 and 25 June 2012, the Company respectively 

entered into the irrevocable undertaking and underwriting 

agreement with Best Champion Holdings Limited, the controlling 

shareholder of the Company, and Grand Investment (Securities) 

Limited, both acting as underwriters, to fully underwrite the 

proposed rights shares given to the shareholders of the Company 

on the basis of three rights shares for every ten existing shares 

in issue, which would result in the issue of 3,649,352,418 new 

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each on 8 August 2012, at the 

subscription price of HK$0.022 per rights share. It had raised net 

funds of approximately HK$76.78 million upon completion of the 

rights issue after deducting the total rights issue expenses of 

approximately HK$3.51 million.

36. parTICULarS Of THE SUBSIDIarIES Of 
THE COmpaNY

Name

place of 
incorporation/
registration

registered/
issued/
paid-up capital

percentage of 
ownership interest/

voting power/
profit sharing principal activities

名稱
註冊成立╱
註冊地點

註冊╱已發行╱
繳足股本

擁有權權益╱投票權╱
攤佔利潤之百分比 主要業務
Direct Indirect
直接 間接

      

Lucky Full Holdings Limited British Virgin
 Islands

1 ordinary share
 of US$1 each

100% — Investment holding

福滿控股有限公司 英屬維爾京群島 1股每股面值1美元 
 之普通股

投資控股

Clear Rich International Limited British Virgin
 Islands

1 ordinary share
 of US$1 each

— 100% Investment holding

英屬維爾京群島 1股每股面值1美元 
 之普通股

投資控股

China United Gene Health Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share
 of HK$1 each

— 100% Distribution of  
 gene-testing services

華夏聯合基因健康產業有限公司 香港 1股每股面值1港元 
 之普通股

分銷基因測試服務
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

Name

place of 
incorporation/
registration

registered/
issued/
paid-up capital

percentage of 
ownership interest/

voting power/
profit sharing principal activities

名稱
註冊成立╱
註冊地點

註冊╱已發行╱
繳足股本

擁有權權益╱投票權╱
攤佔利潤之百分比 主要業務
Direct Indirect
直接 間接

      

CNL (Pinghu) Biotech Co. Limited 
 (note a)

PRC Registered capital
 of US$20 million

— 70% Distribution of 
 bio-industrial products

中荷（平湖）生物技術有限公司 
 （附註a）

中國 註冊資本 
 20,000,000美元

分銷生物產業產品

Bestdone Limited British Virgin
 Islands

1 ordinary share
 of US$1 each

— 100% Investment holding

佳登有限公司 英屬維爾京群島 1股每股面值1美元 
 之普通股

投資控股

Fudan Health (Guang Dong) Ltd. British Virgin
 Islands

1 ordinary share
 of US$1 each

— 100% Distribution of 
 gene-testing services

復旦健康廣東有限公司 英屬維爾京群島 1股每股面值1美元 
 之普通股

分銷基因測試服務

Fudan Health International 
 (HK) Limited

Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary share 
 of HK$1 each

— 100% Provision of  
 gene-testing services

復旦健康國際（香港）有限公司 香港 10,000股每股面值

 1港元之普通股

提供基因測試服務

Perfect Allied Holdings Limited British Virgin
 Islands

1 ordinary share
 of US$1 each

— 100% Investment holding

英屬維爾京群島 1股每股面值1美元 
 之普通股

投資控股

United Gene Health Care 
 Investment Limited

Hong Kong 1 ordinary share
 of HK$1 each

— 100% Investment holding

聯合基因醫藥投資有限公司 香港 1股每股面值1港元 
 之普通股

投資控股

36. parTICULarS Of THE SUBSIDIarIES Of 
THE COmpaNY (Continued)

36. 本公司附屬公司詳情（續）
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NOTES TO THE fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2012 截至二零一二年六月三十日止年度

36. parTICULarS Of THE SUBSIDIarIES Of 
THE COmpaNY (Continued)

Name

place of 
incorporation/
registration

registered/
issued/
paid-up capital

percentage of 
ownership interest/

voting power/
profit sharing principal activities

名稱
註冊成立╱
註冊地點

註冊╱已發行╱
繳足股本

擁有權權益╱投票權╱
攤佔利潤之百分比 主要業務
Direct Indirect
直接 間接

      

聯合基因（上海）健康管理服務

 有限公司 (note b)
 (United Gene HealthCare Limited, 
 Shanghai)

PRC Registered capital
 of HK$40 million

— 100% Distribution of  
 gene-testing services

聯合基因（上海）健康管理服務 
 有限公司（附註b）

中國 註冊資本 
 40,000,000港元

分銷基因測試服務

龍脈（上海）健康管理服務

 有限公司 (note c)
PRC Registered capital

 of RMB12.5 million
— 80% Provision of health care 

 management services
龍脈（上海）健康管理服務 
 有限公司（附註c）

中國 註冊資本 
 人民幣12,500,000元

提供健康管理服務

東龍脈（上海）健康管理服務 
 有限公司 (note d)

PRC Registered capital 
 of HK$15 million

— 100% Provision of health care 
 management services

東龍脈（上海）健康管理服務

 有限公司（附註d）

中國 註冊資本 
 15,000,000港元

提供健康管理服務

Notes:

(a) CNL (Pinghu) Biotech Co. Limited (中荷（平湖）生物技術有限公司 ) 
is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC on 2 
April 2008 for a period of fifty years.

(b) 聯合基因（上海）健康管理服務有限公司 is a wholly foreign-owned 
enterprise established in the PRC on 23 June 2009 for a period of 
thirty years.

(c) 龍脈（上海）健康管理服務有限公司 is a wholly domestic limited 
company established in the PRC on 11 November 2010 for a 
period of thirty years.

(d) 東龍脈（上海）健康管理服務有限公司 is a wholly domestic limited 
company established in the PRC on 24 November 2011 for a 
period of thirty years.

37. apprOVaL Of fINaNCIaL STaTEmENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and 

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 September 

2012.

36. 本公司附屬公司詳情（續）

附註：

(a) 中荷（平湖）生物技術有限公司為於二零零

八年四月二日在中國成立之外商全資企

業，為期五十年。

(b) 聯合基因（上海）健康管理服務有限公司為

於二零零九年六月二十三日在中國成立之

外商全資企業，為期三十年。

(c) 龍脈（上海）健康管理服務有限公司為於二

零一零年十一月十一日在中國成立之全內

資有限責任公司，為期三十年。

(d) 東龍脈（上海）健康管理服務有限公司為於

二零一一年十一月二十四日在中國成立之

全內資有限責任公司，為期三十年。

37. 財務報表之核准
綜合財務報表於二零一二年九月二十八日

獲董事會核准並授權發行。



聯合基因科技集團有限公司
二零一二年年報

107

fINaNCIaL SUmmarY
財務概要

The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the last five 

financial years are as follows:

for the years ended 30 June

截至六月三十日止年度

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

二零一二年 二零一一年 二零一零年 二零零九年 二零零八年

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元
       

rESULTS 業績

Turnover 營業額 25,475 90,193 483,947 374,442 317,041
       

(Loss)/profit before tax 除稅前（虧損）╱溢利 (131,757) 8,856 13,308 746,331 (68,546)

Income tax credit/(expense) 所得稅抵免╱（開支） 2,060 (3,250) (2,132) (1,090) (33)
       

(Loss)/profit for the year 本年度（虧損）╱溢利 (129,697) 5,606 11,176 745,241 (68,579)
       

Attributable to: 歸屬：

Owners of the Company 本公司擁有人 (123,882) 5,247 11,262 745,205 (68,621)

Non-controlling interests 非控股權益 (5,815) 359 (86) 36 42
       

(129,697) 5,606 11,176 745,241 (68,579)
       

本集團於過去五個財政年度各年之業績、資產及

負債如下：
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fINaNCIaL SUmmarY
財務概要

as at 30 June

於六月三十日

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

二零一二年 二零一一年 二零一零年 二零零九年 二零零八年

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元
       

aSSETS aND LIaBILITIES 資產及負債

Non-current assets 非流動資產 60,631 134,305 77,315 41,718 34,751

Current assets 流動資產 295,367 332,946 449,367 98,521 18,764

Current liabilities 流動負債 (24,311) (10,442) (97,075) (32,311) (840,555)

Non-current liabilities 非流動負債 (1,120) (2,972) — — (1,430)
       

Net assets/(liabilities) 資產╱（負債）淨額 330,567 453,837 429,607 107,928 (788,470)
       

Attributable to: 歸屬：

Owners of the Company 本公司擁有人 319,248 436,524 429,142 107,386 (788,976)

Non-controlling interests 非控股權益 11,319 17,313 465 542 506
       

Total equity 權益總額 330,567 453,837 429,607 107,928 (788,470)
       



(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Stock Code: 399

Annual Report
2012
Annual Report
2012

（於開曼群島註冊成立之有限公司）

股份代號: 399

年 報 

A
n
n
u
a
l R
e
p
o
rt 年
報
 2
0
1
2
 


	Cover
	CONTENTS
	Corporate Information
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Management Profile
	External Consultant Profile
	Corporate Governance Report
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Back Cover

